
  
 

 
 

Economic Development Authority of the City of Richmond 
Meeting Notice January 25, 2024 

 
 

 
WHAT:       The City of Richmond’s Economic Development Authority will hold its 
 January Board Meeting. 
 
WHEN:          Thursday, January 25, 2024, at 5:00 P.M. 
 
WHERE:     Main Street Station, 1500 East Main Street, 3rd floor Conference Room 
 
CONTACT:  Glenna Chung at (804) 646-1507 or Glenna.chung@rva.gov. 
 

For more information about The City of Richmond’s Economic Development Authority (EDA),  
Visit:  http://www.richmondeda.com 

 
 

mailto:Glenna.chung@rva.gov
http://www.richmondeda.com/


Agenda 



ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY OF THE CITY OF RICHMOND 
BOARD MEETING  JANUARY 25, 2024 

AGENDA 
 

 
I.  Call to Order 

A. Public Meeting Disclosure 

II. Comment (Maximum of Three Minutes Per Person) 

III. Meeting Minutes 
A. Meeting Minutes – December Special Called Meeting 

IV.    Committee Reports 
A. Audit and Finance Committee 

a. November Financial Report 
b. December Financial Report 

 
V. New Business  

A. Amendment and Restated Declaration of Westhampton Condominiums 
B. Updated Estoppel Certificate for Westhampton Project 
C. Performance Agreement between the City, Alacer Corp. (Haleon), and the EDA 
D. EDA Credit Card 

 
VI. Discussion Items 

A. Update on 2401 West Leigh Street Facility Operations and Maintenance  

VII. Report of the Officers 
A. Report of the Chairman 
B. Report of the Secretary 

VIII. Other Business 

IX. Adjournment 

Upcoming Meetings 
EDA Board Committee Meeting – February 22, 2024 
EDA Audit and Finance Committee Meeting– February 22, 2024 



Meeting Minutes 

 



1 
 

Economic Development Authority (EDA) of the City of Richmond, Virginia 
Special Called Board Meeting 

Thursday, December 21, 2023 Minutes 
 
 
Members present: 

John Molster, Chairperson 
Nupa Agarwal, Vice-Chairperson 
Jer’Mykeal McCoy 
Jéron Crooks 
Nathan Hughes 
 
Others present: 

Bonnie Ashley – City of Richmond, City Attorney’s Office  
Lincoln Saunders—City of Richmond, Chief Administrative Officer’s Office 
Chris Frelke—City of Richmond, Parks, Recreation and Community Facilities 
Leonard Sledge – Department of Economic Development 
Katie McConnell – Department of Economic Development 
Beth D’Arcy—BHD Agency LLC 
Glenn Major—ASM Global 
Lisa Jones – A. G. Reese & Associates 
Rick Winston – Department of Economic Development 
Glenna Chung – Department of Economic Development 
Jonathan Spiers – BizSense  
 
Call to Order: 

Mr. Molster called the meeting to order at 4:08pm and Ms. Chung recorded the meeting. 
 
Public Comments: 

No public comments were received via email, phone, or otherwise by staff. Mr. Sledge read the 
public disclaimer.  
 
Approval of Minutes of the Previous Meeting: 

Mr. Molster requested a motion to adopt the minutes of the November 16, 2023, Board Meeting as 
stated.  Mr. Hughes moved to accept the minutes. Mr. McCoy seconded the motion. The Motion 
passed unanimously. 
 
Report of the Officers: 

Report of the Chairman – Mr. John Molster 
 
Mr. Molster shared his sentiments on how much has been accomplished this year, under the 



2 
 

leadership of Mr. Sledge. Mr. Molster thanked Mr. Major on the work he has done with the 
Training Center. 
 
Report of the Secretary – Mr. Leonard Sledge 
 
Mr. Sledge thanked the EDA for the consistent and ongoing support. The 2023 Annual Report has 
been completed and uploaded to the website. Mr. Sledge mentioned that the Celebration of 
Business was a success with over 200 RSVPs. Mr. Sledge announced that the Economic 
Development team welcomes Robert Cappellanti as Marketing Manager in January.      
 
Executive Session: 

Mr. Sledge asked the Board to consider a motion to go into a closed meeting (1) pursuant to 
sections 2.2-3711 (A)(29) of the Virginia Freedom of Information Act to discuss the award of a 
contract or contracts involving the expenditure of public funds relating to the Diamond District 
development project and the terms and scope of such contract or contracts, because discussion in 
open session would adversely affect the bargaining position or negotiating strategy of the 
Economic Development Authority; and (2) pursuant to sections 2.2-3711(A)(3) and (A)(8) of the 
Virginia Freedom of Information Act to discuss the disposition of publicly held real property 
located at 2401 West Leigh Street and to consult with the Authority’s legal counsel regarding such 
property and its disposition because such discussion in open session would adversely affect the 
bargaining position or negotiating strategy of the Economic Development Authority. Ms. Agarwal 
made the motion. Mr. Hughes seconded the motion. The motion passed unanimously. 

Closed session began at 4:17pm and Ms. Chung paused recording. 

Closed session ended at 4:54pm and Ms. Chung resumed recording. 

Section 2.2-3712 of the Code of Virginia requires certification by the Board that a closed meeting 
is conducted in conformity with Virginia law. Following the closed meeting, the Board certified 
that to the best of each member’s knowledge (i) only public matters lawfully exempt from open 
meeting requirements by Virginia law were discussed in the closed meeting; and (ii) only such 
public business matters as were identified in the motion convening the closed meeting were heard, 
discussed or considered by the Board. The certification passed unanimously and was witnessed 
and recorded by Mr. Sledge.  

 
New Business 

EDA Financial Report – October – Ms. Lisa Jones 
 
Ms. Jones reviewed the EDA Financial Report for October 2023. 

First, Ms. Jones reviewed the EDA Operations account which had a net income of $307,881 for 
the month of October; net income of $955,285 year-to-date. Most expenses were in line with the 
budget. 

Next, Ms. Jones reviewed the Stone Brewery account which had a net income of -$18,714 for the 
month of October, due to an extra month of interest being paid. The net income year-to-date was 



3 
 

$96,192. Most expenses were below budget. 

Lastly, Ms. Jones reviewed the Leigh Street Operations account which had a net income of $2,877 
for the month of October; net income of $23,810 year-to-date. Expenses are ahead of budget. 

There was no unusual loan activity. 

Mr. Sledge requested a motion to approve the October 2023, financial statements for the Economic 
Development Authority of the City of Richmond, Virginia.  Mr. Hughes moved to accept the 
financial statements. Mr. McCoy seconded the motion. The Motion passed unanimously. 

ASM Financial Report Updates – Mr. Glenn Major 

Mr. Major reported that The Training Center ended the month of November with a net income of 
$63,555.  The month was budgeted at a net income of $15,535, which left a positive variance of 
$48,020. The net income year-to-date was $189,260, which left a positive variance of $77,179 
against the budgeted income of $112,081. As of November’s financials, it is anticipated that the 
stub fiscal year’s budget of $108,544 will be met. Accounts receivable was $54k and accounts 
payable was $29k. No deposits being held. No large variances to report for expenses in the month 
of November. 

EDA Procurement Policy Updates – Ms. Katie McConnell 

Ms. McConnell presented proposed changes to the EDA Procurement Policy that would increase 
administrative efficiency and align the EDA’s policy with recent updates to the City’s purchasing 
thresholds.  

Mr. Sledge requested a motion to approve the proposed updates to the Procurement Policy for the 
Economic Development Authority of the City of Richmond, Virginia. Ms. Agarwal made the 
motion. Mr. McCoy seconded the motion. The motion passed unanimously. 

2401 West Leigh Street Facility Operations and Maintenance – Mr. Leonard Sledge 

Mr. Sledge requested a motion to approve that the Economic Development Authority (EDA) 
assume responsibility for the operations and maintenance of the publicly held real property located 
at 2401 West Leigh Street, and to authorize the Executive Director to, on behalf of the EDA, enter 
into any necessary contracts to operate and maintain the real property located at 2401 West Leigh 
Street in accordance with the EDA’s procurement policies. Mr. Crooks made the motion. Mr. 
Molster seconded the motion. The motion passed unanimously. 

First Amendment to Stone Brewery Cooperation Agreement – Mr. Leonard Sledge 

Mr. Sledge requested a motion to authorize the Board Chair to execute a First Amendment to Stone 
Brewery Cooperation Agreement between the City of Richmond and the Economic Development 
Authority for the purpose of facilitating the use of excess revenues for economic development 
activities and projects in the City of Richmond. Mr. Hughes made the motion. Mr. Crooks 
seconded the motion. The motion passed unanimously. 

Diamond District Contract – Mr. Leonard Sledge 

Mr. Sledge requested a motion to authorize the Board Chair, in consultation with the Executive 
Director and Legal Counsel to enter into an agreement with Navigators Baseball LP for the purpose 



4 
 

of spending $1 million in EDA funds for the design and development of a new minor league 
baseball stadium in the Diamond District. Ms. Agarwal made the motion. Mr. McCoy seconded 
the motion. The motion passed unanimously. 
 
Other Business 

There was no other business reported. 
 
Adjournment 

The meeting adjourned at 5:13pm. 
        

Respectfully submitted: 
 
 
 

Secretary to the meeting 
 
Approved: 
 
 
 
John Molster, Chair 
 
 



 

EDA November Financial Report 























 

EDA December Financial Report 























Amendment and Restated 
Declaration of West Hampton 

Condominiums 

 

 



 
Prepared by: 
Hirschler Fleischer, A Professional Corporation 
P. O. Box 500 
Richmond, VA  23218-0500 
Tax Map Number: W0210140001 (part); W0210140002; 
W0210140003; 40210140004; W0210140005; W0210140006 

 
 

AMENDED AND RESTATED DECLARATION 
 

OF 
 

WESTHAMPTON CONDOMINIUM 
 
 THIS AMENDED AND RESTATED DECLARATION OF WESTHAMPTON 
CONDOMINIUM (“Declaration”) is made effective as of _______ ___, 2023, by TRP 
WESTHAMPTON LLC, a Virginia limited liability company (“TRP”), the ECONOMIC 
DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY OF THE CITY OF RICHMOND, a political subdivision of the 
Commonwealth of Virginia (“Ground Lessor”), WESTHAMPTON CONDOMINIUM 
OWNERS ASSOCIATION INC., a Virginia nonstock corporation (“Association”), and BON 
SECOURS – ST. MARY’S HOSPITAL OF RICHMOND LLC, a Virginia not-for-profit, limited 
liability company (“Sub-Ground Lessor” and “SMH”). 
  

RECITALS 
 

 1.  Laburnum Properties, Inc., as declarant (“Declarant”), Ground Lessor and Sub-
Ground Lessor, entered into that certain Declaration of Westhampton Condominium dated 
March ___, 2020 (the “Original Declaration”) pursuant to which the parties established the 
Westhampton Condominium (the “Condominium”) in accordance with Chapter 19 of Title 55.1 
of the Code of Virginia of 1950, as amended (the “Condominium Act”).  Capitalized terms used 
in this Declaration shall have the meanings set forth below.  
 
 2.  SMH and TRP are, collectively, owners of all of the Condominium Units in the 
Condominium and, therefore, the leasehold interests in the Submitted Land and fee title to the 
Buildings now or hereafter located on their respective Units for the term of the Sub-Ground 
Lease.  The Association is the association of unit owners described in the Original Declaration.   
 
 3.  This Declaration amends and restates in its entirety the Original Declaration.   
 

4.  Ground Lessor and Sub-Ground Lessor join in this Declaration solely for the purpose 
of consenting to this Declaration as provided in Section 18.7 below. 
 
 



2 

ARTICLE I 
 

DEFINITIONS 
 

Certain terms used in the Condominium Instruments shall have the meaning set forth 
below.  Unless a term is otherwise expressly defined in the Condominium Instruments, it shall 
have the meaning specified in the Condominium Act.  

 
1.1 “Affiliate” shall mean any Person which directly or indirectly controls or is 

controlled by or is under common control with the designated Person.  
 
1.2 “Association” is the Westhampton Condominium Owners Association Inc., a 

Virginia non-stock corporation, which shall function as the Owners Association for the 
Condominium. 

 
1.3 “Board of Directors” or “Board” is the board of directors of the Association. 
 
1.4 “Building” or “Buildings” shall mean the Libbie Building, the Patterson Building, 

the MF Building and the School Building or any combination of them, as the context requires.   
 
1.5 “Building Units” shall mean the Libbie Unit, the Patterson Unit, the MF Unit and 

the School Unit and shall exclude the Parking Unit. 
 
1.6 “Bylaws” are the Bylaws of the Association.  A copy of the Bylaws is attached as 

Exhibit C hereto. 
 
1.7 “Clerk’s Office” shall mean the Clerk’s Office of the Circuit Court of the City of 

Richmond, Virginia, or any successor repository of land records for the City of Richmond. 
 
1.8 “Common Elements” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 4.1 of this 

Declaration.  
 
1.9 “Condominium” shall mean the leasehold condominium known as Westhampton 

Condominium. 
 
1.10 “Condominium Act” shall mean Chapter 19 of Title 55.1 of the Code of Virginia 

of 1950, as amended. 
 
1.11 “Condominium Instruments” refer to this Declaration and the Bylaws. 
 
1.12 “EDA REA” shall mean the Reciprocal Operating and Easement Agreement dated 

September 23, 2018, between Ground Lessor and Sub-Ground Lessor recorded in the Clerk’s 
Office as Instrument No190004168, as the same may be modified from time to time. 

 
1.13  “Eligible Mortgagee” is any holder of a Mortgage that has submitted a written 

request for the Association to notify it of any proposed action requiring the consent of a specified 



3 

percentage of  Eligible Mortgagees. 
 
1.14 “Ground Lease” shall mean that certain Deed of Ground Lease dated July 8, 2013 

between the Ground Lessor and Sub-Ground Lessor, as amended from time to time, and 
evidenced of record by that certain Memorandum of Ground Lease recorded March 5, 2019 in 
the Clerk’s Office as Instrument No 190004166, as amended from time to time. 
 

1.15 “Insurance Trustee” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 14.6 of this 
Declaration. 

 
1.16 “Majority Interest” shall mean Owner’s representing at least fifty one percent 

(51%) of the Percentage Interests. 
 
1.17 “Libbie Unit” shall mean that certain parcel of land located in the City of 

Richmond, Virginia, and described as “Unit 1” on the Plats and Plans.  
 
1.18 “Limited Common Elements” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 4.2 of 

this Declaration. 
 
1.19 “Managing Agent” is the Person, if any, retained by the Board of Directors from 

time to time to assist in the management of the Association. 
 
1.20 “MF Building” shall mean that certain building now or hereafter located on the 

MF Unit.  
 
1.21  “MF Unit” shall mean that certain parcel of land located in the City of Richmond, 

Virginia, and described as “Unit 4” on the Plats and Plans. 
 
1.22 “Mortgage” is any first deed of trust or mortgage encumbering a Unit. 
 
1.23 “Mortgagee” is the holder of a note secured by a Mortgage. 
 
1.24 “Notice” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 19.4 of this Declaration. 
 
1.25 “Owner” is the owner of title to a Unit, excluding those holding title merely as 

security for an obligation. 
 
1.26 “Parking Deck” shall mean that certain multi-level parking deck now or hereafter 

existing on the Property and shown on the Plats and Plans as containing approximately 363 
parking spaces. 

 
1.27 “Parking Deck Allocation” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 15.4.3 of 

this Declaration. 
 
1.28 “Parking Deck CE” shall mean that portion of the Parking Deck that does not 

include the Parking Unit.   



4 

 
1.29 “Parking Unit” shall mean that certain parcel of land located in the City of 

Richmond, Virginia, and described as “Unit 5” in this Declaration and in the Plats and Plans. 
 
1.30 “Patterson Unit” shall mean that certain parcel of land located in the City of 

Richmond, Virginia, and described as “Unit 3” on the Plats and Plans.   
 
1.31 “Percentage Interest” is the individual percentage interest in the Common 

Elements allocated and appertaining to each Unit.  The Percentage Interest appertaining to each 
Unit is calculated as a fraction.  The numerator of the fraction shall be the par value of the Unit 
(as set forth on Exhibit D) and the denominator shall be the aggregate par value of all of the 
Units submitted to the Condominium. 
 

1.32 “Person” shall mean any natural person, corporation, partnership, joint venture, 
association, joint stock company, trust, unincorporated organization, government or any agency 
or political subdivision thereof, limited liability company or any other form of entity. 

 
1.33 “Plats and Plans” are the plats and plans included in Exhibit B attached hereto. 
 
1.34 “Rules and Regulations” shall mean the rules and regulations of the Association 

as adopted by the Board from time to time. 
 
1.35 “School Unit” shall mean that certain parcel of land located in the City of 

Richmond, Virginia, and described as “Unit 2” on the Plats and Plans. 
 
1.36 “Sub-Ground Lease” shall mean that certain Deed of Sub-Ground Lease dated as 

of March 13, 2020 between Declarant, as lessee, and the Sub-Ground Lessor, as landlord, as 
amended from time to time, pursuant to which the Declarant owns a leasehold interest in the 
Submitted Land, and evidenced of record by that certain Memorandum of Deed of Sub-Ground 
Lease dated March 13, 2020, recorded in the Clerk’s Office as Instrument No 200005819. 

 
1.37 “Sub-Ground Lessor” shall have the meaning set forth in the Sub-Ground Lease. 
 
1.38 “Submitted Land” shall mean the land and appurtenant rights subject to the Sub-

Ground Lease. 
 
1.39  “Submitted Property” shall mean the Submitted Land, together with the 

Buildings and appurtenant rights submitted to this Declaration and described in Exhibit A to this 
Declaration.  

 
1.40 “Unit” is that discrete area designed and intended for individual ownership and 

use and described in Article III of this Declaration. 
 
1.41 “Unit Easement Area” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 6.1.1 of this 

Declaration. 



5 

 
ARTICLE II 

 
AMENDED AND REINSTATED 

 
2.1 Submission of Property.  The Unit Owners hereby declare that the Submitted 

Property is hereby submitted to the provisions of the Condominium Act and this Declaration, 
which shall amend and reinstate the Original Declaration in its entirety. 

 
ARTICLE III 

 
UNITS 

 
3.1 Location.  The Condominium is located on the northwest corner of Libbie Avenue 

and Patterson Avenue in the City of Richmond, Virginia. 
 
3.2 Units.  The location of the Units are shown on the Plats and Plans.  Each Unit is 

given an identifying number as set out on the Plats and Plans.  The par value and Percentage 
Interest of each Unit are set forth on Exhibit D.  The Condominium shall contain five (5) Units.   

 
3.3 Unit Boundaries. 
 

3.3.1 Vertical and Horizontal.  For the purposes of this Declaration there shall be 
no upper or lower (horizontal) boundaries for the Building Units.  The vertical (or perimetric) 
boundaries of the Units are shown on the Plat in courses and distances.  The Parking Unit shall 
consistent of three-dimensional blocks of space with lower and upper boundaries situated on the 
parking spaces located in the Parking Deck and identified on Exhibit E to this Declaration.  The 
lower boundary of the Parking Unit shall be the floor surface of the deck encompassed by the 
vertical boundaries of each block of space designated as part of the Parking Unit on the Plats and 
Plans.  The upper boundary of the Parking Unit shall be the surface of the underside of the 
Parking Deck floor encompassed by the vertical boundaries of each block of space designated as 
part of the Parking Unit on the Plats and Plans; provided, however, to the extent no floor is over 
a portion of the Parking Unit (i.e., that portion of the Parking Unit on the top floor of the Parking 
Deck) the upper boundary shall be eight feet four inches (8’4”) feet above the lower boundary of 
the Parking Unit. 

 
3.3.2 Included Components.  Without limiting the foregoing, the following 

components shall be deemed a part of each Unit, except as expressly indicated on the Plats and 
Plans:   

 
a. any Building located within a Unit (including, without limitation, 

footers, foundations, slabs, exterior walls, trim, roofs, doors and windows; 
 
b. the projections extending from the Building, including, without 

limitation, balconies, stoops, stairs, and decorative features to the extent located outside the 
boundaries of the Unit and permitted or approved in accordance with this Declaration;  



6 

 
c. to the extent not owned by the utility provider, those portions of utility 

lines and facilities (including, without limitation, water, sewer, natural gas, electric, cable and 
communications) which serve only that Unit commencing at the point of disconnection from the 
utility pipes, lines or systems serving the entire Condominium or more than one Unit and 
whether or not located within that Unit; and 

 
d. those portions of storm water retention and transmission systems and 

best management practices facilities which serve only that Unit commencing at the point of 
disconnection from the systems serving the entire Condominium or more than one Unit and 
whether or not located within that Unit. 

 
3.3.3 Excluded Components.  A Unit shall not include the following items, 

whether or not located within the boundaries of that Unit: 
 

a. those portions of utility lines and facilities (including, without 
limitation, water, sewer, natural gas, electric and communications) which serve more than one 
Unit, whether or not located in a Unit; 

 
b. those improvements designated as Common Elements or Limited 

Common Elements on the Plats and Plans, whether or not located within the boundaries of a 
Unit. 

c. those portions of storm water retention and transmission systems and 
best management practices facilities which serve more than one Unit. 

 
3.3.4 General Provisions.  Except as expressly set forth in this Section, this 

description of the Unit boundaries shall be governed by the provisions of Section 55.1-1912 of 
the Condominium Act. 
 

ARTICLE IV 
 

COMMON AND LIMITED COMMON ELEMENTS 
 

4.1 Common Elements.  The Common Elements consist of all of the property in the 
Condominium that is not defined as part of a Unit.  

 
4.2 Limited Common Elements; Assignments.   
 

4.2.1 Limited Common Elements. Limited Common Elements shall include the 
following:  (a) the portion of the Submitted Property designated on the plats and plans as 
“Limited Common Element” and identified as appertaining to each Unit; (b) other portions of the 
Submitted Property and other items designated by Section 55.1-1912(5) of the Condominium 
Act and not otherwise included in the description of a Unit; and (c) the parking spaces allocated 
to the Building Units pursuant to Section 4.6 of this Declaration.  Limited Common Elements 
shall appertain exclusively to the designated Unit or Units to which such Limited Common 
Element is appurtenant.  Limited Common Elements shall be reserved for the exclusive use of 



7 

the owner of the Unit or Units identified within the area designated as “Limited Common 
Element.” 

 
4.2.2 Assignment and Reassignment of Limited Common Elements.   
 

a. Reservation of Right.  The Board of Directors shall have the right to 
assign Common Elements as Limited Common Elements, and the right to assign or reassign 
Limited Common Elements as Common Elements; provided, however, that the assignment or 
reassignment of Limited Common Elements as Common Elements shall require the written 
consent of the Owner of the Unit or Units to which the Limited Common Element is assigned.   

 
b. Delineation of Common Elements Subject to Assignment and 

Reassignment Rights.  All Common Elements shall be subject to the rights described in Section 
4.2.2.a, including, but not limited to, parking areas, parking spaces, sidewalks, pedestrian areas, 
patio areas and open spaces. 

 
c. Method for Assignment or Reassignment.  Any assignment or 

reassignment shall be made by a written amendment to this Declaration executed by the parties 
required by this Section 4.2.2 and recorded in the Clerk’s Office.  The amendment to the 
Declaration making such an assignment shall be prepared and executed by the President or any 
Vice President of the Association.  Such amendment shall be recorded by any officer of the 
Association or the officer’s agent following payment by the Owner or Owners of the Unit or 
Units concerned of all reasonable costs for the preparation, acknowledgment and recordation 
thereof. The amendment shall become effective when recorded, and the recordation thereof shall 
be conclusive evidence that the method for assigning or reassigning Common Element or as 
Limited Common Element or Limited Common Element as Common Element was adhered to. A 
copy of the amendment shall be delivered to the Owner or Owners of the Unit or Units 
concerned. 

 
4.3 Allocation of Shared Limited Common Elements.  Notwithstanding anything to 

the contrary herein, to the extent any Limited Common Elements are assigned to more than one 
(1) Unit, the allocation of the Limited Common Elements may be agreed upon by the Owners 
with rights to the shared Limited Common Element pursuant to a separate written agreement of 
such Owners, which separate written agreement may or may not be recorded at the election of 
the Owners who are parties to the agreement.   

 
4.4 Structural Integrity.  Nothing shall be done to any Unit, or in, on or to the 

Common Elements or Limited Common Elements, which may impair the structural integrity of 
any improvement. 

 
4.5 No Partition.  Any conveyance, encumbrance, judicial sale or other transfer 

(voluntary or involuntary) of a Unit’s individual interest in the Common Elements will be void 
unless the Unit to which that interest is allocated is also transferred. 

 
4.6 Allocation of Limited Common Element Parking Spaces.  Declarant hereby 

assigns as Limited Common Elements appurtenant to the Building Units the numbered parking 



8 

spaces as shown in the Plats and Plans and identified on Exhibit E attached to this Declaration. 
 

ARTICLE V 
 

PERCENTAGE INTERESTS 
 
 Allocation of Undivided Interest in Common Elements. Pursuant to the provisions of 
Section 55.1-1917 of the Condominium Act, an undivided ownership interest, or “Percentage 
Interest,” in the Common Elements is allocated to each Unit in the Condominium based on the 
par value of the Unit.  The Percentage Interest allocated to each Unit is set forth in Exhibit D.   
 

ARTICLE VI 
 

EASEMENTS 
 

 In addition to the easements for encroachments created by Sections 55.1-1923 of the 
Condominium Act, the following easements are hereby granted or reserved as the case may be: 
 

6.1 Easement for Ingress and Egress Through Common Elements, Access to Units 
and Support. 

 
6.1.1 Access.  Each Owner is hereby granted an easement in common with each 

other Owner for ingress and egress through all Common Elements intended for ingress and 
egress, subject to such reasonable rules, regulations and restrictions as may be imposed by the 
Association.  The portions of each Building Unit located between the exterior of the Building on 
such Building Unit (including any exterior area exclusively serving a portion of such Unit and 
enclosed by a fence, hardscape, landscaping or other visual barricade or barrier) and the 
boundary of any Common Element or Limited Common Element or public right of way (the 
“Unit Easement Areas”) shall also be subject to an easement in common with each other Owner 
for ingress and egress to the extent designed for such purpose (including, without limitation, 
driveways, pedestrian ways and parking areas). 

 
6.1.2 Maintenance.  The Association and its authorized agents are hereby granted 

the right of access to any Unit as provided in Section 55.1--1955 of the Condominium Act and 
the Bylaws.  In case of emergency, such entry may be immediate, regardless of whether the 
Owner is present, subject to the rights of tenants. 

 
6.1.3 Support.  Each Unit and Common Element shall have an easement for 

lateral and subjacent support from every other Unit and Common Element.  
 

6.2 Easements for Operations.  The Association and its authorized agents are hereby 
granted easements over and under all of the Common Elements of the Condominium and the 
Unit Easement Areas for ingress and egress from, and the installation, replacing, repairing and 
maintaining of, all utilities, including, but not limited to water, sewer, gas, telephone, electricity, 
security systems, irrigation system, exterior lighting (excluding building-mounted lighting), 
communications, master television antennas and cable television, and the access ways, parking 



9 

areas, and walkways, and for all other purposes necessary for the proper operation of the 
Condominium.  By these easements, it shall be expressly permissible for the Association to grant 
to the appropriate public authorities and/or private companies and contractors permits, licenses 
and easements under, over and through the Common Elements to construct and maintain the 
necessary appurtenances and improvements on, above, across and under the Condominium, 
provided that such appurtenances and improvements do not unreasonably interfere with the use 
and enjoyment of the Condominium.  Should any public authority or other Person furnishing a 
service request a specific easement, permit, or license, the Board shall have the right to grant 
such easement, permit, or license without conflicting with the terms hereof including without 
limitation any permits, licenses or easements provided for in the EDA REA or the Ground Lease 
or the Sub-Ground Lease.  In addition, in the event the Board determines that the grant of 
easement rights to others is in the best interest of the Association, the Association shall have the 
right to grant the same, provided that use of the same would not, in the sole judgment of the 
Board, unreasonably interfere with the use and enjoyment of the Condominium by the Owners. 

 
6.3 Easements Not for Public Use; Licenses for Services; Parking.   
 

6.3.1 No Public Rights.  Nothing contained in this Declaration shall be deemed to 
grant any easements to the public or for the public’s use of any part of the Condominium.   

 
6.3.2 Board Authority to Grant Use Rights.  The Board of Directors may make the 

Parking Deck CE and surface parking spaces in the Common Elements (including Limited 
Common Elements) and other components of the Common Elements (including, without 
limitation, courtyards, squares, drive aisles and pedestrian ways) available to the public generally 
and specific Persons on such terms and conditions as the Board shall determine are acceptable in 
its sole discretion; provided, however, that if any such area is assigned as a Limited Common 
Element to any Unit or Units, the written consent of the Owner of such Unit or Units shall be 
required. 

 
6.3.3 Access for Emergency and Other Services.  Non-exclusive licenses are 

hereby granted to all police, firemen, ambulance operators, postal services, delivery persons, and 
trash removal personnel to enter the Common Elements in the performance of their duties, 
subject to such reasonable rules and regulations as the Board may establish from time to time.   
 

ARTICLE VII 
 

ASSESSMENTS 
 

7.1 Determination of Common Expenses and Assessments Against Owners.   
 

7.1.1 Fiscal Year.  Unless otherwise determined by the Board of Directors, the 
fiscal year of the Association shall be the calendar year. 
 

7.1.2 Preparation and Approval of Budget.  Each year on or before November 1, 
the Board of Directors shall adopt a budget for the Association containing an estimate of the total 
amount which it considers necessary to pay the cost of utility services, maintenance, 



10 

management, operation, repair and replacement of the Common Elements and satisfaction of the 
Association’s other responsibilities in this Declaration, and the cost of wages, materials, 
insurance premiums, services, supplies and other expenses that may be declared to be Common 
Expenses by the Condominium Act, the Condominium Instruments, or a resolution of the Board 
of Directors, and which will be required during the ensuing fiscal year for the administration, 
operation, maintenance and repair of the Common Elements, including Limited Common 
Elements, of the Condominium and the rendering to the Owners of all related services.  The 
budget may also include:  
 

a. The cost of any maintenance, repair and restoration of any Unit or 
portion of a Unit if such maintenance, repair or restoration is reasonably necessary in the 
discretion of the Board of Directors to protect the Common Elements or to preserve the 
appearance or value of the Condominium or is otherwise in the interest of the general welfare of 
all Owners.  No maintenance, repair or restoration of any Unit by the Association shall be 
undertaken without (1) a resolution by the Board of Directors, and (2) prior reasonable written 
Notice to the Owner of the Unit proposed to be maintained, repaired or restored.  Unless the 
Board of Directors determines otherwise after consideration of all relevant factors, the cost of 
any maintenance, repair or restoration to a Unit shall be assessed against the Unit to which such 
maintenance, repair or restoration is performed.  Once so assessed, a statement for the amount 
thereof shall be rendered promptly to the Owner at which time the assessment shall become due 
and payable and shall constitute a continuing lien and obligation of the Owner as provided in this 
Declaration and Section 55.1-1966 of the Condominium Act.  
 

b. Any amount necessary to discharge any lien or encumbrance levied 
against the Condominium, or any portion thereof, which may, in the opinion of the Board of 
Directors, constitutes a lien against the Common Elements.  
 

c. Any reasonable amounts the Board of Directors considers necessary to 
provide a working fund for the Association, a general operating reserve, and reserves for 
contingencies and replacements. 
 

d. Any rent, real estate taxes, assessments and any other expenses payable 
by the tenant of the Sub-Ground Lease other than penalties, interest, fines, costs or other charges 
resulting from tenant’s failure to comply with the Sub-Ground Lease, including any late or 
delinquent payment by tenant, unless caused directly or indirectly by the Association or any 
Owner or their respective employees, agents, licensees, invitees or lessees. 

 
7.1.3 Assessment and Payment of Common Expenses.  The Board of Directors 

shall send to each Owner a copy of the budget, in itemized form, which sets forth the amount of 
the Common Expenses payable by each Owner, at least forty five (45) days prior to the 
beginning of the fiscal year to which the budget applies.  The budget shall constitute the basis for 
determining each Owner’s contribution towards the Common Expenses of the Association.  The 
total amount of the estimated funds required for the operation of the Association set forth in the 
budget for the fiscal year adopted by the Board of Directors shall be assessed against each Unit 
in proportion to its Percentage Interest except as provided in Section 7.1.11 (Special Allocation 
of Common Expenses).  The assessment for Common Expenses shall constitute a lien against 



11 

each Unit as provided in Section 55.1-1966 of the Condominium Act.  The total annual Common 
Expense assessment shall be due and payable when such assessment is made, but installment 
payments of one-twelfth (1/12) of the assessment for such fiscal year may be made monthly, in 
advance, beginning on or before the first day of the first month of the fiscal year, and continuing 
on the first day of each of the succeeding eleven (11) months.  The obligation to pay annual 
Common Expense assessments shall be prorated for the initial partial year of operating the 
Condominium, if applicable.  Such payments shall be made by each Owner to the Board of 
Directors or its designated agent without offset, reductions or counterclaims.  Within sixty (60) 
days after the end of each fiscal year, the Board of Directors shall supply to all Owners an 
accounting of the Common Expenses for such fiscal year actually incurred and paid, together 
with a tabulation of the amounts collected pursuant to the budget adopted by the Board of 
Directors for such fiscal year, and showing the net amount over or short of the actual 
expenditures plus reserves.  Any amount accumulated in excess of the amount required for actual 
expenses and reserves may, if the Board of Directors deems it advisable, be credited, according 
to each Unit’s Percentage Interest, to the installments due in the succeeding months of that or the 
following fiscal year. 
 

7.1.4 Reserves.   
 

a. The Board shall: (i) conduct at least once every five (5) years a study to 
determine the necessity and amount of reserves required to repair, replace and restore the capital 
components of the Common Elements and pay deductibles provided in any insurance policies 
required to be maintained by the Association (the “Reserve Study”); (ii) review the results of the 
study at least annually to determine if reserves are sufficient; and make any adjustments the 
Board deems necessary to maintain reserves, as appropriate.   

 
b. To the extent that the Reserve Study indicates a need to budget for 

reserves, the Association’s budget shall include, without limitation, (i) the current estimated 
replacement cost, estimated remaining life and estimated useful life of the capital components of 
the Common Elements; (ii) as of the beginning of the fiscal year for which the budget is 
prepared, the current amount of accumulated cash reserves set aside, to repair, replace or restore 
the capital components and pay insurance deductibles, and the amount of the expected 
contribution to the reserve fund for that fiscal year; and (iii) a general statement describing the 
procedures used for the estimation and accumulation of cash reserves pursuant to this Section 
7.1.4 and the extent to which the Association is funding its reserve obligations consistent with 
the Reserve Study.  

 
c. Extraordinary expenditures not originally included in the annual budget 

which may become necessary during the year shall be charged first against reserves allocated 
thereto.  If the reserves are inadequate for any reason, including non-payment of any Owner’s 
assessment, or if the Board determines the reserves are not allocated to such expense, the Board 
of Directors may at any time levy a further assessment, which shall be assessed against the Units 
according to their respective Percentage Interests, and which may be payable in a lump sum or in 
installments as the Board of Directors may determine.  The Board of Directors shall give Notice 
of any such further assessment to all Owners, stating the amount and reasons therefor, and the 
further assessment shall, unless otherwise specified in the Notice, become effective immediately 



12 

and payable with the next monthly payment which is due after Notice of further assessment.  All 
Owners shall be obligated to pay the adjusted monthly amount or, if the additional assessment is 
not payable in installments, the full amount of such assessment when due in accordance with 
Section 7.1.3. 
 

7.1.5 Parking Deck Reserve.  Notwithstanding Section 7.1.4.a, the Board shall 
establish and maintain a reasonable reserve for the Parking Deck satisfying the provisions of 
Section 7.1.4.b. 
 

7.1.6 Effect of Failure to Prepare or Adopt Budget.  The failure or delay of the 
Board of Directors to prepare or adopt the annual budget for any fiscal year shall not constitute a 
waiver or release in any manner of an Owner’s obligation to pay its allocable share of the 
Common Expense as herein provided whenever the same shall be determined, and in the absence 
of any annual budget or adjusted budget, each Owner shall continue to pay the monthly charge 
established for the previous fiscal period increased by two percent (2%) until the new annual or 
adjusted budget shall have been delivered.  
 

7.1.7 Accounts.  All sums collected by the Board of Directors with respect to 
assessments against the Owners may be commingled into a single fund, but shall be identified 
and accounted for as to each Owner.  
 

7.1.8 Association’s Units.  Should the Association be the Owner of a Unit or 
Units, any assessment which would be otherwise due and payable to the Association by the 
owner of such Unit or Units, reduced by the amount of income which might be derived from the 
leasing of such Unit or Units, shall be apportioned and an assessment therefore levied ratably 
among the Owners of all Units not owned by the Association based upon the respective 
Percentage Interests appertaining to those Units. 
 

7.1.9 Loans.  Nothing contained in this Declaration or the other Condominium 
Instruments shall be construed as a restriction on the Association’s ability to obtain a loan from 
any lending source. 

 
7.1.10 Restrictions on Increases in Assessments.  If the Common Expense 

assessment for a fiscal year exceeds the Common Expense assessment for the prior fiscal year by 
twenty-five percent (25%) or more, such increase shall require the approval of Owners of Units 
to which at least sixty-seven percent (67%) of the Percentage Interests appertain and Eligible 
Mortgagees representing at least fifty-one percent (51%) of the Percentage Interests of all Units 
that are subject to Mortgages held by Eligible Mortgagees. 

 
7.1.11 Special Allocation of Common Expenses.   
 

a. Remedial Assessments.  Notwithstanding the Percentage Interest 
allocation of Common Expenses in Section 7.1.3 or the allocation of Sub-Ground Lease Rent 
provided in Section 7.1.11(c) below, an Owner shall be responsible for and shall pay to the 
Association as a Common Expense: (a) amounts charged to that particular Owner pursuant to 
this Declaration or the Bylaws, including under Section 8.1; and (b) any expenses arising from 



13 

the failure of such Owner to comply with the Sub-Ground Lease following the notice and cure 
period applicable to such failure as provided in the Sub-Ground Lease. 

 
b. Parking Deck Expenses.  The Owners of the Units shall pay the 

Common Expenses related solely to the Parking Deck in accordance with the Parking Deck 
Allocation. 

 
c. Sub-Ground Lease Rent.  Annual Rent, Additional Rent and any other 

expenses or costs charged by the Sub-Ground Lessor pursuant to the Sub-Ground Lease, except 
as provided in Section 7.1.11 (Remedial Assessments) above, shall be paid by the Owners of the 
Units in accordance with their Percentage Interests. 
 

7.2 Payment of Common Expenses. 
 
7.2.1 Default and Acceleration.  All Owners shall be obligated to pay the 

Common Expenses assessed by the Board of Directors pursuant to the provisions of Section 7.1 
and any assessment not paid within thirty (30) days after it is due shall be in default.  Upon 
default the entire annual assessment attributable to the defaulting Owner shall immediately 
become due and payable, unless otherwise determined by the Board of Directors.  No Owner 
shall be liable for the payment of any part of the Common Expenses assessed against his Unit 
subsequent to a sale, transfer or other conveyance by him of such Unit to another Owner.  Upon 
payment to the Association of a reasonable fee established from time to time by the Board of 
Directors, any Owner shall be entitled to a statement from the Treasurer setting forth the amount 
of the unpaid assessments against the Owner pursuant to Section 55.1-1966.H of the 
Condominium Act.   
 

7.2.2 Effect on Mortgages.  A lien for assessments shall not be affected by the 
sale or transfer of a Unit except the foreclosure of a first Mortgage.  Notwithstanding any other 
provision of this Declaration, the lien for any assessment or other charge levied pursuant to this 
Declaration on any Unit shall be subordinate to the rights of a first Mortgagee described in 
Section 55.1-1966.A(iii) of the Condominium Act.  Any first Mortgagee who obtains title to a 
Unit pursuant to the remedies provided in such Mortgage or other purchaser at the foreclosure of 
such Mortgage will not be liable for any assessments or other charges accrued prior to the date 
the mortgagor is divested of title, and the lien for assessments due and owing prior to such 
divestment shall terminate upon the sale of a Unit at the foreclosure of such Mortgage. 

 
7.3 Collection of Assessments.  The Board of Directors shall take prompt action to 

collect any assessments for Common Expenses due from any Owner which remain unpaid for 
more than thirty (30) days from the due date for payment thereof.  A late charge, costs, and 
interest in amounts established by the Board of Directors from time to time shall be added to any 
assessment or installment thereof not paid within ten (10) days after the due date thereof.  Such 
collection shall be pursuant to the provisions of Section 55.1-1966 of the Condominium Act.  
 

ARTICLE VIII 
 

MAINTENANCE, REPAIRS AND ALTERATIONS 



14 

 
8.1 Maintenance, Repair, Replacement and Other Common Expenses.  

 
8.1.1 By the Association.  Except as provided below, the Association shall be 

responsible for all maintenance, repair and replacement of the Parking Unit and the Common 
Elements, including the Limited Common Elements. The cost of all such maintenance, repairs 
and replacements made by the Association to the Common Elements and Limited Common 
Elements shall be a Common Expense unless (i) in the opinion of a majority of the Board of 
Directors, such expense was incurred due to the negligence, misuse or neglect of an Owner or 
such Owner’s tenant, licensee or invitee, in which event such expense may be charged to the 
responsible Owner, or (ii) the Owner has agreed, by separate agreement with the Association, to 
pay for such maintenance, repairs and replacements to Limited Common Elements of a special or 
unique nature or benefit to the Owner, or (iii) this Declaration or the Rules and Regulations 
provide otherwise.   
  

8.1.2 By the Owner.  Each Owner: 
 

a. of a Building Unit and the Parking Unit (except as otherwise provided 
in this Declaration) shall keep and maintain its Unit, the Building, any other improvements on 
the Unit and appurtenances in good order, condition and repair and in a clean and sanitary 
condition except as otherwise provided in this Declaration; 
 

b. of a Building Unit shall keep its Limited Common Elements in good 
order, condition and repair and in a clean and sanitary condition; 
 

c. shall be responsible for all damage to any other Units or to the Common 
Elements resulting from his negligence or misuse, or the negligence or misuse of the Owner’s 
tenants, licensees or invitees, or from the Owner’s failure to make any of the repairs or 
replacements required by this Section; 
 

d. shall perform his responsibility in a manner which shall not 
unreasonably disturb or interfere with the other Owners’ use and enjoyment of their Units or 
Limited Common Elements;  
 

e. shall promptly report to the Board of Directors or its designee any 
defect or need for repairs for which the Board of Directors is responsible;  
 

f. shall make all repairs and replacements to his Unit, the Building and any 
other improvements on the Unit except as otherwise provided in this Declaration; and 
 

g. shall comply with the applicable provisions of the Ground Lease, the 
EDA REA and the Sub-Ground Lease. 
 

8.1.3 Manner of Repair and Replacement.  All repairs and replacements shall be 
of first-class quality and shall comply with all of the applicable building codes and ordinances in 
the City of Richmond, Virginia.  The method of approving invoices for all repairs and 



15 

replacements which are the responsibility of the Association shall be determined by the Board of 
Directors.  Common Elements shall be restored or repaired to substantially the same condition as 
existed prior to the damage, allowing for any changes or improvements necessitated by changes 
in applicable building codes and changes in the availability, quality, durability, and cost of 
replacement materials, as determined by the Board. 
 

8.1.4 Services Benefiting Less Than All Units.  Any Common Expenses paid or 
incurred by the Association in making available services to one or more but less than all of the 
Owners shall be assessed against the Units involved based on their respective Percentage 
Interests or other basis reasonably determined by the Board of Directors. 

 
8.1.5 Maintenance of Unit Easement Areas.  The Association shall perform 

normal maintenance and repairs to the landscaping, irrigation, non-building mounted lighting, 
sidewalks, pedestrian paths, walkways and other hardscaped areas within the Unit Easement 
Areas except to the extent (a) this Declaration requires the Owner to insure the improvements 
contained within the Unit Easement Areas against the risk of damage from fire and other risks 
and insurance proceeds are available to such Owner to cover the cost of repairs and 
replacements, (b) the Unit Easement Areas are enclosed by fences, hardscape, landscaping or 
other visual barricade or barrier (e.g., dining areas adjoining restaurants and cafes), or (c) the 
Association and the Owner agree in writing.  
 

8.2 Additions, Alterations, or Improvements by Board of Directors.  Whenever in the 
judgment of the Board of Directors, the Common Elements shall require additions, alterations or 
improvements costing in excess of TWENTY-FIVE THOUSAND AND NO/DOLLARS 
($25,000.00) or five percent (5%) of the annual budget, whichever is greater (the “Improvement 
Cap”), during any period of twelve (12) months, the making of such additions, alterations or 
improvements shall be approved by Owners representing a Majority Interest (except that no 
Owner approval shall be required for additions, alterations or improvements required to comply 
with applicable law or governmental regulation, or to correct any deficiency or defect creating a 
safety or health hazard to occupants, as determined by the Board).  If a Majority Interest grants 
such approval, the Board of Directors shall proceed with such additions, alterations or 
improvements and shall assess all Owners for the cost thereof as a Common Expense.  Any 
additions, alterations, or improvements costing an amount equal to or less than the Improvement 
Cap during any period of twelve (12) consecutive months may be made by the Board of 
Directors without approval of the Owners and the cost thereof shall constitute part of the 
Common Expenses.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, if it is determined by a majority of the 
members of the Board of Directors that such additions, alterations or improvements are 
exclusively for the benefit of the Owner or Owners requesting the same, such assessments may 
be made against such requesting Owners in such proportion as they jointly approve, or if they are 
unable to agree thereon, in such proportions as may be determined by the Board of Directors.  
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Section, additions, alterations or improvements 
to the Parking Deck exceeding the Improvement Cap during any twelve (12) consecutive months 
shall require the prior written approval of the Owner of the Parking Unit which may be withheld 
or granted in its reasonable discretion Interest (except that no Parking Unit Owner approval shall 
be required for additions, alterations or improvements required to comply with applicable law or 
governmental regulation, or to correct any deficiency or defect creating a safety or health hazard 



16 

to occupants or users, as determined by the Board). 
 

8.3 Additions, Alterations or Improvements by Owners.  Once the improvements on a 
Unit are constructed, no Owner shall make any alteration in or to his Unit that would impair the 
structural integrity of any Common Element or other Unit.  No Owner shall make any material 
addition, alteration or improvement to the Owner’s Unit (other than to the roof, rooftop 
equipment and exterior mechanical, electrical and plumbing equipment and facilities for which 
no prior Board approval shall be required) without first obtaining the Board’s prior written 
approval of the plans and specifications for such work, and the approval of the appropriate and 
necessary authorities of the City of Richmond, Virginia, to the extent required, the Ground 
Lessor and Sub-Ground Lessor, and any other parties entitled to approve such work.  If approval 
of such plans and specifications is neither granted nor denied by the Board of Directors within 
thirty (30) days following receipt by the Board of Directors of the Owner’s written request for 
approval as more particularly set forth in the Rules and Regulations, the Owner making such 
request shall provide Notice to the Board of Directors of its failure to act, and if approval is 
neither granted nor denied within fifteen (15) days thereafter, the plans and specifications shall 
be deemed to be disapproved by the Board of Directors.  If any application to any governmental 
authority for a permit to make any such structural addition, alteration or improvement in or to 
any Unit requires execution by the Association, and provided consent has been given by the 
Board of Directors, then the application shall be executed on behalf of the Association by the 
president, vice president or, if authorized by the Board, another officer of the Association, 
without, however, incurring any liability on the part of the officer, Board of Directors or 
Association to any government, municipality, contractor, subcontractor or materialman on 
account of such addition, alteration or improvement, or to any person having claim for injury to 
persons or damage to property arising therefrom.  The Owner requesting the improvement shall 
pay the costs of preparing and filing all applications. 
 

8.4 Utility Charges.  Each Owner shall be responsible for all charges or assessments 
for utilities, including but not limited to gas, electricity, cable television, communications and 
telephone charges supplied to each Owner’s Unit and separately metered for that Unit.  The cost 
of utilities and other services serving the Condominium which are not individually metered to 
each Unit shall be a Common Expense. 
 

ARTICLE IX 
 

RULES AND REGULATIONS 
 

9.1 Disclosure.  The Condominium is a mixed use development, consisting of multi-
family residential, office and commercial space.  In recognition of the fact that the successful 
operation of the businesses therein is essential, establishes the character of the Condominium, 
and must be supported and continued, the rights and privileges set forth in this Article are 
irrevocably reserved to and vested in each Unit. 
 

9.2 Use.  Subject to the Condominium Instruments and the Rules and Regulations, the 
Units shall be used for any lawful purpose that is permitted by the Sub-Ground Lease.  The 
Association shall not otherwise restrict the use of any Unit or the leasing of any Unit. 



17 

 
9.3 Rights and Privileges.  An Owner shall have the following rights and privileges: 

 
9.3.1 Rules and Regulations.  To promulgate and enforce rules and regulations 

regarding the use of the Owner’s Unit and Limited Common Elements assigned to that Unit, and 
the activities which may affect, directly or indirectly, that Unit and Limited Common Elements.  
By way of illustration and not of limitation, an Owner may promulgate rules and regulations 
regarding its Units with respect to the following subjects: 
 

a. rights of first refusal for commercial tenants, subleasing and 
assignment; 
 

b. restrictions on the type or nature of business or business activity that 
may occur upon the Unit and/or Limited Common Element; otherwise to permit or regulate any 
lawful use thereon whatsoever; 

 
c. restrictions or requirements for interior or exterior signage or lighting, 

including any signage or lighting that may be located upon or visible from the exterior of 
improvements on the Unit; 

 
d. restrictions or requirements for parking, the loading or unloading of 

materials or goods, or the storage or sale of materials or goods. 
 

9.3.2 Conflicts.  Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary in this 
Declaration, no Unit shall be subject to any Rules or Regulations promulgated by the Association 
to the extent they may conflict with the rights and privileges reserved for the Units in this Article 
or elsewhere in this Declaration.  In addition, no Rules and Regulations promulgated by the 
Association shall conflict with the Ground Lease, the EDA REA or the Sub-Ground Lease, and if 
any provisions of this Declaration shall conflict with the Ground Lease, the EDA REA or the 
Sub-Ground Lease, the provisions of the Ground Lease, the EDA REA or the Sub-Ground Lease 
shall control.  The Owners of the Units shall have sole, exclusive, final and nonreviewable 
jurisdiction and authority to promulgate and enforce rules and regulations regarding or affecting 
their Units which rules or regulations shall take precedence in the event of a conflict with a rule 
or regulation promulgated by the Association. 
 

9.4 Sub-Condominium; Subdivisions.  Each Owner shall have the right to establish, 
modify or reconstitute, at any time and from time to time one or more condominiums within all 
or a portion of each initial Unit, without the consent of the Board, the Association, or any other 
Owner, or any Mortgagee who does not hold a mortgage loan which directly encumbers the Unit 
affected, and provided only that (i) the obligation for payment of Common Expenses and the 
aggregate Percentage Interest assigned to the initial Units will not change even though the same 
may be reallocated to the owners of units in the sub-condominium, and (ii) any increase in 
Common Expenses resulting directly or indirectly from the establishment of any new sub-
condominiums shall be borne by the Owner(s) responsible for such increased expenses (which 
such Owner(s) may allocate to the sub-condominium).  Notwithstanding anything herein to the 
contrary, no Owner shall have the right to further subdivide its Unit (i.e., into two or more Units) 



18 

pursuant to the provisions of Virginia Code Ann. Section 55.1-1933 without the consent of all 
the other Owners and the consent of the Mortgagee of such Unit. 
 

9.5 General Rules and Regulations. 
 

9.5.1 Hazardous Uses and Insurance.  Unless the Owner pays the additional cost 
thereof, nothing shall be done or kept in or upon any Unit, Limited Common Element or the 
Common Elements which will increase the rate of insurance for the Condominium without the 
prior written consent of the Board of Directors.  No Owner shall permit anything to be done or 
kept in his Unit or upon the Common Elements or Limited Common Elements which will result 
in the cancellation of insurance on the Condominium or any part thereof or which would be in 
violation of any law, regulation or administrative ruling.  No waste will be committed by any 
Owner in or to the Common Elements. 
 

9.5.2 Compliance With Laws.  No unlawful use shall be made of the 
Condominium or any part thereof, and all laws, zoning ordinances and regulations of all 
governmental agencies having jurisdiction thereof shall be observed.  All laws, orders, rules, 
regulations or requirements of any governmental agency requiring any repair or alteration to any 
portion of the Condominium shall be complied with, by and at the sole expense of the Owner or 
the Association, whichever shall have the obligation to maintain or repair such portion of the 
Condominium.  If the latter, then the cost of such compliance shall be a Common Expense, 
unless a majority of the Board of Directors determine that an alteration is required to satisfy the 
needs of the particular Owner, in which event the cost of the alteration may be charged to the 
Owner. 
 

9.5.3 Designed Use.  The Common Elements and Limited Common Elements 
shall be used only for the furnishing of the services and facilities for which the same are 
designed and reasonably suited and which are incident to the use and occupancy of the Units.   
 

9.5.4 Adoption of Rules and Regulations.  The Board of Directors is hereby 
authorized to adopt, modify and rescind from time to time Rules and Regulations that do not 
contravene the provisions of this Declaration, the Ground Lease, the EDA REA or the Sub-
Ground Lease and that the Board determines are (a) reasonably necessary to protect the health, 
safety and welfare of the Owners or (b) otherwise generally in the best interest of the Owners. 
 

9.6 (Intentionally Omitted). 
 
9.7 No Tax Exemption.   
 

9.7.1 Obligation to Pay.  Each Owner shall be obligated to pay (i) all real estate 
taxes assessed against it with respect to its Unit, and any fees or charges in lieu thereof, and (ii) 
all taxes, charges, and levies assessed against personal property used in or located at the Unit, 
arising out of such Owner’s or its tenants’ or other occupants’ use and activities at the Unit. 

 
9.7.2 Payment In Lieu of Taxes.  If for any reason a Unit is not subject to real 

estate taxes or business personal property taxation arising from the Owner’s or its tenants’ or 



19 

other occupants’ use and activities at the Unit, such Owner shall pay to the City of Richmond 
annually an amount equal to the real estate taxes and business personal property tax that such 
Owner would be required to pay if such Owner or the Unit were subject to such taxation.  
Neither the Owner nor any other occupant of the Unit shall be entitled to exemptions from real 
estate taxes or business personal property taxes arising from their use or activities at or upon the 
Unit.  Each Owner agrees that it shall endeavor to disclose this provision to tenants and other 
occupants of the Unit. 

 
9.7.3 Third Party Beneficiary.  Bon Secours – St. Mary’s Hospital of Richmond 

LLC, a Virginia not-for-profit limited liability company, shall be deemed a third-party 
beneficiary of this Sections 9.7.  This Section 9.7 shall not be amended without the prior written 
consent of Bon Secours – St. Mary’s Hospital of Richmond LLC.  

9.8 Parking Shortage 

9.8.1 Parking Study.  The Owners of the Building Units agree that should any 
one of them determine in its sole discretion that there is a parking shortage in the Condominium 
following substantial completion of the Buildings, then the Association shall engage a third-party 
parking expert to assess the parking shortage, determine the cause of such shortage and allocate 
responsibility for such parking shortage to the Building Units (the “Parking Study”). All costs 
associated with the Parking Study, and all costs associated with addressing the parking shortage, 
shall be paid by the Owners in the proportion that the Parking Study allocates the responsibility 
for the parking shortage to each Building Unit. 

9.8.2 Permitted Occupants.  Unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Owners, 
each Owner shall, in good faith, limit occupancy in its Unit or Units to users whose parking 
requirements do not exceed the parking spaces allocated to such Unit in this Declaration or the 
other Condominium Instruments. 

9.8.3 Resolution of Parking Shortages.  The Owners shall in good faith take 
commercially reasonable efforts to address the parking shortage identified in the Parking Study.  
The Association and Owners may consider any reasonable options for addressing a parking 
shortage including, without limitation, the following: 

a. Providing additional on-street parking adjoining the Condominium; 
 
b. Responsible Owner or Owners providing busing and/or shuttling 

services to offsite parking facilities; 
 

c. Responsible Owner or Owners securing rights to additional parking 
(which may be rented at fair market value from an Owner or third-party pursuant to a written 
agreement); 

 
d. Reallocation of parking spaces designated as Limited Common Element 

within the Condominium subject to the written consent of the affected Owner which may be 
withheld or granted in its sole discretion notwithstanding any good faith obligation set forth 
above. 



20 

9.8.4  Enforcement.  Nothing contained in this Section 9.8 shall prohibit an 
Owner from immediately enforcing its rights to use the Limited Common Element parking 
spaces assigned to the Owner’s Unit or Units (e.g., during the preparation of the Parking Study 
or otherwise) or prohibit the Association from enforcing such rights.  Enforcement rights shall 
include any legally permissible means, including, without limitation, the following: 

a. Hiring a parking attendant/security guard; 
 
b. Gating spaces; 

 
c. Additional signage and painting; 

 
d. Booting and/or towing violators; 

 
e. Fining the Owner or Owners whose employees, tenants, guests or 

contractors violate the parking rights of other Owners; and 
 

f. Installing video surveillance and other security measures. 
 

ARTICLE X 
 

INTENTIONALLY OMITTED 
 

ARTICLE XI 
 

CONDEMNATION 
 

11.1 Controlling Provisions.  The following provisions of this Article XI shall govern 
upon the taking of a Unit or Common Element, including, without limitation, any Limited 
Common Element, to the extent such provisions do not conflict with the provisions of Section 
55.1-1906 of the Condominium Act.  This Article shall be further subject and subordinate to the 
provisions of the Ground Lease and the Sub-Ground Lease. 

 
11.2 Taking of Common Elements.  
 

11.2.1 General Allocation.  Except as provided in Section 11.2.2, if any portion of 
the Common Elements is taken by eminent domain, the award therefor shall be paid to the 
Association.  Provided, however, that the portion of the award attributable to the taking of any 
permanently assigned Limited Common Element shall be allocated to the Owner of the Unit to 
which that Limited Common Element was assigned at the time of the taking.  If that Limited 
Common Element was permanently assigned to more than one Unit at the time of the taking, 
then the portion of the award attributable to the taking thereof shall be allocated in equal shares 
to the Owners of the Units to which it was so assigned.  A permanently assigned Limited 
Common Element is a Limited Common Element which cannot be reassigned or which can be 
reassigned only with the consent of the Owner or Owners of the Unit or Units to which it is 
assigned.   

 



21 

11.2.2 Parking Deck.  If the entire Parking Deck is taken by eminent domain, the 
award therefor shall be allocated in accordance with the Parking Deck Allocation.  If only a 
portion of the Parking Deck is taken, each Unit shall be allocated that portion of the award 
representing the value of the number of parking spaces assigned to such Unit as Limited 
Common Element provided that the Parking Unit shall be allocated one-hundred percent (100%) 
of the award representing the value of the parking spaces taken within the Parking Unit.  
 

11.3 Taking of Entire Unit.  If one or more Units are taken by eminent domain, the 
undivided interest in the Common Elements appertaining to any such Unit shall thereafter 
appertain to the remaining Units, being allocated to them in proportion to their respective 
Percentage Interests.  The Association shall request that the court enter a decree reflecting the 
reallocation of Percentage Interests produced thereby, and that the award include, without 
limitation, just compensation to the Owner of any Unit taken for its percentage Interest in the 
Common Elements as well as for the Owner’s Unit. 
 

11.4 Taking a Portion of Unit.  If portions of any Unit are taken by eminent domain, 
the Association shall request that the court determine the fair market value of the portions of 
such Unit not taken, and the Percentage Interest in the Common Elements appertaining to any 
such Units shall be reduced, in the case of each such Unit, in proportion to the diminution in the 
fair market value of such Unit resulting from the taking.  The portions of Percentage Interests 
thereby divested from the Owners of any such Units shall be reallocated among those Units and 
the other Units in proportion to their respective Percentage Interests, with any Units partially 
taken participating in such reallocation on the basis of their Percentage Interests as reduced in 
accordance with the preceding sentence.  The Association shall request that the court enter a 
decree reflecting the reallocation of Percentage Interests produced thereby, and that the award 
include, without limitation, just compensation to the Owner of any Unit partially taken for that 
portion of the Owner’s Percentage Interest divested from the Owner by operation of the 
following sentence, as well as for that portion of the Unit taken by eminent domain.  If, however, 
the taking of a portion of any Unit makes it impractical to use the remaining portion of that Unit 
for any lawful purpose permitted by the Condominium Instruments, then the entire Percentage 
Interest appertaining to that Unit shall thereafter appertain to the remaining Units, being 
allocated to them in proportion to their respective Percentage Interests, and the remaining portion 
of that Unit shall thereafter be a Common Element.  The Association shall request that the court 
entre a decree reflecting the reallocation of the Percentage Interests produced thereby, and that 
the award include, without limitation, just compensation to the Owner of such Unit for the 
Owner’s entire Percentage Interest and for the Owner’s entire Unit. 
 

11.5 Voting Rights.  Votes in the Association, rights to future common profits, and 
liabilities for future Common Expenses not specially assessed, appertaining to any Unit or Units 
taken or partially taken by eminent domain, shall thereafter appertain to the remaining Units, 
being allocated to them in proportion to their relative voting strength in the Association, with any 
Units partially taken participating in such reallocation as though their voting strength in the 
Association had been reduced in proportion to the reduction to their Percentage Interests, and the 
Association shall request that the decree of the court provide accordingly. 
 



22 

ARTICLE XII 
 

(INTENTIONALLY OMITTED) 
 
 

ARTICLE XIII 
 

ADMINISTRATION OF THE CONDOMINIUM 
BY THE OWNERS ASSOCIATION 

 
13.1 Authority.  A non-stock corporation known as Westhampton Condominium Unit 

Owners Association Inc. will function as the Association.  The Association will administer the 
operation and management of the Condominium and shall have the power to perform all acts and 
duties incident to such administration in accordance with the terms of its Articles of 
Incorporation and the Bylaws, as well as in accordance with the terms of the Condominium Act.  
All Owners shall automatically become members of the Association and such membership shall 
automatically terminate upon divestiture of such ownership regardless of how such ownership is 
divested.  No person, firm or corporation holding any lien, deed of trust or other encumbrance 
upon any Unit or upon the Condominium as a whole shall be entitled by virtue of such lien, deed 
of trust or other encumbrance to membership in the Association or to any of the rights or 
privileges of such membership.  The Association shall have and is granted the authority to 
enforce the provisions of this Declaration, the Bylaws and the Rules and Regulations as the 
Board of Directors may determine. 
 

13.2 Board of Directors as Agent.  The Board of Directors shall be the Executive 
Organ and governing body of the Association.  The Board of Directors shall have the power to 
act as agent for the Owners and for each of them, to manage, control and deal with the interests 
of such Owners in the Common Elements of the Condominium to permit the Board of Directors 
to fulfill all of its powers, rights, functions and duties and to act in the capacity of the Tenant in 
the Sub-Ground Lease.  The Board of Directors shall have the power to act as agent for each 
Owner, each Mortgagee, other named insureds and their beneficiaries and any other holder of a 
lien or other interest in the Condominium or the Property to:  (i) adjust and settle all claims 
arising under insurance policies purchased by the Board of Directors, (ii) execute and deliver 
releases upon the payment of claims and (iii) act on their behalf in any condemnation proceeding 
or action of eminent domain pursuant to section 55.1-1906 of the Condominium Act; provided 
however, that the Board of Directors shall notify the Mortgagee of such and obtain Mortgagee’s 
consent pursuant to Section 16.4 of this Declaration.  The powers hereby granted shall be in 
addition to any rights granted by section 55.1-1956.B of the Condominium Act, including, 
without limitation, the authority to grant and accept easements and licenses pursuant to section 
55.1-1956.B of the Condominium Act. 
 

13.3 Management Agent.  Unless otherwise agreed in writing by all of the Owners, the 
Board of Directors, on behalf of the Association, shall contract with a Managing Agent 
experienced in condominium association management to assist with managing the Condominium 
and the Association.  The Managing Agent shall be selected through a competitive bid process to 
ensure the Managing Agent is paid market rate fees.  Nothing contained in this Section shall 



23 

prohibit an Affiliate of an Owner from submitting a proposal; provided, however, that any 
decision to retain, extend or dismiss the Managing Agent that is an Affiliate of one or more 
Owners, shall be made only by the Owner or Owners that are not Affiliates of the Managing 
Agent.   
 

ARTICLE XIV 
 
 INSURANCE 
 

14.1 Authority to Purchase.  
 

14.1.1 Association Policies.  Except as otherwise provided in Section 14.5, all 
insurance policies relating to the Common Elements shall be purchased by or on behalf of the 
Association.  Neither the Association, any officer or director, a Managing Agent, nor the 
Declarant shall be liable for failure to obtain any coverages required by this Article to be 
obtained by or on behalf of the Association if such failure is due to the unavailability of such 
coverages from reputable insurance companies, or if such coverages are available only at 
demonstrably unreasonable cost.  Pursuant to Section 55.1-1963.C of the Condominium Act, the 
Secretary shall promptly furnish to each Owner Notice of the procurement, subsequent changes 
in, and the termination of all insurance coverage obtained on behalf of the Association.  
 

14.1.2 General Requirements.  Each policy purchased by or on behalf of the 
Association shall provide, to the extent reasonably available at reasonable rates, that:  
 

a. The insurer waives any right of subrogation against the Declarant, the 
Association, the Managing Agent, the Ground Lessor or the Sub-Ground Lessor, the Owners and 
Mortgagees or the respective officers, directors, partners, members, employees or agents of any 
of them; 

b. The policy shall not be cancelled, invalidated or suspended due to the 
conduct of any officer or director, Owner, Managing Agent, or any invitee, agent, officer, or 
employee of any of the foregoing without a prior demand in writing to the Board of Directors or 
the Managing Agent (whichever is applicable) that the conduct cease or be corrected, followed 
by failure to correct or cease such conduct within sixty (60) days after such demand; and 
 

c. The policy shall not be cancelled or substantially modified for any 
reason (including nonpayment of premium) without at least sixty (60) days' prior Notice to the 
Board of Directors and the Managing Agent and to all Mortgagees.  
 

14.1.3 (Intentionally Omitted). 
 

14.1.4 Rating.  All policies of insurance obtained by Owners or by or on behalf of 
the Association shall be written by companies licensed to do business in the Commonwealth of 
Virginia, and assigned an "A" rating or better by Best's Insurance Reports. 
 

14.1.5 Insurance Trustee as Loss Payee.  All policies of physical damage 
insurance obtained by or on behalf of the Association shall provide that they are payable to the 



24 

Insurance Trustee (as defined below). 
 

14.2 Common Element Physical Damage Insurance.  
 

14.2.1 Policy Requirements.  Except to the extent that an Owner is required to 
insure Limited Common Elements, the Board of Directors shall obtain and maintain a master 
casualty policy insuring against the risk of damage from fire and other risks, which may include 
earthquake, environmental hazards, vandalism, malicious mischief, windstorm, debris removal, 
cost of demolition and water damage and such other risks as are determined by the Board.  The 
Board shall insure the Parking Deck (including, without limitation, individual parking spaces 
whether or not assigned as Limited Common Element or included within the Parking Unit) but 
shall not be required to insure hardscape such as curbs, gutters, and other items within the 
Common Elements not normally insured, if any.  Such insurance shall cover the interests of the 
Association, the Board of Directors, all Owners and their Mortgagees, Ground Lessor and Sub-
Ground Lessor as their interests may appear (subject, however, to the loss payment and 
adjustment provisions in favor of the Board of Directors as Insurance Trustee contained in 
Sections 14.6 and 14.7 of this Article), and shall be in an amount that would provide for one 
hundred percent (100%) of the then current replacement cost of the insured portions, if any, of 
the Common Elements (exclusive of land, excavations, foundations, Limited Common Elements 
required to be insured by the Owners and other items normally excluded from such coverage), 
without deduction for depreciation.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Section 
14.2, the insurance shall provide at least those coverages required by the Sub-Ground Lease.  
Such amounts and coverages shall be determined annually by the Board of Directors with the 
assistance of the Managing Agent, the insurance company affording such coverage, and (if the 
Board so resolves) a qualified appraiser of real estate.  
 

14.2.2 Specific Requirements.  Unless the Ground Lease or Sub-Ground Lease 
otherwise provide, the casualty policy required by Section 14.2.1 shall also provide:  
 

a. A waiver of any right of the insurer to repair, rebuild or replace any 
damage or destruction if a decision is made pursuant to Section 15.5 of this Declaration not to do 
so, and, in such event, that the insurer shall pay on the basis of the agreed amount endorsement; 
 

b. The following endorsements (or equivalent):  (i) "no control" (to the 
effect that coverage shall not be prejudiced by any act or neglect of any Owner, occupant, or 
other person if such act or neglect is not within the control of the insured, nor by any failure of 
the insured or any other person to comply with any warranty or condition concerning any portion 
of the Condominium not controlled by the insured); (ii) "contingent liability from operation of 
building laws or codes"; (iii) "increased cost of construction" or "condominium replacement 
cost"; and (iv) "agreed amount" or elimination of coinsurance clause; 
 

c. That any "no other insurance" clause excludes individual Owners' 
policies from its operation so that the physical damage policy purchased on behalf of the 
Association shall be deemed primary coverage and any individual Owners' policies shall be 
deemed excess coverage, and in no event shall the insurance coverage obtained and maintained 
on behalf of the Association hereunder be brought into contribution with insurance purchased by 



25 

individual Owners or their Mortgagees unless otherwise required by law; and 
 

d. That a duplicate original of such policy, all renewals thereof, and any 
subpolicies or certificates and endorsements issued thereunder, together with proof of payment 
of premiums, shall be delivered by the insurer to the Association, the Sub-Ground Lessor and 
any Mortgagee whose request therefore is received by the insurer at least thirty (30) days prior to 
expiration of the then current policy.  
 

14.3 Association Liability Insurance.  The Board of Directors shall obtain and maintain 
a master liability policy (including without limitation coverage of all officers and directors 
against libel, slander, false arrest, invasion of privacy, and errors and omissions) and property 
damage insurance in such limits as the Board may from time to time determine, insuring the 
Association, each officer and director, the Managing Agent, each Owner, each Mortgagee, the 
Declarant, Ground Lessor and Sub-Ground Lessor against any liability to the public arising out 
of or incident to the ownership or use of the Common Elements.  Such insurance shall be issued 
on a comprehensive liability basis and shall contain:  (i) a cross liability endorsement under 
which the rights of a named insured shall not be prejudiced with respect to his action against 
another named insured; (ii) hired and non-owned vehicle coverage; (iii) host liquor liability 
coverage with respect to events sponsored by the Association; (iv) deletion of the normal 
products exclusion with respect to events sponsored by the Association; and (v) a "severability of 
interest" endorsement which shall preclude the insurer from denying liability to an Owner 
because of negligent acts or omissions of another insured.  The Board of Directors shall review 
such limits once a year, but in no event shall such insurance be less than the coverages required 
by the Sub-Ground Lease. 
 

14.4 Other Insurance.  The Board of Directors may, in its discretion, obtain and 
maintain:  
 

14.4.1 Fidelity Coverage.  Adequate fidelity coverage to protect against dishonest 
acts on the part of officers, agents and employees of the Association and all others who handle or 
are responsible for handling funds of the Association.  The fidelity coverage shall meet the 
greater of the requirements of this Section 14.4.1 or the requirements of the Condominium Act.  
The fidelity coverage shall: (i) name the Association as an obligee; (ii) be written in an amount 
not less than fifty percent (50%) of the total annual assessments for Common Expenses for the 
then current fiscal year; provided, however, the aggregate amount of the bonds shall not be less 
than the lesser of the estimated maximum of funds, including reserve funds, in the custody of the 
Association or the Managing Agent at any given time during the term of the coverage, or a sum 
equal to three (3) months' aggregate assessment on all Units plus reserve funds; and (iii) contain 
waivers of any defense based upon the exclusion of persons who serve without compensation 
from any definition of "employee" or similar expression; 
 

14.4.2 Workers’ Compensation.  Worker's compensation insurance if and to the 
extent necessary to meet the requirements of law; and 
 

14.4.3 Other Insurance.  Such other insurance as the Board of Directors may 
determine is appropriate. 



26 

 
14.5 Unit and Limited Common Element Insurance.   

 
14.5.1 Casualty Policy Requirements.   
 

a. General Requirements.  Each Owner shall, at his own expense, obtain 
and maintain in full force and effect a condominium Owner's casualty policy insuring such Unit, 
the Building and any other improvements on the Unit, if any, and the insurable portions of the 
Limited Common Elements appurtenant to such Unit in an amount that would provide for not 
less than the lesser of (a) one hundred percent (100%) of the then current replacement cost 
thereof (exclusive of general Common Elements and foundations and other items normally 
excluded from coverage), without deduction for depreciation, including insurance coverage for 
its personal liability, or (b) the amount required by the Owner’s Mortgagee; provided, however, 
that no Owner shall acquire or maintain insurance coverage so as to decrease the amount which 
the Association may realize under any insurance policy, or to cause any insurance coverage in 
favor of the Association to be brought into contribution with insurance coverage obtained by an 
Owner.  All policies obtained by Owners individually shall contain waivers of subrogation 
against the Owners, the Association the Managing Agent, the Ground Lessor and the Sub-
Ground Lessor. 

 
b. Parking Deck.  Notwithstanding 14.5.1a, the Association shall maintain 

insurance for the Parking Deck, including, without limitation, each parking space assigned as 
Limited Common Element in the Parking Deck or included in the Parking Unit or elsewhere in 
the Common Element.  The Owner of the Parking Unit shall not be required to maintain a 
separate casualty policy for any portion of the Parking Deck or the Parking Unit. 
 

14.5.2 Specific Requirements.  The policy required by Section 15.5.1 shall also 
provide: 
 

a. The following endorsements (or equivalent): (i) "no control" (to the 
effect that coverage shall not be prejudiced by any act or neglect of any person if such act or 
neglect is not within the control of the insured, nor by any failure of the insured or any other 
person to comply with any warranty or condition concerning any portion of the Condominium 
not controlled by the insured); (ii) "contingent liability from operation of building laws or 
codes"; (iii) "increased cost of construction" or "condominium replacement cost"; and (iv) 
"agreed amount" or elimination of coinsurance clause; 
 

b. That any "no other insurance" clause excludes policies obtained by or 
on behalf of the Association from its operation so that the physical damage insurance on Units 
obtained by Owners shall be deemed primary coverage with respect to the Units and any policy 
obtained by or on behalf of the Association shall be deemed excess coverage, and in no event 
shall the insurance coverage obtained by any Owner be brought into contribution with any policy 
obtained by or on behalf of the Association unless otherwise required by law; and 
 

c. That a duplicate original of each policy, all renewals thereof, and any 
subpolicies, certificates and endorsements issued thereunder, together with proof of payment of 



27 

premiums, shall be delivered by the insurer to the Association, the Sub-Ground Lessor and any 
Mortgagee whose request therefore is received by the insurer at least thirty (30) days prior to 
expiration of the then current policy. 
 

d. The minimum coverages required by the Ground Lease and Sub-
Ground Lease with respect to the Unit. 
 

14.5.3 Unit Owner Liability Policy.  Each Owner shall obtain and maintain a 
liability policy and property damage insurance in at least such limits as the Board may from time 
to time determine, insuring the Owner and naming as additional insureds the Association, the 
Managing Agent, the Declarant, Ground Lessor and Sub-Ground Lessor against any liability to 
the public arising out of or incident to the ownership or use of the Owner’s Unit.  The liability 
policy and property damage insurance shall meet the minimum coverages required by the 
Ground Lease and Sub-Ground Lease. 
 

14.5.4 Association’s Right to Procure Unit Insurance.  If any Owner shall fail to 
provide a policy of casualty insurance with respect to a Unit or a policy of liability insurance as 
required in this Section 15.5, then the Board of Directors may, but shall not be obligated to, 
obtain such a policy with respect to the Unit, on behalf of such Owner, and all expenses incurred 
by the Board of Directors in connection with obtaining such policy shall be repaid by such 
Owner to the Association promptly upon demand by the Board of Directors.  Any expenses 
incurred by the Association pursuant to this Section shall be charged to the responsible Owner, 
and such expenses shall be secured by the lien for payment of Common Expenses as provided in 
this Declaration. 
 

14.6 Insurance Trustee.  All physical damage insurance policies purchased by or on 
behalf of the Association shall be for the benefit of the Association, the Owners, their 
Mortgagees, and the Ground Lessor and Sub-Ground Lessor as their respective interests may 
appear, and shall provide that, subject to the requirements of the Ground Lease and Sub-Ground 
Lease, all proceeds of such policies shall be paid in trust to the Board of Directors as "Insurance 
Trustee" to be applied pursuant to the terms of Article XV of this Declaration.  The sole duty of 
the Insurance Trustee shall be to receive such proceeds as are paid to it and to hold the same in 
trust for the purposes stated in Article XV of this Declaration, for the benefit of the insureds and 
their beneficiaries thereunder.  
 

14.7 Board of Directors as Agent.  The Board of Directors as Insurance Trustee is 
irrevocably constituted as agent for the Association, each Owner, each Mortgagee, other named 
insureds and their beneficiaries, and any other holder of a lien or other interest in the 
Condominium, to adjust and settle all claims arising under insurance policies purchased by the 
Board of Directors and deliver releases upon the payment of claims.   
 

ARTICLE XV 
 
 REPAIR AND RECONSTRUCTION AFTER FIRE OR OTHER CASUALTY 
 

15.1 When Repair and Reconstruction of Common Elements Required.  Except as 



28 

otherwise provided in this Article, or required by the Ground Lease or Sub-Ground Lease, upon 
damage to or destruction of all or any part of the Common Elements insured pursuant to Article 
XV, as a result of fire or other casualty, the Board of Directors under the direction of the 
Insurance Trustee shall arrange for and supervise the prompt repair and restoration thereof. 
 

15.2 Procedure for Reconstruction and Repair of Common Elements. 
 

15.2.1 Cost Estimates.  Immediately after a fire or other casualty causing damage 
to any part of the insured Common Elements, the Board of Directors under the direction of the 
Insurance Trustee shall obtain reliable and detailed estimates of the cost of such repair and 
restoration to a condition as good as that existing before such casualty or damage.  Such costs 
may also include professional fees and premiums for such bonds as the Insurance Trustee 
determines necessary.  
 

15.2.2 Assessments.  If the proceeds of insurance are not sufficient to defray such 
estimated costs of reconstruction and repair or if at any time during reconstruction and repair, or 
upon completion of reconstruction and repair, the funds for the payment of the costs thereof are 
insufficient, assessments for such deficiency shall be made against all the Owners in proportion 
to their respective Percentage Interests, except as otherwise provided in Section 7.1.11 (Special 
Allocation of Common Expenses) above.  
 

15.2.3 Encroachments.  Section 55.1-1923 of the Condominium Act (Easement 
for Encroachments) shall apply if encroachments upon or in favor of a Unit are created as a 
result of such reconstruction or in any event contemplated and set out in section 55.1-1923, and 
no such encroachment shall give rise to a claim or basis for any action for removal thereof by the 
Owner upon whose property such encroachment results. 
 

15.3 Plans and Specifications.  Any reconstruction or repair of the Units and the 
Common Elements shall be substantially in accordance with the plans and specifications under 
which the Condominium was originally constructed, regardless of whether such improvements 
are insured by a policy carried by the Owner or the Association, but subject to changes in 
applicable building codes and changes in the availability, quality, durability and cost of 
replacement materials. 
 

15.4 Disbursements of Construction Funds for Common Elements. 
 

15.4.1 Construction Fund.  The net proceeds of insurance collected on account of 
a casualty and the funds received by the Board of Directors or Insurance Trustee from 
assessments against Owners on account of such casualty shall constitute a construction fund 
which shall be disbursed in payment of the cost of reconstruction and repair in the manner set 
forth in this Section but subject to the provisions of any Mortgages encumbering Units as 
provided in Article XVI of this Declaration and the requirements of the Ground Lease and the 
Sub-Ground Lease.  The net proceeds of insurance collected on account of a casualty shall be 
deposited with the Board of Directors as the Insurance Trustee, and the entire construction fund 
shall be disbursed by the Insurance Trustee. 
 



29 

15.4.2 Method of Disbursements.  
 

a. If the cost of reconstruction or repair is less than Twenty-Five Thousand 
Dollars ($25,000), then the construction fund shall be disbursed by the Insurance Trustee in 
appropriate progress payments, to any contractors, suppliers, and personnel performing the work 
or supplying materials or services for such repair, restoration or reconstruction as are designated 
by the Board of Directors. 
 

b. If the estimated cost of reconstruction and repair is Twenty-Five 
Thousand Dollars ($25,000) or more, then the construction fund shall be disbursed in payment of 
such costs upon approval of an architect qualified to practice in Virginia, and employed by the 
Insurance Trustee to supervise such work, with payment to be made from time to time as the 
work progresses in accordance with applications for payment by the contractors performing such 
work.  The architect shall be required to approve such applications for payment and furnish a 
certificate giving a brief description of the services and materials furnished by various 
contractors, subcontractors, materialmen, the architect and other persons who have rendered 
services or furnished materials in connection with the work and stating that (A) the sums 
requested by them in payment are justly due and owing and that such sums do not exceed the 
value of the services and material furnished; (B) there is no other outstanding indebtedness 
known to the architect for the services and materials described; and (C) the cost as estimated by 
the architect for the work remaining to be done subsequent to the date of such certificate does not 
exceed the amount of the construction fund remaining after payment of the sum so requested. 
 

15.4.3 Surplus.  It shall be presumed that the first monies disbursed in payment 
for the cost of reconstruction and repair shall be from insurance proceeds; and if there is a 
balance in a construction fund after the payment of all the costs of the reconstruction and repair 
for which the fund is established, such balance shall be divided among all Owners in proportion 
to the Percentage Interests appertaining to their respective Units and disbursed in accordance 
with the priority of interests at law or in equity in each Unit, provided, however, the Owners of 
the Units shall be entitled to the following percentages of such surplus with respect to the surplus 
of funds allocable to the Parking Deck (the “Parking Deck Allocation”):  

 
Libbie Unit:   18% 
Patterson Unit:  26% 
MF Unit:   18% 
Parking Unit:   30% 
School Unit:     8% 

 
15.4.4 Certificate.  The Insurance Trustee shall be entitled but not obligated to 

rely upon a certificate executed by the president or vice president, and the secretary of the 
Association certifying (a) the name of the payee and the amount to be paid with respect to 
disbursements from any construction fund held by it or whether surplus funds to be distributed 
are less than the assessments paid by the Owners; and (b) all other matters concerning the 
holding and disbursing of any construction fund.  The certificate shall be delivered to the 
Insurance Trustee promptly after request.   
 



30 

15.5 When Reconstruction of Common Elements Not Required.  Subject to the 
provisions of the Ground Lease and the Sub-Ground Lease, if the Common Elements are 
damaged or destroyed and all of the Owners vote at a special meeting of the Association (to be 
held for such purpose within sixty (60) days after such casualty) that the Common Elements not 
be repaired and if the insurance policy covering such damage does not require otherwise, and all 
Mortgagees agree, then any insurance proceeds received on account of such damage along with 
the net assets of the Condominium shall be distributed as follows by the Board of Directors or 
the Insurance Trustee: first, out of the share of each Owner, to the extent sufficient therefore, the 
amount of any unpaid liens on that Owner's Unit in the order of priority of such liens, then to 
each Owner in proportion to the Percentage Interests appertaining to their respective Units, 
except that insurance proceeds allocable to the Parking Deck shall be allocated in accordance 
with the Parking Deck Allocation.  This Section shall not be construed to require the distribution 
of proceeds from any insurance policy obtained by an Owner. 
 

15.6 Reconstruction or Repair of Building Units.  Except to the extent required by the 
Ground Lease or the Sub-Ground Lease, beginning ten (10) years after the issuance of a 
certificate permitting occupancy of the Building on an Owner’s Building Unit, such Owner shall 
not be required by this Declaration to reconstruct or repair its Unit or the Building or other 
improvements thereon following damage or destruction.  As soon as practicable after damage or 
destruction to a Building Unit, the Building or other improvements on the Building Unit occurs, 
the Owner shall secure the Building Unit, the Building and improvements from unauthorized 
persons and stabilize the Building and other improvements to avoid damage to any other Unit or 
Common Element, including, without limitation, the Parking Deck.  Within sixty (60) days after 
such damage or destruction, or such additional time approved by the Board of Directors, the 
Owner shall notify the Board of the Owner’s election to either repair or reconstruct the Building 
and other improvements on the Building Unit, or not repair or reconstruct the Building and other 
improvements provided the ten (10) year period has elapsed.  If the Owner elects not to repair or 
reconstruct the Building and other improvements on the Building Unit, the Owner shall restore 
the Building Unit to the physical condition required by the Ground Lease and the Sub-Ground 
Lease.  If the Owner elects to repair or reconstruct the Building and other improvements, or the 
ten (10) year period has not elapsed, such repair and reconstruction shall be performed subject to 
the following conditions and such further conditions as may be imposed by the Owner’s 
Mortgagee: 
 

15.6.1 Owner shall take all steps, including application for all permits and 
necessary to effectuate such repairs, and promptly after obtaining such permits, Owner shall 
commence and diligently proceed with the repairs and complete the same within a reasonable 
period of time. 
 

15.6.2 All work shall be done in compliance with all applicable laws, ordinances, 
regulations, orders and requirements of all governmental authorities.   
 

15.6.3 Owner shall reconstruct the Building and the other improvements on the 
Unit substantially in accordance with the original plans and specifications for such Building and 
other improvements, subject to such modifications as shall be required to conform to existing 
building codes, provided that such modifications shall be subject to the Board of Directors’ prior 



31 

written consent, not to be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed. 
 

15.7 Reconstruction or Repair of Parking Unit.  Given that the Parking Unit exists 
entirely within the Parking Deck, repair or reconstruction of the Parking Unit shall be governed 
by Sections 15.1 through 15.5 of this Declaration. 
 
 

ARTICLE XVI 
 
 MORTGAGEES AND MORTGAGES 
 

16.1 Notice to Board of Directors.  An Owner who encumbers his Unit with a 
Mortgage shall notify the Board of Directors of the name and address of the Mortgagee and shall 
file a copy of the note and Mortgage with the Board of Directors certified by the Owner to be 
true, correct and complete. 
 

16.2 Notice of Unpaid Assessments for Common Expenses.  The Board of Directors, 
whenever so requested in writing by a Mortgagee, shall promptly report to the Mortgagee any 
sixty (60) day delinquency in the payment of assessments for Common Expenses or other 
charges due from, or any other default by, the Owner of the mortgaged Unit.   
 

16.3 Notice of Default, Casualty, Condemnation, Insurance Cancellation and Ground 
Lease Defaults.  The Board of Directors, when giving Notice to an Owner of a default in paying 
an assessment for Common Expenses or any other default, shall simultaneously send a copy of 
the Notice to the Mortgagee of such Unit if requested by the Mortgagee in writing given to the 
Association with the Mortgagee’s address for purposes of receiving Notice.  The Board of 
Directors shall also notify all Mortgagees of any casualty giving rise to a possible claim under 
any insurance purchased pursuant to Article XIV (Insurance) of this Declaration, of all actions 
taken under Section 15.5 (When Reconstruction Is Not Required), of any proposed taking in 
condemnation or by eminent domain and action in response thereto and of any lapse, 
cancellation, or material modification of any insurance policy maintained by the Association.  In 
addition, the Board shall also notify all Mortgagees of the Board’s receipt of notice of default 
under either Ground Lease. 
 

16.4 Insurance Proceeds and Condemnation Awards.  No provision of the 
Condominium Instruments shall be construed to give any Owner, the Association, or any other 
party, priority over the rights of any Mortgagee in the case of any distribution of insurance 
proceeds or condemnation awards for losses to or a taking of Units or Common Elements, unless 
such Mortgagee otherwise consents in writing after Notice as provided in Section 16.3. 
 

16.5 Other Rights of Mortgagees.  All Mortgagees or their representatives shall be 
entitled to attend meetings of the Association and shall have the right to speak thereat, and shall 
have the right to examine the books and records of the Condominium. 
 

16.6 Availability of Audited Financial Statements.  The Association shall make an 
audited financial statement for the preceding fiscal year (if the Condominium has been 



32 

established for a full fiscal year) available to a Mortgagee upon submission of written request for 
the audited financial statement.  The Association shall cause the audited financial statement to be 
available within 120 days of the Association’s fiscal year end. 
 

16.7 Mortgagee Approval.  Without the prior written approval of Eligible Mortgagees 
representing at least fifty-one percent (51%) of the Percentage Interests of all Units that are 
subject to Mortgages held by Eligible Mortgagees: 

 
16.7.1 Abandonment and Termination.  No portion of the Condominium shall be 

abandoned or terminated except as provided by Code of Virginia Section 55.1-1906 or other law 
in the case of a taking by condemnation or eminent domain. 

 
16.7.2 Amendments.  No material amendment shall be made to the Declaration or 

Bylaws.  An amendment to the Declaration or Bylaws to any of the following applicable 
provisions would be considered material (but which shall not limit the authority of the 
Association or the Board of Directors to act as permitted pursuant to the Declaration and 
Bylaws):   

 
a. voting rights; 
 
b. restrictions or increases in Common Expense assessments above 

twenty-five percent (25%) of the prior year’s assessment; 
 
c. assessment liens; 
 
d. priority of assessment liens; 
 
e. requirements for reserves for maintenance, repair, and replacement of 

Common Elements; 
 

f. responsibility for maintenance and repairs; 
 
g. allocation of interests in the Common Elements as Limited Common 

Elements or rights to their use; 
 
h. definition of any Unit boundaries; 
 
i. convertibility of Units into Common Elements and vice versa; 
 
j. casualty or fidelity insurance requirements; 
 
k. restoration or repair of the Condominium after damage or partial 

condemnation; and 
 

l. any provision that expressly benefits Mortgagees. 
 



33 

16.7.3 Transfer of Common Elements.  The Common Elements shall not be, 
whether by act or omission, partitioned, subdivided, encumbered, sold or transferred, except that 
the granting of licenses and easements to Owners in connection with the use and operation of the 
Buildings and the tenants therein and public utilities or other public purposes consistent with the 
intended use of the Common Elements by the Condominium (e.g., permitting Owners and their 
tenants and third parties to use the Parking Deck CE, parking spaces and other portions of the 
Common Element) shall not be deemed a transfer within the meaning of this provision. 

 
16.8 Additional Mortgagee and Owner Approvals.  Without the approval of all of the 

Owners and the prior written approval of Eligible Mortgagees representing at least fifty-one 
percent (51%) of the Percentage Interests of all Units that are subject to Mortgages held by 
Eligible Mortgagees, the Association shall not: 

 
16.8.1 Termination After Condemnation or Destruction.  Terminate the legal 

status of the Condominium after substantial destruction or condemnation occurs. 
 
16.8.2 Leasing Restrictions.  Impose any restrictions on leasing of Units except as 

provided for in this Declaration. 
 
16.8.3 Transfer Restrictions.  Impose any restrictions on an Owner’s right to sell 

or transfer his or her Unit. 
 

16.9 Termination.  The Association shall not terminate the legal status of the 
Condominium for any reason other than described in Section 16.8.1 without the approval of all 
Owners and the prior written consent of Eligible Mortgagees representing at least sixty-seven 
percent (67%) of the Percentage Interests of all Units that are subject to Mortgages held by 
Eligible Mortgagees. 
 

ARTICLE XVII 
 
 COMPLIANCE AND DEFAULT 
 

17.1 Relief.  As set forth in Section 55.1-1915 of the Condominium Act, each Owner 
shall be governed by, and shall comply with, all of the terms of this Declaration, the Bylaws, the 
Rules and Regulations, any other Condominium Instruments and any amendments thereto.  
Default by an Owner shall entitle the Association, acting through its Board of Directors or 
through the Managing Agent, to the following relief: 
 

17.1.1 Legal Proceedings.  Failure to comply with any of the foregoing items set 
out in this Section shall be grounds for relief which may include, without limitation, an action to 
recover any sums due for money damages, injunctive relief, foreclosure of the lien for payment 
of all assessments, any other relief provided for in the Condominium Instruments, applicable 
law, or any combination thereof, and any other relief afforded by a court of competent 
jurisdiction, all of which relief may be sought by the Association, the Board of Directors, the 
Managing Agent, or, if appropriate, by any aggrieved Owner. 
 



34 

17.1.2 Additional Liability.  Each Owner shall be liable for the expense of all 
maintenance, repair or replacement to the extent rendered necessary by his act, neglect or 
carelessness or the act, neglect or carelessness of any Owner or its employees, agents, licensees, 
invitees or lessees, but only to the extent that such expense is not covered by the proceeds of 
insurance carried by the Board of Directors.  Such liability shall include any increase in fire 
insurance rates occasioned by use, misuse, occupancy or abandonment of any Unit or Common 
Element.  Nothing contained herein, however, shall be construed as modifying any waiver by 
any insurance company of its rights of subrogation. 
 

17.1.3 Costs and Attorneys' Fees.  In any proceeding arising out of any alleged 
default by an Owner, the prevailing party shall be entitled to recover the costs incurred due to the 
proceeding, and such reasonable attorneys' fees as may be determined by the court or other 
appropriate forum in which such proceeding is instituted. 
 

17.1.4 No Waiver of Rights.  The failure of the Association, the Board of 
Directors, or an Owner to enforce any right, provision, covenant, or condition which may be 
granted by this Declaration, the Bylaws or the Rules and Regulations shall not constitute a 
waiver of the right of the Association, the Board of Directors, or the Owner to enforce such right, 
provision, covenant, or condition in the future.  All rights, remedies and privileges granted to the 
Association, the Board of Directors, or any Owner pursuant to any term, provision, covenant or 
condition of this Declaration, the Bylaws or the Rules and Regulations shall be deemed to be 
cumulative, and the exercise of any one or more thereof shall not be deemed to constitute an 
election of remedies, nor shall it preclude the party exercising the same from exercising such 
privileges or rights as may be granted to such party by this Declaration, the Bylaws or the Rules 
and Regulations, or at law or in equity. 
 

17.1.5 Abatement and Enjoinment of Violations by Owners.  The violation of the 
Rules or Regulations or the breach of any provision of the Bylaws, this Declaration or any of the 
Condominium Instruments shall give the Board of Directors the right, in addition to any other 
rights set forth in this Declaration to:  (1) enter, except by force or breach of the peace, the Unit 
in which, or as to which, such violation or breach exists and summarily to abate and remove, at 
the expense of the defaulting Owner, any Building or other improvements or other structure, 
thing or condition that may exist therein contrary to the intent and meaning of the provisions 
hereof, and the Board of Directors shall not thereby be deemed guilty in any manner of trespass; 
provided, however, that before any items of construction within a Unit can be altered or 
demolished the Association must first institute judicial proceedings; or (2) enjoin, abate or 
remedy by appropriate legal proceedings, either at law or in equity, the continuance of any such 
breach. 
 

17.1.6 Assessment of Charges for Violations.   
 

a. The Association shall have the power to (i) suspend an Owner’s right to 
use the Common Elements, including, without limitation, any Limited Common Element parking 
spaces assigned to the Owner’s Unit for nonpayment of assessments which are more than sixty 
(60) days past due, to the extent that access to the Unit through the Common Elements is not 
precluded and provided that such suspension shall not endanger the health, safety, or property of 



35 

any Owner, tenant or occupant, and (ii) assess charges against any Owner for any violation of the 
Condominium Instruments or the Rules and Regulations for which the Owner or its tenants or 
invitees are responsible. 
 

b. Before any such suspension or charge may be imposed, the Owner shall 
be given an opportunity to be heard and to be represented by counsel before the Board or such 
other tribunal as the Condominium Instruments or Rules and Regulations specify. 
 

c. Notice of such hearing, including the charges or other sanctions that 
may be imposed, shall, at least 14 days in advance thereof, be hand delivered or mailed by 
registered or certified United States mail, return receipt requested, to such Owner at the address 
or addresses required for Notices of meetings of the Association.  
 

d. The amount of any charges so assessed shall not exceed the greater of 
(i) the highest amount permitted by the Condominium Act and approved by the Board, or (ii) $50 
for a single offense, or $10 per diem for any offense of a continuing nature, and shall be treated 
as an assessment against such Owner’s Unit and subject to foreclosure as provided in this 
Declaration and the Condominium Act.  However, the total charges for any offense of a 
continuing nature shall not be assessed for a period exceeding 90 days. 
 

e. After the date a lawsuit is filed in the general district or circuit court by 
(i) the Association by and through its counsel to collect the charges, obtain injunctive relief and 
correct the violation, or (ii) the Owner challenging any such charges, no additional charges shall 
accrue.  If the court rules in favor of the Association, the Association shall be entitled to collect 
such charges from the date the action was filed as well as all other charges assessed pursuant to 
this Section 17.1 against the Owner prior to the action.  In addition, if the court finds that the 
violation remains uncorrected, the court may order the Owner to abate or remedy the violation.   
 

f. If any suit filed in general district court pursuant to this Section 17.1, the 
court may enter default judgment against the Owner on the Association’s sworn affidavit. 
 

17.2 Lien for Assessments.  Any sum assessed by the Association for the share of the 
Common Expenses chargeable to any Unit and remaining unpaid for a period of sixty (60) days 
or longer after the Association has delivered Notice of the amount of such assessment shall 
constitute a lien on such Unit and shall be enforced pursuant to the provisions of Section 
55.1-1966 of the Condominium Act.   
 

17.3 Right of Action.  Any Owner shall have a right of action to enforce the provisions 
of the Condominium Instruments against any other Owner and the Association, and the 
prevailing party shall be entitled to recover the costs incurred due to the proceeding, and such 
reasonable attorneys' fees as may be determined by the court or other appropriate forum in which 
such proceeding is instituted. 
 

ARTICLE XVIII 
 

LEASEHOLD CONDOMINIUM 



36 

 
18.1 Disclosure.  The Submitted Property is subject to the Ground Lease and the Sub- 

Ground Lease.  The Ground Lease and the Sub-Ground Lease are not recorded.  A Memorandum 
of Ground Lease providing record notice of the Ground Lease is recorded in the Clerk’s Office 
as instrument number 190004166, as amended by that certain First Amendment to Memorandum 
of Ground Lease recorded in the Clerk’s Office as instrument number 200005817, and a 
Memorandum of Deed of Sub-Ground Lease providing record notice of the Sub-Ground Lease is 
recorded in the Clerk’s Office as instrument number 200005819. 

 
18.2 Expiration of Ground Leases.  The Ground Lease shall expire on August 31, 

2075, provided, however, that the Ground Lease shall automatically renew for two (2) twenty 
(20) year period unless the Sub-Ground Lessor notifies the Ground Lessor that Sub-Ground 
Lessor affirmatively declines to exercise such renewals.  The Sub-Ground Lease shall expire on 
August 31, 2075. However, the Association may extend the Sub-Ground Lease for one (1) 
additional twenty (20) year period and one (1) additional period of twenty (20) years less one (1) 
day. 

 
18.3 Improvements Owned in Fee Simple.  The Buildings now or hereafter located 

within the boundaries of each Building Unit will be owned in fee by the respective Owners of 
such Units, subject to the Ground Lease and the Sub-Ground Lease.  Upon expiration of the 
terms of the Ground Lease and the Sub-Ground Lease, all of the Buildings on the Submitted 
Land and other improvements, including, without limitation, the Parking Deck, shall revert to the 
Sub-Ground Lessor and ultimately to the Ground Lessor.  Neither the Owners nor the 
Association have any right to remove any Building, the Parking Deck or other improvements 
upon expiration of the Ground Leases.   

 
18.4 Right to Redeem Reversion (Option to Purchase Parcels).  Neither the Ground 

Lease nor the Sub-Ground Lease provide the Association or the Owners with a right or option to 
purchase (or “redeem”) the Submitted Land.   

 
18.5 Designation of Location for Payment of Ground Lease Rent.  All rent due and 

payable under the Ground Lease must be paid to Economic Development Authority of the City 
of Richmond, 2401 W. Leigh Street, Richmond, Virginia 23220, or at such other address as the 
Ground Lessor may require.  All rent due and payable under the Sub-Ground Lease must be paid 
to Bon Secours – St. Mary’s Hospital of Richmond LLC, c/o Bon Secours – Richmond Health 
System, Attention: Chief Financial Officer, 5875 Bremo Road, Suite 705, Richmond, Virginia 
23226, or at such other address as the Sub-Ground Lessor may require.  

 
18.6 Owners’ and Association’s Rights and Obligations.  By taking title to a Unit, the 

Owner shall become the assignee of an undivided interest in and to the Submitted Land  in an 
amount equal to the Percentage Interest associated with the Owner’s Unit.  Notwithstanding such 
assignment, the Association shall have the obligation to comply with all obligations of the tenant 
under the Sub-Ground Lease, including, but not limited to, maintaining the Submitted Land and 
paying all rent and other charges due under the Sub-Ground Lease as and when due.  By taking 
title to a Unit, each Owner acknowledges and agrees to be bound by the terms and conditions of 
the Sub-Ground Lease, and agrees that the Association, as the Owner’s agent, shall comply with 



37 

the terms of the Sub-Ground Lease on behalf of the Owners.  Except as provided in this 
Declaration and the Condominium Act, the Association shall have the power to perform all acts 
and duties of the tenant under the Sub-Ground Lease in accordance with the terms of the 
Condominium Instruments and the Condominium Act.  All costs and expenses incurred with 
respect to the Sub-Ground Lease shall be a Common Expense of the Association, including, 
without limitation, rent, real estate taxes, assessments and other pass-through expenses pursuant 
to Section 7.1.2 above. 
 

18.7 Agreement of Ground Lessor and Sub-Ground Lessor.  Ground Lessor and Sub-
Ground Lessor each consents to and executes this Declaration pursuant to Section 55.1-1910 of 
the Condominium Act with respect to the Condominium and any sub-condominium created 
within any Unit.  The Sub-Ground Lessor shall provide the Association with a copy of any notice 
required to be sent to the tenant of the Sub-Ground Lease and shall accept the Association’s 
performance of such tenant’s obligations under the Sub-Ground Lease, subject to any special 
allocations set forth in Section 7.1.11 of this Declaration. 
 

ARTICLE XIX 
 

GENERAL PROVISIONS 
 

19.1 Amendments.  This Declaration may be amended upon (i) the consent of owners 
of Units to which at least fifty-one percent (51%) or more of the votes allocated to all of the 
Units appertain, and (ii) the recording of an instrument setting forth such amendment in the 
Clerk’s Office.  No amendment to this Declaration shall (a) conflict with or supersede the 
provisions of any Ground Lease or the EDA REA, or (b) without the written consent of the 
Declarant, diminish or impair the rights of the Declarant.  Additionally, no amendment may 
modify this Section or the rights of any Person hereunder.  Further, an amendment, vote or other 
action resulting in any of the following shall require the affirmative vote or written consent of 
Unit 5 (Parking Unit) to be effective (including, without limitation, any amendments to the 
Declaration, Articles of Incorporation or Bylaws): (i) any change that would materially and 
adversely alter or reduce the access rights of Unit 5 (Parking Unit) through the drive aisles of the 
parking areas located within the Common Elements, including, without limitation, the Parking 
Deck, (ii) any material alterations or expenditure of costs applicable to the Parking Deck which 
would be included within the Parking Deck Allocation payable by the Owner of Unit 5 (Parking 
Unit) to the extent not included in the annual budget of Common Expenses for the Parking Deck, 
(iii) any change to the boundaries of the Parking Unit, (iv) any change to the votes or Percentage 
Interest in the Common Elements allocated to the Parking Unit, (v) any change to the Parking 
Deck Allocation for Common Expenses allocated to the Owner of Unit 5 (Parking Unit), (vi) any 
change to the Association’s responsibility for insuring, maintaining, repairing, replacing and 
reconstructing the Parking Deck, or (vii) any change to the requirement for reserves for the 
Parking Deck, except that (i) and (ii) would not apply to the extent any such access is 
temporarily interrupted or costs included within the Parking Deck Allocation due to regular 
maintenance, repair, replacement, or construction activities over and across such drive aisles and 
Parking Deck, so long as commercially reasonable alternative access is provided to the Owner of 
Unit 5 (Parking Unit) during any such interruption and the Association provides the Owner of 
Unit 5 (Parking Unit) not less than five (5) business days prior notice of such interruption. 



38 

 
19.2 No Obligations.  Nothing contained in the Condominium Instruments shall be 

deemed to impose upon the Declarant any obligations of any nature to build, construct or provide 
any buildings or other improvements except to the extent required by the Condominium Act.  

 
19.3 Burdens and Benefits.  The Condominium Instruments shall benefit and burden 

all of the Units whether occupied or not occupied. 
 
19.4 Notices.  All notices, demands, bills, statements or other communications under 

this Declaration shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been duly given if delivered 
personally or if sent by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, first-class postage 
prepaid or otherwise as may be permitted by the Condominium Act (a “Notice”). 
 

19.4.1 If to an Owner, at the address which the Owner shall designate in writing 
and file with the Secretary of the Association, or if no such address is designated, at the address 
of the Unit of such Owner; or 
 

19.4.2 If to the Association, the Board of Directors, or the Managing Agent, at the 
principal office of the Managing Agent if there be one and if there is none, at the principal office 
of the Association, or at such other address as shall be designated by the notice in writing to the 
Owners pursuant to this Section. 
 

19.5 Invalidity.  The invalidity of any part of this Declaration shall not impair or affect 
in any manner the validity, enforceability or effect of the balance of this Declaration. 
 

19.6 Captions.  The captions herein are inserted only as a matter of convenience and 
for reference, and in no way define, limit or describe the scope of this Declaration, or the intent 
of any provision thereof. 
 

19.7 Gender.  The use of the masculine gender in this Declaration shall be deemed to 
include the feminine and neuter genders, and vice versa and the use of the singular shall be 
deemed to include the plural, and vice versa, whenever the context so requires. 
 
 WITNESS the following duly authorized signatures: 

 
 

[SIGNATURE PAGES ATTACHED] 



39 

 
 

ASSOCIATION: 
 

WESTHAMPTON CONDOMINIUM OWNERS 
ASSOCIATION INC., 
a Virginia nonstock corporation 
 
By:       

     Name:_______________________________ 
     Title:________________________________ 
 
 
COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA 
 
City of Richmond, to-wit: 
 

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this ____ day of _________, 
20__, by __________________, as _____________________ of Westhampton Condominium 
Owners Association Inc., a Virginia nonstock corporation, on behalf of the corporation. 
 

My Commission Expires    
Notary Registration No.    

 
 
 
             

  Notary Public 
 
 



40 

 
GROUND LESSOR: ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY OF 

THE CITY OF RICHMOND, a political 
subdivision of the Commonwealth of Virginia  

      By:  ____________________________ 

  John Molster, Chairman 
 
Approved as to form: 
 
 
 
________________________________________ 
Bonnie Ashley, General Counsel to the Authority 
 
 
 

STATE OF _____________________________, 
 
CITY/COUNTY OF______________________, to-wit: 

 The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this _____ day of 
_______________, 20__, by John Molster, as Chairman of the Economic Development 
Authority of the City of Richmond, a political subdivision of the Commonwealth of Virginia.  
 

 My commission expires:  _____________________ 

 Notary registration no: _______________________ 
 
________________________________________ 
  Notary Public 

 
 



41 
 

SUB-GROUND LESSOR: 
 

BON SECOURS – ST MARY’S HOSPITAL OF 
RICHMOND LLC, a Virginia not-for-profit limited 
liability company 
 
By: BON SECOURS – RICHMOND HEALTH 

SYSTEM, a Virginia non-stock corporation, 
 its sole member 
 
 
 By:       

      Name:_______________________________ 
      Title:________________________________ 
 
 
COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA 
 
City of Richmond, to-wit: 
 

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this ____ day of __________, 
20__, by _____________________________, as _______________________________ of Bon 
Secours – Richmond Health System, a Virginia non-stock corporation, sole member of Bon 
Secours – St. Mary’s Hospital of Richmond LLC, a Virginia not-for-profit limited liability 
company, on behalf of the company. 
 

My Commission Expires    
Notary Registration No.    

 
 
 
             

  Notary Public 
 
 
EXHIBITS 
A - Submitted Property 
B - Plats and Plans  
C - Bylaws  
D - Percentage Interest 
E – Parking Space Allocation  



A-1 
 

EXHIBIT A 
 

SUBMITTED PROPERTY  
 

 
ALL that certain piece or parcel of land, with all improvements thereon and appurtenances 
thereto belonging, lying and being in the City of Richmond, Virginia, designated as “Parcel ‘A’, 
4.234 Acres, ‘Proposed Lease Area’”, containing 4.234 acres, more or less, as shown on plat of 
survey prepared by JenningStephenson, P.C., dated July 12, 2013, entitled, “ALTA/ACSM Land 
Title Survey on Two Parcels of Land Lying on the North Line of Patterson Avenue, City of 
Richmond, Virginia”, J.N. 13-511, attached to and recorded with Memorandum of Ground Lease 
from Economic Development Authority of the City of Richmond, Virginia a political subdivision 
of the Commonwealth of Virginia, recorded March 5, 2019, as Instrument No. 19-4166, as 
amended by First Amendment to Memorandum of Ground Lease, dated March 13, 2020, 
recorded in the aforesaid Clerk’s Office as Instrument No. 200005817, to which plat reference is 
hereby made for a more particular description of the property. 

Together with those non-exclusive easements emergency access and utilities, as set forth in 
Reciprocal Operating and Easement Agreement, by and between Bon Secours – St. Mary’s 
Hospital of Richmond, Inc., a Virginia non-stock, not-for-profit corporation, and The Economic 
Development Authority of the City of Richmond, a political subdivision of the Commonwealth 
of Virginia, dated September 27, 2018, recorded March 5, 2019, in the Clerk’s Office, Circuit 
Court, City of Richmond, Virginia, as Instrument No. 190004168. 



B-1 

 
EXHIBIT B 

 
(PLATS AND PLANS) 

 
 
 
 SEE PLATS AND PLANS RECORDED IN  
 
 PLAT BOOK _____, PAGES __________________ 
 



C-1 

 
EXHIBIT C 

 
BYLAWS 

 
 



D-1 

 
EXHIBIT D 

 
CONDOMINIUM PERCENTAGE INTERESTS 

 
WESTHAMPTON CONDOMINIUM 

 
 
 

Unit Par Value Percentage Interest 
1. Libbie Unit (Unit 1)  28,063   32.81% 
2. School Unit (Unit 2)    9,360   10.94% 
3. Patterson Unit (Unit 3)  25,590   29.91% 
4. MF Unit (Unit 4)  13,980   16.34% 
5. Parking Unit (Unit 5)    8,550   10.00% 
   
Total 85,543 100.00% 

 
 



E-1 

 
EXHIBIT E 

 
PARKING SPACE LIMITED COMMON ELEMENTS AND UNIT 5 VERTICAL 

BOUNDARIES 
 
The following numbered parking spaces shown on the Plats and Plans are allocated as Limited 
Common Elements appurtenant to the designated Unit or Units with respect to Units 1 through 4:   
 
  

Parking Space Unit 1 Units 2 
 

Unit 3 Unit 4 Unit 5** 

Surface Parking Spaces (identified as “SP” in the Plats and Plans) 
 
 *See below. *See below. *See below. *See below. None 
Parking Deck Spaces (identified as “PD” in the Plats and Plans) 
 
Level 1 132-139 (8 

spaces) 
*See below. *See below. *See below. None 

Level 2 215-222, 241-
244, 254-259 
(18 spaces) 

*See below. *See below. *See below. None 

Level 3 *See below. *See below. *See below. *See below. None 
Level 4 *See below. *See below. *See below. *See below. 434-444, 

450-460, 
461-466 
(28 spaces) 

Level 5 *See below. *See below. *See below. *See below. 515-525, 
526-533, 
534-544, 
547-560 
561-567 
(51 spaces) 

Level 6 *See below. *See below. *See below. *See below. 601-641 
(41 spaces) 

 
* All other parking spaces (surface spaces and parking deck spaces) which are not Limited 
Common Element of Unit 5 or a part of Unit 5 shall be Limited Common Element of Units 1, 2, 
3 and 4.   
 
** The vertical boundaries of Unit 5 shall consist of the blocks of parking spaces identified in 
this Exhibit E and shown on the Plats and Plans.   
 
41797554_6.doc 



E-1 

020005.03863 – 16505229v7 
 
 









Updated Estoppel Certificate for 
Westhampton Project 

 

 



 
 

ESTOPPEL CERTIFICATE 
 

(PERFORMANCE AGREEMENT) 
 
 This Estoppel Certificate (the “Certificate”) is made as of ________ ___, 2023, by the 
ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY OF THE CITY OF RICHMOND, VIRGINIA, a 
political subdivision of the Commonwealth of Virginia (“EDA”), for the benefit of TRP II 
WESTHAMPTON, LLC, a Virginia limited liability company (successor by assignment to 
Thalhimer Realty Partners, Inc.)  (the “Purchaser”), VIRGINIA CREDIT UNION, INC., 
organized and existing under the Commonwealth of Virginia, and its successors and assigns (the 
“Mortgagee”), Bon Secours-Richmond Community Hospital, Inc., a Virginia not-for-profit 
corporation, now known as Bon Secours – Richmond Community Hospital LLC, a Virginia not-
for-profit limited liability company (“BSRCH”), Bon Secours-St. Mary’s Hospital of Richmond, 
Inc., a Virginia not-for-profit corporation, now known as Bon Secours – St. Mary’s Hospital of 
Richmond LLC, Virginia not-for-profit limited liability company (“BSSMH”) and Bon Secours-
Richmond Health System, a Virginia not-for-profit corporation (“BSRHS” and together with 
BSRCH and BSSMH, individually and collectively, whether one or more, “Bon Secours”). 

RECITALS: 
 

A. EDA and BSRCH, BSSMH and BSRHS are parties to that certain Performance 
Agreement dated July 8, 2013, as amended by that certain First Amendment to Performance 
Agreement dated October 30, 2015, as amended by that certain Second Amendment to 
Performance Agreement dated December 31, 2016, as amended by that certain Third 
Amendment to Performance Agreement dated February 28, 2018, and as amended by that certain 
Fourth Amendment to Performance Agreement dated March 11, 2020 (as amended, the 
“Performance Agreement”). 

B. The City Council of the City of Richmond, Virginia adopted Ordinance No. 2012-
230-218 on December 10, 2012 (the “Ordinance”), and incorporated the Ordinance into that 
certain Special Warranty Deed dated April 8, 2013, recorded April 25, 2013 in the Clerk’s Office 
of the Circuit Court of the City of Richmond, Virginia (the “Clerk’s Office”) conveying certain 
real property from the City of Richmond, a municipal corporation of the Commonwealth of 
Virginia (the “City”) to the EDA (the “Deed”), as more particularly described in the Deed.   

C. EDA and BSSMH are parties to that certain Deed of Ground Lease dated July 8, 
2013 (as amended, the “Ground Lease”) pertaining to certain property located at 5800 Patterson 
Avenue in the City of Richmond, Virginia as more particularly described in the Ground Lease 
(the “Property”).  In connection with the Ground Lease, EDA conveyed the then-existing 
improvements on the Property (the “Existing Improvements”) to BSSMH pursuant to that 
certain Deed for Improvements dated September 27, 2018, recorded in the Clerk’s Office as 
Instrument No. 19-4167.  The Ground Lease is evidenced by that certain Memorandum of 
Ground Lease recorded March 5, 2019, in the Clerk’s Office as Instrument No. 19-4166. 



2 

D. In connection with the execution of the Ground Lease, EDA and BSSMH entered 
into a Reciprocal Operating and Easement Agreement dated September 27, 2018, pertaining to 
the use of certain property not included within the scope of the Ground Lease (the “REA”), 
which REA is recorded in the Clerk’s Office as Instrument No. 19-4168.  

E. BSSMH and Laburnum Properties, Inc., a Virginia corporation (“Sub-Ground 
Tenant”) entered into a Deed of Sub-Ground Lease dated  March 13, 2020 (the “Sub-Ground 
Lease”) for all of BSSMH’s leasehold interest in the Property and its rights under the REA, and 
BSSMH conveyed fee title to the Existing Improvements to Sub-Ground Tenant by a Deed of 
Gift dated March 13, 2020, recorded in the Clerk’s Office as Instrument No. 200005820.   

F.  Sub-Ground Tenant submitted its leasehold interest in the Property, its rights under 
the REA and its title to the Existing Improvements to the Declaration of Westhampton 
Condominium effective as of March 13, 2020, and recorded in the Clerk’s Office as Instrument 
No. 200005822 (the “Condominium Declaration”) creating a three (3) unit leasehold 
condominium (the “Condominium”). 

G. The common elements of the Condominium, including a 363 space parking deck, 88 
surface parking spaces and related driveways and improvements, and Units 2 and 3 and the 
improvements thereon were constructed in accordance with POD #044397-2018 approved by the 
City of Richmond on April 2, 2019, as amended from time to time and approved by the EDA in 
accordance with the Ground Lease (the “Original POD”).  Unit 2 consists of the renovated 1917 
building containing 21,000+/- square feet and a new building containing 101,200+/- square feet 
consisting of 39,800+/- square feet of office and retail space and 66 multi-family units in 
61,461+/- square feet.  Unit 3 contains 62 multi-family units in 67,200+/- square feet. 

H.  Unit 1 in the Condominium shall contain a 139,025+/- square foot mixed-use building 
containing 53,000+/- square feet of office space and approximately 54 multi-family units in 
79,500+/- square feet to be constructed in accordance with POD #113084-2022 approved by the 
City of Richmond on September 20, 2022 and approved by the EDA in accordance with the 
Ground Lease (the “New POD”).  

I. Further, the EDA has been informed that BSSMH and Purchaser have entered 
into that certain Purchase and Sale Agreement dated as of May 19, 2023, as amended from time 
to time (the “Purchase Agreement”), in which BSSMH agrees to sell, transfer, convey to 
Purchaser, and Purchaser has agreed to purchase Unit 1 in the Condominium as more particularly 
described in the Purchase Agreement (the “Unit 1”). 

J. Mortgagee is considering making a loan to Purchaser in an amount not to exceed 
____________________ and No/100 Dollars ($______________) (the “Loan”) to finance the 
acquisition of the Unit 1. The Loan shall be evidenced by a promissory note in the amount of the 
Loan, and secured by a deed of trust on Unit 1 and all improvements now or hereafter 
constructed thereon, and further evidenced and secured by such other documents, whether now 
or hereafter executed, in connection therewith, all as the same may be amended or supplemented 
from time to time (the “Loan Documents”). Mortgagee’s agreement to extend such Loan to 
Purchaser is conditioned, in part, on the execution and delivery of this Certificate. 



3 

CERTIFICATE: 
 

1. Estoppel Provisions.  EDA hereby warrants, represents and certifies to Purchaser, Bon 
Secours and Mortgagee as follows: 

a. The Performance Agreement consists of the documents listed in Exhibit A hereto 
and there are no other amendments, modifications and supplements thereto and 
assignments thereof. 

b. All conditions precedent to the effectiveness of the Performance Agreement have 
been fully satisfied and the Performance Agreement is in full force and effect. 

c. EDA has not delivered or received any notices of default under the Performance 
Agreement.  To the best of EDA’s knowledge, there is no default by Bon Secours 
under the Performance Agreement, nor has any event or omission occurred which, 
with the giving of notice or the lapse of time, or both, would constitute a default. 

d. Bon Secours has met or exceeded all of the goals in the Performance Agreement, 
including, without limitation, the Richmond Community Hospital “Expansion 
Project” and the “Westhampton Project” (as defined in the Performance 
Agreement), as evidenced by the information contained in Exhibit B and Exhibit 
C, respectively, attached to this Certificate, except those requirements that cannot 
be satisfied due to the duration of those requirements extending beyond the date 
of this Certificate which include the following:  

i. Section 1.a.(iv) (Maintenance of FTEs [related to the Richmond 
Community Hospital Expansion Project]); 

ii. Section 3 (Westhampton Neighborhood Beautification) as described in 
Section 1.g.vii below; and 

iii. Section 4.a.(iv) (Maintenance of FTEs [related to the Westhampton 
Project]). 

e. EDA has no existing defenses or offsets, claims or counterclaims against Bon 
Secours under the Performance Agreement. 

f. All Conditions (as defined in the Deed) set forth in the Ordinance and actions 
required as of the date hereof to have been performed and/or satisfied by EDA 
and Bon Secours have been performed and satisfied, and EDA is not aware of any 
act or omission which, with the giving of notice or the lapse of time or both, could 
trigger the City’s reserved right to declare a forfeiture of EDA’s title to the 
Property and a reconveyance of the Property to the City. 
 

g. The status of each of the Conditions is as follows: 
 

i. Condition (a) (Bon Secours participation in a development at either 2401 
West Leigh Street or 2701 West Leigh Street) has been satisfied in full.  



4 

 
ii. Condition (b) (Bon Secours development of additional medical and related 

facilities at Richmond Community Hospital) has been satisfied in full.  
 

iii. Condition (c) ($100,000 per year for 10 years for Richmond public 
schools) has been satisfied in full and no additional payments are required, 
Bon Secours having paid the full $1,000,000 required by the Conditions.  
 

iv. Condition (d) ($33,000 per year rent for the Westhampton School property 
comprised of $5,000 “Annual Rent” and $28,000 as the “Playing Field 
Maintenance Amount”) has been satisfied through August 31, 2023. 

 
v. Condition (e) (endeavor to maintain the historic nature of the property at 

5800 Patterson Avenue) has been satisfied by working with the 
community and Purchaser to actually preserve the exterior of the 1917 
school building located on the site.  

 
vi. Condition (f) (relocation and upgrade of “tot lot”) has been satisfied in full 

by the relocation and upgrade of the playground equipment to a City 
designated location south of Patterson Avenue.  

 
vii. Condition (g) (assist in neighborhood beautification program in the 

Patterson-Libbie business district) will be satisfied, at least in part, by Bon 
Secours paying for the installation of streetscape improvements on City-
owned property in the vicinity of 5800 Patterson Avenue in excess of the 
requirements for City approval of the POD.  Note, however, that the 
concept of the neighborhood beautification program for the Patterson-
Libbie business district has not been developed as of the date of this 
Certificate, and, pursuant to the Performance Agreement, the ten (10) year 
period during which Bon Secours agreed to maintain the landscaping on 
the portion of the Property fronting Patterson Avenue does not commence 
until the Westhampton Project Completion Date.  Therefore, as of the date 
of this Certificate, the EDA is unable to determine the City’s expectations 
for participation in such program by Bon Secours or any other property 
owner in the Patterson-Libbie business district.   

 
h. EDA and the person or persons executing this Certificate on behalf of EDA has 

the power and authority to execute this Certificate. 
 

2. Notice and Cure Provisions. 

a. Definitions.  For purposes of this Section, an “Agreement Default” shall mean a 
default by Bon Secours in the performance of its obligations under the 
Performance Agreement, and an “Ordinance Default” shall mean a default in the 
performance of any requirements under the Ordinance. 

 



5 

b. Agreement Default.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in the 
Performance Agreement, if an Agreement Default shall occur, EDA shall provide 
Purchaser, Mortgagee and Bon Secours with written notice thereof and Purchaser 
and Mortgagee shall have the right to cure such Agreement Default prior to the 
EDA exercising any rights or remedies available to the EDA under the 
Performance Agreement. Purchaser and Mortgagee shall have thirty (30) days 
after such notice is given to cure the Agreement Default; provided, however, that 
if the default cannot reasonably be cured within such thirty (30) day period, then 
Mortgagee and Purchaser shall have such additional time as is reasonably 
necessary to cure such default, provided, that Mortgagee and Purchaser have 
commenced the curing of such default within such thirty (30) day period, and 
thereafter have proceeded diligently to cure the same.  Nothing contained herein 
shall in any manner obligate Mortgagee and Purchaser to cure any Agreement 
Default. 

 
c. Ordinance Default.  If EDA receives written notice from the City of an Ordinance 

Default or otherwise has actual notice that an Ordinance Default has occurred, 
EDA shall provide Purchaser, Mortgagee and Bon Secours with written notice in 
accordance with subsection (d) hereof within ten (10) days after receipt of such 
written notice from the City or after otherwise obtaining actual notice of an 
Ordinance Default.  Nothing contained herein shall in any manner obligate 
Mortgagee and Purchaser to cure any Ordinance Default.  However, if Mortgagee 
and/or Purchaser elect to cure an Ordinance Default, EDA shall cooperate with 
either party so long as either (or both) is proceeding diligently to cure the same to 
avoid a forfeiture and reconveyance of the Property. 

 
d. Notice Addresses for Purchaser and Mortgagee.  EDA acknowledges that 

Purchaser’s, Mortgagee’s and Bon Secours’ addresses for notice and other 
purposes under this Certificate are as follows: 

Purchaser: 

TRP Westhampton II, LLC 
Attention: Jason Guillot  
Thalhimer Center 
11100 West Broad Street 
Richmond, Virginia 23060 
 
Williams Mullen 
Attention: R. Joseph Noble, Esquire and John M. Mercer, Esquire 
Williams Mullen Center 
200 South 10th Street, Suite 1600 
Richmond, VA  23219 



6 

 
 Mortgagee: 
 

Virginia Credit Union, Inc.  
Member Business Services 
7500 Boulder View Drive 
North Chesterfield, Virginia 23225 
 

 Bon Secours: 
 

Bon Secours – St. Mary’s Hospital of Richmond LLC 
c/o Chris Accashian, MHA, FACHE 
Chief Operating Officer 
Bon Secours Richmond Health System 
5875 Bremo Road, MOB South, Suite 710 
Richmond, VA  23226 
 
With a copy to: 
 
Nick Wessels 
Development Manager 
Bon Secours Mercy Health 
1701 Mercy Health Place 
Cincinnati, Ohio 452347 
 
Rhodes Ritenour 
Vice President, External and Regulatory Affairs 
Bon Secours Health System 
5875 Bremo Road, Suite 710 
Richmond, Virginia 23226 
 
Charles H. Rothenberg, Esquire  
Hirschler 
2100 East Cary Street, Fourth Floor 
Richmond, Virginia 23223-7078 

 
Purchaser, Mortgagee and Bon Secours may change the address for notice by delivering 
such notice to EDA. 

 
3. Notice of Amendment, Termination, Satisfaction.  Until the Loan is repaid in full, EDA 

agrees to provide at least five (5) days prior written notice of any proposed amendment to 
the Performance Agreement to Purchaser and Mortgagee.  Upon the satisfaction of all 
obligations of Bon Secours under the Performance Agreement, EDA shall provide written 
notice thereof to Purchaser and Mortgagee. 

 



7 

4. Approval of Loan Documents.  In accordance with Section 6.10 of the Ground Lease, 
EDA hereby approves the Loan Documents. 

 
5. Estoppel Certificates.  From time to time, the EDA shall provide to the Purchaser and 

Mortgagee such further estoppel certificates as either may reasonably request certifying 
as to status of the completion of the conditions of the Performance Agreement and the 
Ordinance, including without limitation, upon fulfillment of all such conditions, an 
estoppel certificate that all of the conditions of the Performance Agreement and the 
Ordinance have been fully completed to the satisfaction of the EDA. 

 
6. Successors and Assigns.  This Certificate shall bind and inure to the benefit of the 

respective parties hereto and their heirs, successors and assigns. 
 

7. Controlling Law Venue.  This Certificate shall be governed and construed in accordance 
with the laws of the Commonwealth of Virginia without regard to its conflict of laws 
provisions. The venue of any action to interpret or enforce the provisions of this 
Certificate shall be laid in the City of Richmond, Virginia. 

 
8. Reliance.  The undersigned further certifies that Purchaser, Bon Secours and Mortgagee 

and their respective successors and/or assigns will be relying upon the statements 
contained herein in the sale and purchase of Unit 1 and making the Loan. 

 
[SIGNATURE PAGES TO FOLLOW] 



8 

 
WITNESS the following signatures and seals: 
 

EDA: ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY OF 
THE CITY OF RICHMOND, a political 
subdivision of the Commonwealth of Virginia  

      By:  ____________________________ 
   John Molster, Chairman 
 
Approved as to form: 
 
 
 
________________________________________ 
Bonnie Ashley, General Counsel to the Authority 
 
 
 

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, 
 
CITY/COUNTY OF______________________, to-wit: 

 The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this _____ day of 
_______________, 2023, by John Molster, as Chairman of the Economic Development 
Authority of the City of Richmond, a political subdivision of the Commonwealth of Virginia.  
 

 My commission expires:  _____________________ 

 Notary registration no: _______________________ 
 
________________________________________ 
  Notary Public 

 
 



 

9 

 
Exhibit A 

To Estoppel Certificate 
 

1. Performance Agreement dated July 8, 2013 

2. First Amendment to Performance Agreement dated October 30, 2015 

3. Second Amendment to Performance Agreement dated December 31, 2016 

4. Third Amendment to Performance Agreement dated February 28, 2018 

5. Fourth Amendment to Performance Agreement dated March 11, 2020 

6. Covid-19 Extension Agreement dated August 31, 2020 



 

10 

Exhibit B 
To Estoppel Certificate 

Bon Secours East End Performance Agreement Tracker 

East End – Performance Agreement Requirements Progress To-Date 
Develop at least 25,000 square feet of medical 
and related facilities at or near the existing 
hospital campus 

Prior: 32,141 
MOB: 25,000* 
Total: 57,141 

Invest at least $8.5M in construction and related 
costs 

Prior: $9.5MM  
MOB: $16.5MM 
Total: $26MM  

Establish a publicly available wellness and fitness 
center 

$1,615,000 

Create at least 75 FTEs, new to the City, and 
maintain for at least 10 years 

147 

Establish at least $6.7M in payroll and benefits $9.5MM 
Commence construction on or before January 17, 
2020 

Complete 

Complete construction on or before  
December 31, 2022 

Complete 

*Programming: Behavioral Health Partial Hospitalization Program (New); Behavioral Health Tele-Consult 
Center (New); BSmart; Hospice; Home Health; Pastoral Care; IVNA 



 

11 

Exhibit C 
To Estoppel Certificate 

Bon Secours Westhampton Performance Agreement Tracker 

Westhampton – 
Performance 
Agreement 

Requirements 

Current 
Development  

Projected 
Development  

Total Projected 
Development 

Develop at least 
75,000 square feet 

193,500 sq. ft. 103,360 sq. ft. 296,860 sq. ft.* 

Invest at least $24M 
in development 
capital 

$62.2MM $32.7MM $94.9MM 

Create at least 120 
FTEs, new to the City, 
and maintain for at 
least 10 years 

194 FTEs  
(125 New to 

City) 

99+ 
(94 New to City) 

            293 FTEs 
(219 New to City) 

Establish at least 
$10.8M in payroll 
and benefits 

$33.6MM $14.8MM $48.4MM 

Commence 
construction on or 
before March 1, 2019 

Complete Complete Complete 

Complete 
construction on or 
before  
December 31, 2022 

Completed Q2 2025 On Track 

*In addition, the parking deck is approximately 134,500 square feet, and includes 363 spaces.  
Together, with off-street surface parking on site, there are 444 spaces. 



Performance Agreement between the City, 
Alacer Corp. (Haleon), and the EDA 

 

 

 



 
AYES:  9 NOES: 0  ABSTAIN:  
      

ADOPTED: JAN 8 2024 REJECTED:  STRICKEN:  
 
 
 

INTRODUCED: December 11, 2023 
 
 
 

AN ORDINANCE No. 2023-365 
 
 
 

To authorize the Chief Administrative Officer, for and on behalf of the City of Richmond, to 
execute a Performance Agreement between the City of Richmond, Alacer Corp., and the 
Economic Development Authority of the City of Richmond, for the purpose of providing the 
balance of the local match funds to Alacer Corp. through a grant from the Economic 
Development Authority of the City of Richmond in accordance with a Commonwealth’s 
Development Opportunity Fund Performance Agreement as an incentive to improve, equip, and 
operate a research and development facility at 1211 Sherwood Avenue in the city of Richmond. 

   
 

Patron – Mayor Stoney 
   

 
Approved as to form and legality 

by the City Attorney 
   

 
 

PUBLIC HEARING: JANUARY 8 2024 AT 6 P.M. 
 
 
THE CITY OF RICHMOND HEREBY ORDAINS: 

 § 1.   That the Chief Administrative Officer, for and on behalf of the City of Richmond, 

be and is hereby authorized to execute a Performance Agreement between the City of Richmond, 

Virginia, Alacer Corp., and the Economic Development Authority of the City of Richmond, for 

the purpose of providing the balance of the local match funds to Alacer Corp. through a grant 

from the Economic Development Authority of the City of Richmond in accordance with a 

Commonwealth’s Development Opportunity Fund Performance Agreement as an incentive to  



 2 

improve, equip, and operate a research and development facility at 1211 Sherwood Avenue in 

the city of Richmond. The Performance Agreement shall be approved as to form by the City 

Attorney and shall be substantially in the form of the document attached to this ordinance. 

 § 2.   This ordinance shall be in force and effect upon adoption. 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

__________________________ 
City Attorney’s Office 

 

 



Page 1 of 10 
 

PERFORMANCE AGREEMENT 
 
 This PERFORMANCE AGREEMENT (the “Agreement”) made and entered this ____ 
day of ________, 2023, by and among the CITY OF RICHMOND, VIRGINIA (the “City”), a 
municipal corporation of the Commonwealth of Virginia; ALACER CORP., a California 
corporation and member of the Haleon group of companies, authorized to transact business in the 
Commonwealth of Virginia (the “Company”); and the ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 
AUTHORITY OF THE CITY OF RICHMOND, VIRGINIA (the “Authority”), a political 
subdivision of the Commonwealth.  
 

RECITALS 
 

 WHEREAS, the Company expanded, equipped, improved and operates a research and 
development facility in the city of Richmond commonly known as 1211 Sherwood Avenue, 
Richmond, VA (the “Facility”), thereby making a significant Capital Investment, and creating and 
Maintaining a significant number of New Jobs, as such capitalized terms are hereinafter defined; 
 
 WHEREAS, the City, the Company, the Authority, and the Virginia Economic 
Development Partnership Authority entered into that certain Commonwealth’s Development 
Opportunity Fund Performance Agreement dated July 1, 2021 (“COF”); 
 
 WHEREAS, the City agreed in the COF to provide to the Company an economic 
development monetary grant and additional incentives for the purpose of providing a local match 
and thereby inducing the Company to expand, equip, improve and operate the Facility (“Local 
Match”); 
 
 WHEREAS, the City has provided a portion of the Local Match; 
 
 WHEREAS, the City desires to provide the balance of the Local Match to the Authority 
with the expectation that the Authority will provide the funds to or for the use of the Company, 
given that the Company met the criteria relating to the Capital Investment and the New Jobs in 
accordance with the terms and conditions of the COF; 
 
 WHEREAS, the expanding, equipping, improving, and operating the Facility entailed a 
Capital Investment of not less than $4,886,000 in building upfits resulting in an increase in taxable 
real property; not less than $6,519,000 in machinery and tools; and not less than $186,000 in 
tangible personal property as of the Performance Date; 
 
 WHEREAS, the expanding, equipping, improving, and operating of the Facility entailed 
the creation of not less than 57 New Jobs as of the Performance Date; 
  

WHEREAS, the City and the Authority have determined that the Company’s expanding, 
equipping, improving, and operating its primary research and development location at the Facility 
resulted in substantial benefits to the welfare of the city and its inhabitants; is in the public interest; 
and serves governmental interests, including but not limited to an increase in real estate and 
tangible personal property tax receipts and job creation; 



Page 2 of 10 
 

 
 WHEREAS, the stimulation of additional tax revenue and economic activity to be 
generated by the Capital Investment and New Jobs constitute a valid public purpose for the 
expenditure of public funds; 
 
 WHEREAS, the City is authorized by Section 15.2-953 of the Code of Virginia and other 
laws, and the Authority is authorized by the Industrial Development and Revenue Bond Act, 
contained in Chapter 49, Title 15.2 of the Code of Virginia and other laws to perform the activities 
contemplated in this Agreement; and 
 
 WHEREAS, this Agreement sets forth the understanding of the parties concerning the 
payment of the Local Match, subject to the approval of the Authority’s Board of Directors and the 
Richmond City Council. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing, the mutual benefits, promises 
and undertakings of the parties to this Agreement, and other good and valuable consideration, the 
receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties agree as follows. 
 
Section 1. UDefinitionsU. 
 
For the purposes of this Agreement, the following terms shall have the following definitions: 
 

“Capital Investment” means a capital expenditure by or on behalf of the Company of not 
less than $4,886,000 in building upfits resulting in an increase in taxable real property; not less 
than $6,519,000 in Machinery and Tools; and not less than $186,000 in Tangible Personal Property 
from November 1, 2019 through the Performance Date. The purchase or lease of furniture, fixtures, 
and tangible personal property, including under an operating lease, and expected building up-fit 
and improvements by or on behalf of the Company will qualify as Capital Investment. The Capital 
Investment must be in addition to the capital improvements at the Facility as of November 1, 2019. 
For purposes of clarity, the fact that any capital expenditure qualifies for any tax incentive, 
deduction, grant, abatement, credit or similar favorable treatment shall not disqualify said 
expenditure from qualifying as a Capital Investment hereunder. 

 
“Corporate Divestment” shall mean: (a) a sale, assignment or transfer of all or substantially 

all of the capital stock or assets of the Company; or (b) a merger or consolidation involving the 
Company and another entity with which the Company merges or consolidates which succeeds to 
substantially all the assets or stock of the Company. Without limiting the foregoing, the parties 
acknowledge that Company’s ultimate parent entity effectuated a demerger of the joint venture (of 
which the Company is a part) and therefore agree that said demerger shall be considered a 
Corporate Divestment for purposes of this Agreement. 

 
“Facility” means the real and personal property located at 1211 Sherwood Avenue (Tax 

Map Parcel No. N000-0857/003) in the city of Richmond. 
 
“Machinery and Tools” has the meaning ascribed to it in Virginia Code §58.1-3507, as the 

same may be from time to time amended, and taxable by the City of Richmond, Virginia. 



Page 3 of 10 
 

 
“Maintain” means that the New Jobs continued without interruption from the date of 

creation through December 31, 2022 and that the level of Capital Investment remained level from 
the time it was achieved through the Performance Date.   

 
“New Job” means 57 new permanent full-time employment of an indefinite duration at the 

Facility for which the standard fringe benefits are provided by the Company for the employee, and 
for which the Company pays an average annual wage of at least $110,000. Average annual wage 
means the average annual salary of full-time positions at the Facility determined by dividing total 
payroll (of a type included in W-2 compensation) provided to full-time positions at the Facility by 
the number of full-time positions at the Facility. Each New Job must require a minimum of either 
(i) 35 hours of an employee’s time per week for the entire normal year of the Company’s 
operations, which “normal year” must consist of at least 48 weeks, or (ii) 1,680 hours per year.  
Seasonal or temporary positions, positions created when a job function is shifted from an existing 
location in the Commonwealth, and positions with construction contractors, vendors, suppliers and 
similar multiplier or spin-off jobs shall not qualify as New Jobs. Net new jobs in the city of 
Richmond for contractors or employees of contractors who provide dedicated full-time service to 
the Company may count as New Jobs, even though the Company is not directly paying the wages 
or providing the fringe benefits, if the other conditions set forth in this paragraph have been 
satisfied. For purposes of clarity, the term “spin off jobs” shall not disqualify New Jobs created or 
maintained as a result of the demerger referenced in the definition of “Corporate Divestment.  The 
New Jobs must be in addition to the 215 full-time jobs at the Facility as of November 1, 2019.  

 
“Performance Date” means December 31, 2022.  
 
“Tangible Personal Property” means all personal property not classified as intangible 

personal property, merchants capital, or daily rental property as defined by Code of Virginia §§ 
58.1-1100 and 58.1-3510, as the same may be from time to time amended, and taxable by the City 
of Richmond, Virginia. 

 
“Targets” means the Company’s obligations to make the Capital Investment and to create 

New Jobs as of the Performance Date. 
 

Section 2. UTargetsU. 
 
2.1 Capital Investment. The Company made a minimum Capital Investment of not less than 
$4,886,000 in building upfits resulting in an increase in taxable real property; not less than 
$6,519,000 in locally taxable Machinery and Tools; and not less than $186,000 in locally taxable 
Tangible Personal Property by the Performance Date. 
 
2.2 New Jobs. The Company created at least 57 New Jobs by the Performance Date. 
 
Section 3. UDisbursement of GrantU. 
 



Page 4 of 10 
 

3.1 Grant Amount. As a result of the Company having met its Targets, the City shall, through 
the Authority, provide the Company with the balance of the Local Match in the form of an 
economic development grant in a total amount of $149,714.64 (the “Grant”). 

 
3.2 Payment of Grant. The City, through the Authority, shall pay the Grant in one lump sum 
as soon as practicable following full execution of this Agreement. 

 
3.2.1 UCertification of Performance RequirementsU. The Company may request payment of the 
Grant in writing no earlier than the full execution of this Agreement. Such request must include a 
certification by a Certified Public Accountant licensed in the Commonwealth of Virginia that the 
Capital Investment has been made in accordance with the terms of this Agreement, together with 
documentation acceptable to the City in the City’s sole discretion detailing such Capital 
Investment. The Company shall also certify and attest to the creation of 57 New Jobs acceptable 
to the City in the City’s sole discretion. Once the Company’s request in writing has been received 
by the City and the City has approved the certifications and related documentation, the City shall, 
within 30 days, request the Authority to provide the Company with the Grant.  

 
3.2.2 UForfeiture of GrantU. Should the Company fail to adequately certify or document the 
achievement of the Targets pursuant to section 3.2.1, the Company will be deemed to have 
forfeited the Grant. Upon such forfeiture, this Agreement shall terminate and the City and the 
Authority will have no obligation to the Company pursuant to this Agreement. 

 
3.3 Appropriations Required. The City’s and the Authority’s obligation to provide the Grant 
to the Company is subject to and contingent upon the appropriation of all necessary funds by the 
Richmond City Council for such purposes and upon action of the Authority’s Board of Directors. 
 
Section 4. Administration of Grant. 
 
4.1 The City agrees to transfer to the Authority, as and when appropriated by the City Council, 
the funds necessary for the Authority to meet its obligations under the Agreement relating to the 
Grant. No administrative fees or expenses shall be paid by the City. 
  
4.2        The Authority’s obligation to undertake the activities herein is specially conditioned upon 
the City providing funding on a timely basis; provided, however, the City’s obligation is subject 
to appropriation by the City Council and availability of funds. 
  
4.3 The Authority agrees to provide the City’s Chief Administrative Officer, or the designee 
thereof, with copies of all documents related to this Agreement and will keep the Chief 
Administrative Officer fully and timely informed of all matters related to the Agreement. 
  
4.4 The Authority agrees that all funds transferred by the City to the Authority for the Grant 
shall be deposited by the Authority within a Project Fund, to be used only to satisfy the obligations 
contained in this Agreement related to the Grants.   
  
4.5 It is the intent of the parties not to impose upon the Authority any responsibility, duty or 
obligation other than what may be required to implement the Grant.  Accordingly, Authority does 



Page 5 of 10 
 

not assume any responsibility or liability whatsoever except as specifically stated herein.  If 
litigation involving the Grant is initiated or expected to be filed against the Authority, the Authority 
shall immediately notify the City Attorney and Chief Administrative Officer. 
  
4.6 The Authority shall keep records of its financial transactions, if any, related to the 
Agreement in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.  The City Auditor or a 
designee thereof may at any time audit the financial transactions undertaken under this 
Agreement.   
  
4.7 The Authority shall not be required to furnish the City with surety. 
 
Section 5. Representations.  
 
5.1 The Company is empowered to enter into this Agreement, to be bound hereby, and to 
perform according to the terms hereof. 
 
5.2 Any and all actions necessary to enable the Company to enter into this Agreement, and to 
be bound hereby, have been duly taken. 
 
5.3 The person or persons executing or attesting the execution of this Agreement on behalf of 
the Company has or have been duly authorized and empowered to so execute or attest. 
 
5.4 The execution of this Agreement on behalf of the Company will bind and obligate the 
Company to the extent provided by the terms hereof. 
  
5.5 There exists no litigation pending against the Company or to the Company’s actual 
knowledge threatened, which if determined adversely, would materially and adversely affect the 
ability of the Company to carry out its obligations under this Agreement or the transactions 
contemplated hereunder. 
 
Section 6       Default. 
 
6.1 Events of Default.  Each of the following will constitute a default by the Company 
under this Agreement (each an “Event of Default”): 
 
6.1.1   Any court of competent jurisdiction enters an order, judgment, or decree approving a 
petition seeking reorganization of the Company or all or a substantial part of the assets of the 
Company or any guarantor of the Company or appointing a receiver, sequestrator, trustee or 
liquidator of the Company, or any guarantor of the Company or any of their property and such 
order, judgment or decree continues unstayed and in effect for at least 60 Days. 
 
6.1.2   The Company (i) makes a general assignment for the benefit of creditors, (ii) is adjudicated 
as either bankrupt or insolvent, (iii) files a voluntary petition in bankruptcy or a petition or an 
answer seeking reorganization or an arrangement with creditors, (iv) either (a) takes advantage of 
any bankruptcy, reorganization, insolvency, readjustment of debt, dissolution or liquidation law or 
(b) admits the material allegations of a petition filed against the Company in any proceedings under 



Page 6 of 10 
 

such a law or (v) any guarantor of the Company takes action for the purposes of effecting any item 
identified in item (iv). 
 
6.1.3   The Company fails to maintain its corporate existence. 
 
6.2 Effect of Default.  In the case of an occurrence of an Event of Default, the Grant provisions 
of Section 3 of this Agreement shall terminate immediately and neither the City nor the Authority 
will have any further obligation relating thereto and the Company will no longer be eligible for the 
Grant.  

 
Section 7 Notices. 
 

All notices, demands or other communications under this Agreement shall be in writing 
and shall be sent to each other party, at its address specified below (or such other address as a party 
may from time to time specify to the other parties by notice given in accordance with this 
Agreement), and shall be deemed to have been duly given when actually received by the addressee 
or when served (a) personally; (b) by independent, reputable, overnight commercial carrier; or (c) 
by deposit in the United States mail, postage and fees fully prepaid, registered or certified mail, 
with return receipt requested, addressed as follows: 
 

If to the City: 
 
Chief Administrative Officer 
900 East Broad Street, 14P

th
P Floor 

Richmond, Virginia 23219 
 
with a copy to: 
 
Department of Economic Development 
City of Richmond, Virginia 
1500 East Main Street, Suite 400 
Richmond, Virginia 23219 
Attention:  Director of Economic Development 
and 
 
City Attorney 
900 East Broad Street, Suite 400 
Richmond, Virginia 23219 
 
If to the Authority: 
 
Economic Development Authority of the City of Richmond, 
Virginia 
1500 East Main Street, Suite 400 
Richmond, Virginia 23219 
Attention:  Chairman 



Page 7 of 10 
 

 
with a copy to: 
 
Economic Development Authority of the City of Richmond, 
Virginia 
1500 East Main Street, Suite 400 
Richmond, Virginia 23219 
Attention:  Executive Director 
 
and 
 
City Attorney 
900 East Broad Street, Suite 400 
Richmond, Virginia 23219 
 
If to the Company: 
 
Haleon 
1211 Sherwood Avenue 
Richmond, VA 23220 
Attn: Peter J. Ramsey, Chief Scientific Officer 
 
with a copy to: 
 
Haleon 
184 Liberty Corner Road 
Warren, NJ 07059 
Attn: David Moss, VP Legal Operations 

 
Section 8 General Terms and Conditions. 

8.1 Entire Agreement; Amendments. This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement 
among the parties hereto and may not be amended or modified, except in writing, signed by each 
of the parties hereto.  This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
hereto and their respective successors and assigns. The Company may not assign its rights and 
obligations under this Agreement without the prior written consent of the City and the Authority; 
provided, however, that no prior consent shall be required for an assignment of the Company’s 
rights or obligations under this Agreement in whole or in part by the Company pursuant to a 
Corporate Divestment.   

8.2 Governing Law; Venue. This Agreement is made, and is intended to be performed, in the 
Commonwealth of Virginia and shall be construed and enforced by the laws of the Commonwealth 
of Virginia. Jurisdiction and venue for any litigation arising out of or involving this Agreement 
shall lie in the Circuit Court of the City of Richmond, and such litigation shall be brought only in 
such court. 



Page 8 of 10 
 

8.3 Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of 
which shall be an original, and all of which together shall be one and the same instrument.  This 
Agreement is signed when a party’s signature is delivered by facsimile, email, or other electronic 
medium. These signatures must be treated in all respects as having the same force and effect as 
original signatures. 

8.4 Severability.  If any provision of this Agreement is determined to be unenforceable, invalid 
or illegal, then the enforceability, validity and legality of the remaining provisions will not in any 
way be affected or impaired, and such provision will be deemed to be restated to reflect the original 
intentions of the parties as nearly as possible in accordance with applicable law.   

8.5  Subject-to-Appropriations. All payments and other performances by the City and the 
Authority under this Agreement are subject to City Council approval, Authority Board approval 
and annual appropriations by the City Council. It is understood and agreed among the parties that 
the City and the Authority shall be bound hereunder only to the extent of the funds available or 
which may hereafter become available for the purpose of this Agreement.  Under no circumstances 
shall the City’s or the Authority’s total liability under this Agreement exceed the total amount of 
funds appropriated by the City Council for the payments hereunder for the performance of this 
Agreement. 

8.6 Public Disclosure.   

8.6.1 Applicable Law. The parties to this Agreement acknowledge that records maintained by 
or in the custody of the City and the Authority are subject to the provisions of the Virginia Public 
Records Act, Va. Code §§ 42.1-76 through 42.1-90.1, and the Virginia Freedom of Information 
Act, Va. Code §§ 2.2-3700 through 2.2-3714 and thus are subject to the records retention and 
public disclosure requirements set forth in those statutes. 

8.6.2 Challenges to Nondisclosure. If a party submitting records to the City or the Authority 
requests that those records not be disclosed under applicable law and the City or the Authority 
consequently denies a request for disclosure of such records based on the submitting party’s 
request, and the City’s or the Authority’s denial of a request for disclosure of records is challenged 
in court, the submitting party shall indemnify, hold harmless and defend the City or the Authority, 
their respective officers and employees from any and all costs, damages, fees and penalties 
(including attorney’s fees and other costs related to litigation) relating thereto. 

8.7 No Waiver. Neither failure on the part of the City or the Authority to enforce any covenant 
or provision contained in this Agreement nor any waiver of any right under this Agreement shall 
discharge or invalidate such covenant or provision or affect the right of the City or the Authority 
to enforce the same right in the event of any subsequent default. 

8.8 Effective Date of the Agreement. The effective date of this Agreement shall be the date 
upon which it has been fully executed by the parties following approval by City Council and by 
the Authority’s Board of Directors. 

8.9 No Partnership or Joint Venture. It is mutually understood and agreed that nothing 
contained in this Agreement is intended or shall be construed in any manner or under any 



Page 9 of 10 
 

circumstance whatsoever as creating and establishing the relationship of copartners or creating or 
establishing a joint venture between or among any of the parties or as designating any party to the 
Agreement as the agent or representative of any other party to the Agreement for any purpose. 

8.10 No Third Party Beneficiaries. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, 
the parties agree that (i) no individual or entity shall be considered, deemed or otherwise 
recognized to be a third-party beneficiary of this Agreement; (ii) the provisions of this Agreement 
are not intended to be for the benefit of any individual or entity other than the City, the Authority, 
or the Company; (iii) no other individual or entity shall obtain any right to make any claim against 
the City, the Authority, or the Company under the provisions of this Agreement; and (iv) no 
provision of this Agreement shall be construed or interpreted to confer third-party beneficiary 
status on any individual or entity. 

8.11 Attorney’s Fees. Each party will bear its own attorney’s fees. 

8.12   Authorization to Act. The Chief Administrative Officer of the City of Richmond, Virginia 
or a designee thereof and the Chairman of the Economic Development Authority of the City of 
Richmond, Virginia are authorized to act on behalf of the City and the Authority, respectively, 
under this Agreement. 

 

SIGNATURES ON FOLLOWING PAGE 

  



Page 10 of 10 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this 
Performance Agreement as of the date first written above. 

 
CITY OF RICHMOND, VIRGINIA 
a municipal corporation of the 
Commonwealth of Virginia 

 
 

By:     
Lincoln Saunders Date  

 Chief Administrative Officer 
 

Authorized by Ordinance No.  
 

Approved as to Form: 
 

By:   U__________________ 
City Attorney’s Office 

 
 

ALACER CORP., a California corporation 
 
 

By:   
Date 

 
Name:    
Title:   

 
 

 ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT OF THE 
CITY OF RICHMOND, VIRGINIA, 
a political subdivision of the 
Commonwealth of Virginia 

  
By: 

 
   
Chairman Date 

Approved as to Form:   

By:    
General Counsel to Authority 

 



���������	
���������������������������

����� !"#$%&'(�)"*"$�+�" %��++�,%- .%/�0- )�12345367892�7:322628;�<�=	�12345367892�7:322628;�>?@AB�CDEFGGHGI?JK�=	���L����L������L��	��M�����M=	��L�N��M�O
�NP�����P�QN���L�����R�����9S;T�54�3S9U658VW�XS3:S8S7�Y����CZ[\]̂A?_JKP���̀��=�=����	
QL=a=	=���[b�?@G�c[HH[IdG]̂?@�[b�eAFEAIA]�>?@G�Cc[HH[IdG]̂?@JKf�7g7923�9531hP������=M��=����̀���=���i�=���=	������Q���M��������j���=����=���R�
̀��M����̀ ��=�	���L��
���=k�L�������	����Q
	=��		�=������������i������Y?@G�Cc[Hl]I_JKP�����295856S9�V2X2g51628;�7m;U53S;T�54�;U2�9S;T�54�3S9U658VW�XS3:S8S7�>?@G�CDn?@[FA?_JKf�]�l[̂A?A\]̂�BnopAqABA[I�[b�?@G�c[HH[IdG]̂?@P���L�����XS3:S8S7�295856S9�V2X2g51628;�173;823rUS1�7m;U53S;T�>CestuJKf���̀��=�=����	
QL=a=	=����M�����������i�����v�� wx<yz��z<�{�w�z|z��P�����}����=�N���	�Q�����i�L�L���R�����M���L��j̀���	�������=a��~���P����bF[H�?@G�c[HH[IdG]̂?@�B���a���̀������̀ �̀�
�=�N��
�L�Y����Cc����F]I?JK�?@F[nE@��z���M������̀
̀�	���M�=�L
�=�R��������̀ ��N�����j̀��LP���
=̀P�=�̀ �a����L��̀��������	�������L�L�a���̀�����M��=�=�N�=������}����=�N��������N����i���	���������i��L��a��
�P�|=�����L����>?@G�C�]\ÂA?_JKf�?@GFGo_�H]�AIE�]�BAEIAbA\]I?�c]lA?]̂��IqGB?HGI?f���L�����=�R���L���=���=�=�R���	=R�=M=������
�Q���M�y�i�O�Q	P��	�	
�����̀=���=k�L����	�������=��M���L�M=��L��w�z|z��P�����}����=�N�=	�i=��=�R����̀�a=L������M
�L	���������
���=�N�i=��������j̀�����=�������������
���=�N�i=���̀�a=L������M
�L	������M������
	���M��������̀ ��NP�̀�a=L�L�������������̀ ��N�̀��=	�	�������������=���=��=������=�R������̀=����x�a�	��������L�y�i�O�Q	��w�z|z��P�����}����=�NP������
���=�NP��������̀ ��NP���L��z���L�	=�����	���M�������=�
�L�	���L=�R���L��R��������	��������̀�N�
���M�������������P�����
	���M��������������̀����L	P������Q�=R��=��	��M��������̀ ��N��R�L=�R���̀=����x�a�	��������L�y�i�O�Q	P���L������̀�N������M�������̀����M��������������
�L������=���=�
�	�����	��w�z|z��P������j̀��	=��P���
=̀̀ =�RP�=�̀ �a��������L��̀���=����M��������=�=�N�i=�������=������̀=�����j̀��L=�
��QN������Q����M��M��������̀ ��N��M��̀ ̀�j=�����N�~��P���P���P��M�i�=����̀ ̀�j=�����N�~�P���P����i=���Q��=�a�	��L�=������=��N���L�����	P��̀ ̀�j=�����N�~�P���P����i=���Q��=�a�	��L�=��M
�=�
�P�M=j�
�	���L�Q
	=��		�̀�	�����̀�̀��NP���L��̀ ̀�j=�����N�~�P���P����i=���Q��=�a�	��L�=�������j̀��	=�����L�
̀�M=���M�����Q
=�L=�R��w�z|z��P������j̀��	=��P���
=̀̀ =�RP�=�̀ �a��������L��̀���=����M��������=�=�N�i=���M
��������=����������=�����L���=����������M�����y�i�O�Q	�����������=�=�N����L�w�z|z��P�����	�=�
���=����M������LL=�=�������j��a��
����L�������=�����=a=�N����Q��R������L�QN�������̀=����x�a�	��������L�y�i�O�Q	����	�=�
��	���a��=L�̀
Q�=��̀
̀�	��M�������j̀��L=�
���M�̀
Q�=��M
�L	���L�=	�������=���=�R�̀
̀�	��M��������������{�

������������������������� ¡¢£�¤¥¢¦�¤����¤§ ̈�¤̈�©¦�¥�ª�¡£¡



���������	
���������������������������

����� �!"!��"!��#�����	#$���#����%�����%��&�#�&�������
�
���'���%#�	��(��#	�	���$�
�$���)#�&	��%�����(��#�	������#	��&����������$������&��$���$�*��
�'������	#$���#�����������#(����$�	
%%#�#���+��%�,�#���������'+���)��,��$&�$������(��#�	���*��������$��&����	�%����,	-�./01234�56� 7/8242123496��������(
(�	�	��%���#	��&������������%����,#�&����	�	�������*������%����,#�&�$�%#�#�#��	:�;��(#����<�*�	�����=�>?@AB�����(#�����C(��$#�
��'+������'����%��%��������(��+�#����C�'�������(�(��+����C�'������&#'���(�	�����(�(��+����'���������������#�#�+��%�����*��'��������D����
&��������%�������E���-�����(
(�	�	��%����#�+������%�����������+���(#�����C(��$#�
��F
��#%#�	�%����+���C�#�����#*���$�$
��#����&������'�����������$#����	#�#���%�*��'������������	���������$#	F
��#%+�	�#$��C(��$#�
��%���F
��#%+#�&��	�����(#����<�*�	���������
�$�-� ���(
���	�������	���%�����#��+���$�����	���%
�#�
���%#C�
�	����$�'
	#��		�(�	�����(�(��+��#���
$#�&�
�$������(���#�&����	���'+������'����%��%��������(��+�,#���F
��#%+��	���(#����<�*�	�����-�� �����(#����<�*�	�������
	��'��#���$$#�#������������(#����#�(�*�����	�����������#�#�+��	��%���*��'��������D-�;GHIJHI@K?�LMN?BK>?AK=�BO@PP�>?@AQ��R@S�@�B@P?T�@BBMUA>?AK�HI�KI@ABV?I�HV�������	
'	����#���+������%�������(#����	���)����		��	��%��������(��+W���X'Y�����&�������	��#$��#���#�*��*#�&��������(��+���$�����������#�+�,#���,�#������(��+���&�	������	��#$���	�,�#���	
����$	����	
'	����#���+����������		��	���	���)��%��������(��+-���#���
���#�#�#�&�����%��&�#�&��KO?�J@IKM?B�@Z[AH\P?]U?�KO@K�GH>J@Â_B�̀PKM>@K?�J@I?AK�?AKMK̂�O@B�@AAH̀AZ?]�������#��(���	�����%%���
������$���&���%�����a�#���*���
��X�%�,�#����������(��+�#	���(��Y���$�����%����&��������	�#$�$���&��	�����'�����	#$��$�����(�����E#*�	������%��(
(�	�	��%���#	��&������-���;b̀A]=�>?@AB�KO?�GH>>HA\?@PKO_B�L?N?PHJ>?AK�c((��
�#�+��
�$��%���,�#����������������,#���'��(�#$-���;d@MAK@MA=�>?@AB�KO@K�KO?�e?\�fHgB�\MPP�ZHAKMÀ?�\MKOH̀K�MAK?IÌJKMHA�VIH>�KO?�]@K?�HV�����#������
&��������%�������E���-����	#�#��	�%��������,�h�'	�,#���'�������$��	�i�#���#��$�$
#�&�(�#�$	�#��,�#���	
���(�	#�#��	��������%#���$�$
�����X#Y����(��+��$
��#��	�#������GH>J@Â_B�?>JPĤ>?AK�P?N?PB�RBH�PHAU�@B�KO?I?�MB�@ZKMN?�I?ZÌMK>?AK�VHI�HJ?A�JHBMKMHABST�RMMS�	�#)�	����$�X###Y���������(��+�,�)�	��((�&�	-�;e?\�fHg=�>?@AB�A?\�J?I>@A?AK�V̀PP��#�����(��+������%����#�$�%#�#���$
��#�������������#�#�+�%��,�#�������	���$�$�%#�&��'���%#�	����(�*#$�$�'+��������(��+�%��������(��+������$�%��,�#����������(��+�(�+	�����*��&�����
���,�&���%�������	��j�������-���*��&�����
���,�&������	������*��&�����
���	���+��%�%
����#���(�	#�#��	�����������#�#�+�$����#��$�'+�$#*#$#�&�������(�+����X�%����+(��#���
$�$�#���������(��	��#��Y�(�*#$�$����%
����#���(�	#�#��	�����������#�#�+�'+������
�'���%�%
����#���(�	#�#��	�����������#�#�+-��!������,�h�'��
	���F
#����>MAM>̀ >�HV�?MKO?I�RMS�kl�OH̀IB�HV�@A�?>JPĤ??_B�KM>?�J?I�\??[�VHI�KO?�?AKMI?�AHI>@P�̂?@I�HV�KO?�m�noopqrsstttuvqwuxyzs{|}v~sz{���sp�{qq}�{�{�q{qsv���yqz�onw��|{}p�x}�|�}p���{�}�|x}oy}�y�z}|{t}ty���}�{���|v}xy|q�z{�}n{��onx��{}�y�|o}�{|o��{s�

������������������������������ ¡�¢� ���� £�¤� ¤�¥¢�¡�¦����



���������	
���������������������������

��� !"#$%�� &'!()�"%*�+,)-,�."�'�!/�#&!'0��1%(�-�"%)%(��2�!(�/&!%(�34�+&&5%*��'�6))7�8*94:���
	�;��<��=��>�����?�@�A	�B������������?������C����������	�����;��<��	��C���������	�?���;�DBE��E�EB����E�C
����B���	�DB�������������;��<���<���
����	�>�?�F�A	G��D������
H���������;��<�B	�����EB����<�;�<B�H�����?�H�	���;�DBEB�H�����CB�H��A���CB�	G�BC�������������EB�B��	�	���C����B����B	�;��H�;����D��A����	��B	CB�E=�����	����������;��<�;�	B�B��	G�;�	B�B��	������E�?������@�A�C
���B���B	�	�BC��E�C�������IB	�B�H������B���B������������?�����G���E�;�	B�B��	�?B������	�
��B�����������	G�D��E�	G�	
;;�B�	���E�	B�B����
��B;�B����	;B���CC�@�A	�	���������J
��BC<��	�>�?�F�A	=��K�'� 1' �%&%��2�-/!')(#*�(,&�(&'��.% )"��22�L�M%0�%,!//�"�(�EB	J
��BC<�>�?�F�A	������E�����B���B��E��	����	
����C�����E���H���C�����E�B������E�CB�B�B����2�.��' �'!(&�N)O&%(�&"(0P��Q���>�?�F�A	��
	��A��B���EEB�B������������R�C
����B���@�A	�����������B�B�<��	��C�>�D��A���G����S=��.T&'2�'�!"-&�N!(&0��&!"%�U����A����G�����=��VC�����W����B�<G�B�����	
����B���?B��������
���B�<���E�XYU�G�E���	������H��E�C�B�����E���	���A����CC��	���D��A������E����E����A�B�H���E��A<��������;��<�������B�D������Q�H��	G�����W����B�<���<G������<��B���;B�����������C�������U���G��J
�	������I���	B����C�������C�������U����A<�
;�����R������	=����<��I���	B����C�������C�������U����	������J
B������;B���;;�D����C�����Z��E��C�UB����	��C�XYU��6(,&�.[�!'\07���E��������;��<=��VC�������C�������U����B	��I���E�EG�����W����B�<�	�����	��E�?B��������B����C������I���	B�����������
���B�<G��������;��<���E�XYU����E�����E�������?�B���������C�������U������	�A�����](&"\&\�%,!//�M&�(,&�.T&'2�'�!"-&�N!(&0�2�'�(,&� 1' �%&%��C���B	��H������=�.̂!'_&(%0��&!"%�(,&���� !"#$%��M/)_!()�"%�̀?�B�����<�A��	��)%2)&\�M#�(,&���� !"#$%��CCB�B���	a������b����;B����V�D�	�����	��C�������	��c��Gd��G������E������������E�e�B���B��������	���Rf�>�?�F�A	G������	��C�������C�������U���=�.g)'_)")!���\&0��&!"%�(,&���\&��2�gBHB�B���C��SR�G��	�����E�E=�hijklmn�op��� qrstikuv�hkrkwkmsx�yslkislrp��̀a z{|}~�����Q������;��<�?B����I;��EG��J
B;G�B�;�D����E��;������������B�B�<�B�����W����B�<G���b������;B����V�D�	�������C�������	��c��Gd��G���G���E���������E�e�B���B��������	���Rf�>�?�F�A	G������	��C�������C�������U���=�Àa �����|{}~�~���������~|��~�����������~���~���������~��������~{������Q��W����B�<G������
���B�<G���E�XYU�����A<�	���H�<�����
�H���������;��<������	
�������������	���:���2�(,&��&+���M%�!'&��22&'&\�(��.�&%)\&"(%0��2�(,&������"+&!/(,*�!%�\&2)"&\�)"�g)'_)")!���E������B���Rf=�����=��V��;��B�����;��G������E�CB�B�B���B���
E�	����
���;�	��	�E��B�B��E�B��XBHB�B�������
���;�	��	�?��G�C������HH�H�����C�����������f��E�<	��C�����<��G���B���B��E���;������C��A�E��?B��B������������?�����G�?������E��B�B��E�B������������?�����������=��̀a �|~�{����}��{}~����~������~���{������~|����{�~����Q����
���B�<���E�XYU�;�DBE����B	�����B����̀�a��	��;�	�����B��	�����������;��<=��Q����D��H�����
���?�H���C�����>�?�F�A	��C�������	��c���G����B	��������������;�D�B�B�H��D��H�����
���?�H��B������W����B�<��C�c�fG��R=��Q���W����B�<�B	����BH��
���;��<����������B�<G�?B������
���;��<���������C�����SG�?�B���B	�������	��<���C��?�B���	
���E����B	��D�B��A��G��C��=� ��	����;��E�����������S�	����?BE��
���;��<����������C��=f =��Q���W����B�<�B	����BH��;�D��<������B�<G�?B�����;�D��<�����C�����SG�

¡¢£¤¥¦§̈�©̈ª«¬¢«�®¡̄�°±²³́µ¶°·̧µ¹¡·±©¡°·º³»¡·»¡¼¹±̧©½²́ ¶́



���������	
���������������������������

�������	�������	�� ���!��������	
���"�����	��#����$��%��!��&'�(��	����)��"�����������&�	������"��)�#�� ������!�&'&('�*"+ ,-./01.234�15�610-7-/80�91:73-;27-1:.<��=������)�� ���>�����"?�	���������������!��������)�� ������$��	���"�$ �@AB�������������#�����!�@�?����%���"��� ����)��?��������������)���������������������������		������"������������#���'��=������)�� ���>�����"?�	��������������C������	��!�����"�����!����	���!��������?������%�������#���%���	����)��?�����������%���"���	�)�������������������������������	
$�����������@�?��������!������!�D����	����"�A����	��"#�	� ���
��������)�����	���?��� ������$
����%�?�!�%��������������������#��
��?����������E����)�#�"�"�$ ��������)�� ����������#���%���	����)��?�����������%�����	�)�������������������������%��	)����#FGHI�JKLMNO�PQF�RFLMSJ�TLSU�PQF�JVPF�ST�PQF�WSURVNHXY��))���������!������������������
?���������� ���)���"�����"����� ��!�������"�����!����	��?������'�Z[\]̂_̀�ab� ĉdefgd[h[̀]�_i�jkl�mgǹ]b�*�+ ,-.;23.4o4:7�15�7p4�9qr�s38:7<��=���"�	$
	�������!��������������)����"	����������)�� ������	�#���	������"
�����������������)�� ���������#������=�?��	'��t������&��"� 	��!���������!�������B���%��������)�� ������)�#�"������������u�)���"�	��$�"������������v*$+'��=��
?������������u�)��%��������)�� ������)�#�"�����������"��#�"������������w������ ���"�@AB���!��������
����!���)�����D�#�	�����	���"����"�������"���"������
�$���!�x���y�$	������"���"�z��������"��������������� ��	��!�������!�������B���'��=���������u�)��������$��	
${�������#��!��������$ �����w������ ���"�@AB�'���=������
����!��������������)����"	����$��"�	$
	�"�	�����$������
����"��	�!�����	|�D!�����������u�)�����"�����	�������������)�� ���	�������"����)�����D�#�	�����	��!�������	��E�%v��%������"������"���"�z��������"�������	���v�x���y�$	��	��!�������!�������B���%�����������������#���� ��!�����)����"	��!�������������'��=��	���������	���
�� ������
���}
������	�!�������������
�"������@�?�������"��!����)�{����������"��������w������ '�D!�����������u�)�����"�����	�������������)�� ���	���"����)�����D�#�	�����	��!�������	��E��%~��%������"������"���"�z��������"�������	���vC�x���y�$	��	��!�������!�������B���%��������)�� ����������#������E�~v%�����!��������������)����"	'�D!�����������u�)�����"�����	�������������)�� ���	���"����)�����D�#�	�����	��!�������	��E�%v��%������"������"���"�z��������"�������	���v�x���y�$	%�$
����	�����!
�� ������#�"�����=�?��	��	��!�������!�������B���%��	��}
��"�
�"������)���"��?�)��?�)��!���������)�� ��������#������E�~v%�����!��������������)����"	%��������)�� ������}
���! �!�����"
��"�"�	$
	�������!�������������'��D������
�����?������"
��"�"�	$
	�����%���������������	����$����������"��	���(�*E�~%v����TSL�PQF�WSURVNHXY���)�����D�#�	������=�?��%���"�&�(�*E��~%v��+�!��PQF�WSURVNHXY��F���S�Y��VLOFP����T�PQF�WSURVNH�UFP�PQF�YPVPKPSLH�UMNMUKU��}
������	�	���!�����$�#�%�$
����	�����!
�� ������#�"�����=�?��	��	��!�����

����������������������������������������� �¡��¡�¢����£����



���������	
���������������������������

�������������� ��������!��"�#$����������$%�������!������������������������$	�!�!��$������������&�'�����&�'��	����#�$��������$	���	�������(������)��!�� �$���	���������������������� ����"�*�� �+, �������������!$����-�%�	��������	�.������/����/����$��/�0������$�'����$�%���������+�1����������!$����-�%�	������&�'��2 ���/����"���+�3�#�4�.	���%��.���������/���/�5�$���$��/�0������$�'����$�%���������6�1��������3�#�4�.	�&�'��2 ��������!��"�#$������$%��*�, ����0������$�'�+�1��������*�6 ������������/����������!$����-�%�	������&�'��2 �789:�*,�� ����0������$�'�6�1��������*��6 ������������/��������3�#�4�.	�&�'��2 ������������/$	.
	���������
������*��; ���(��&��	�����
��	������������!������'�	��������	�����������������)!����/����
��������!$����-�%�	��������/��)!����/��
�.�����3�#�4�.	 �������
��$!�$�/�."�����!��$�������������������!����/	��%�$��.�������������!��"���������/���������&�'��(���&������������!����/	�	�����.�����$��/�$�������
�/ �
��$�����/�/����/$	.
	�����(��<$��$�����/�"	������%�$�$���$�����������$����=�!�� �$����"����
���������������!����/	���%��.��������/�."��������!��" �>?���#$���/$	.
	����������
����������@����$�"(��<$��$�����/�"	�������������$!������������������!����/	�0���$!������$�'�.��������!����������������������!����/	�."������$�"���
��$���������ABCD�EF�GBHIJEKLM�NBOPBKBQ�RCIS�TAEUKHBVWX�QKL�CIS�QYYOEYOBQCBEK�ZD�AEUKHBV����	
������������!����/	���������
���$�"2 �����@����$�"�#$���/$	.
	���������������!����/	���������
���$�"(��<$��$�����/�"	������$�	����$!������������������!����/	 ������
���$�"�#$���/$	.
	���������������!����/	�����������!��"(�-����"����
���������������!����/	���%������.��������/�."��������!��" ��������
�������/$	.
	�/�#$���.�����$��/�$�������
�/���/�#$���.���%�$��.�����������������$��/�%���!�����!�[���	(���0.2 \:]�̂_�̀a]�bcd�efgh̀�if̂j]]k:l��&������!��"�#$���
	���������������!����/	���!�"����$�.
	�m��������	�����'�/$�' �/�$��'� �!�%$�' ���/���"���������$%$�"��n
$�/����!�!�����	$���������	�
��$�� ���/����	�
��$�����.
$�/��
�����!
.�$��"���!$%����"��#��/�.
$�/$�'	��������$�$�' ������	�!��$���/�."�����$����(�����0�2��������>$'$�$����/�(�0�2 ogp�q77̂f̀r̂hs]h̀(��&���!��$�	���������t��#��/'�����������$��	��!���!���$��	����������$�$�"������$	��'���������"�.��
�/���t���."�%�$�
	����$�$���/����$�$�	�#$��$������'�
!����!��"�	�
��
�����#�$����������!��"�$	���!��(���	����	
��������� �����!��$�	��'����������"�$�����$%�	 ��.���	 �/�/
��$��	���������$����$���.����$�	���/���%�$��.�������������!��"�
�/����$	��'���������"�.���!!��$���/�����'�	�$/����$�$���/����$�$�	 ��	�/����$��/�."�����AEJYQKDuv�CQw�QLxBvEOv�QKL�Qv�HEJJUKBHQCSL�ZD�vQBL�QLxBvEOv�CE�CIS�yEHQVBCDM�zUCIEOBCD�QKL�>?��(���{|}~������� ��|�����|������~��{~�~|�������}�����}|�~��|���0�2 �̀g̀]��]�]8��hj]h̀r�]:l��>?�����	��	�$����/����������������#������#$��������$�	TZOSQ��SxSK�YEBKCW�ZD�CIS��SOFEOJQKHS��QCS����IS�ZOSQ���%���!�$������!��	���#��%��
�	���$��/��	����	
������������!$����-�%�	��������/�3�#�4�.	�����������$�$�"�#$������AEJJEK�SQVCIuv�SwYSKLBCUOSv�EK�/$	���$���"�$�����$%�	 �$���
/$�'�.
�������$�$��/�����������

�� ¡¢£¤¥�¦¥§̈©�ª̈�«�¬�®̄°±²³́µ²¶�́®¦�́·°̧�́ �̧¹¶®µ¦º̄±³±



���������	
���������������������������

������������� �!���������������"#�����������$�������%&���	����&�'�!��!�	�������"��������'�	��������(����$�� ����
��	)����� �"��(�*������'�)� +��������
������������ ,�-.#����/012343562�7802�98:�;32<1580�=3<01�>?/79;=@A�>/615B<12CAD� �EF#����/012343562�7802�G2<H�I384231J�K0L261B201�=3<01�>?/7GIK=@A�MN	������!OD� ���#����PNQ��+������������������ ���>?PRSI@A�M�&&�%������P��
�O� -��#����D +����'����T����"��(�	�������'�������&�	��U�����������'�	��		
��	����������V������"��&&���	�(�#���!����������$�������&&�'�	#�����%&��	�����(�����%�	��� �����&�	��U�����������
!���������!����$����������������"�	��	��+���&����!	��(��������������	�����T��
	�!�(������&
&�	�	�!�	��T�!�������������MTO���+���&����!	��(�����NWX�����!�����NWY�*�#��(��
����U�!#���"�T��
	�!�T"��������&��"�(����"���$(
��&
&�	����+���P+����&�	���	�$�Z(����!�'���&�����	�'���	����T��&�'�!�!�����������&��"�(����
���������!������� ����MTO [\]̂_̀[aba_�cd]adefbagh��+���V������"��%&���	����&�'�!������(����$�� ��������'�	#�	�������� � ���	�������$�	�#�(�������������"�T"�������(�������Q���)����� �"��(�*������'�)� +��������
���N%�	��� �N��������Q�'���&�����*������'�����������"���#�VV�� ,��.#����V�����N��������Q�'���&�����*������'�����������(�U�� �-.#����Y�����������		�	������M*�����!O� �.#������������������������������� ��#���������������������������������������������V�����N���&�	��W����*������'�	� i�#����*(#�T"�������(�������Q���#�����&����!	�!�	T
	�!�����������!����T��!�	T
	�!�T"�����V������"�����������&��"���������		����������,�-.#��������������������������j
������#�����V������"#�	
Tk��������&&�&������#�$������Z������!!�������� ���#���$����&�'�!���!!�����������l50C�623L5m26n�251o23�83�:81on�50�1o2�p8m<H51Jq6�C56m321580n�����������&��"������'��
���j
����������!�((������&��&��"��(���������(�������Q���#�	����� ��	��������&��"���	�������	�+� ��	��+���&����!	��(�������	������	���"�T��
	�!�T"��������&��"�(����"���$(
��&
&�	����+��������������		�	�����#�����&�����(��� ���#���!���������������&�	��U�����������'�	�$�����(�������	��	�'�� 	�����������&��"���r��$���	���!�� ���"���� ���������!�������	�� �������������������"#��������&��"���!�PNQ����Z��$��! ����!�� ������������'��
���(����������������		�	�����#�����&�����(��� ���#���!���������������&�	��U�����������'�	����T�	�!�
&��������	������!�'��
���(������'����T����"��(����	���������'�	�18�1o2�;8B4<0J�<0C�<32�50�<0�?s4�18@�83�?081�18�2tm22C@�<B8s01u��Ro2�;8B4<0J�<0C�v/wI�xs31o23�<ml08yH2Cz2�<0C�<z322�1o<1�68�H80z��	�	
����������'�	������!���'����T�������������&��"#�����V������"�	�����T��!����!������'��������	��T�� �����	������!����������!�������	��������������j
�����������������
������	&��!�� �������#�� �!��		��(�$�������������&��"��'���	���	��(��(���"�&����
����������'�#����$�������

{|}~����������|����{��������������{���{�����{��{����������



���������	
���������������������������

������ ��!�" #$%&'�()*&)$+,&-.��/��	��0������������	�	����1���������������� ��/��2
���3��������3�4���5���1������3�����������6�7���8������7�	���5�6�����6�7���8������7�	4��9�����3��������������4�:����;��0�7���5�;1�	����������0�����	�;��:��������������1���5������������	��33���0�����������������7�	 ����1�6�����6�7���8������7�	���7��7��0�������1���1����	��������������1����	
;<�������������������;1�������
�������5����������7�	���	���������5������������=!;" ���>?@ABCD�EF� GCHIJDK�L?ICMABDNF�!�" O'PQ'&--�R&SP'$+)Q.��/���TUVWXYZ�[\X]]�ŴU_̀abc�Xd�d\b�TUVWXYZe[�bfWbY[bc�������3����������5��������	�g9��;����4�5������5�7��3��������	���	3����1��������6������14������
�����14�XYa�hijk�Ul�d\b�TUVWXYZe[�ŴUm̂b[[�UY�d\b�nX̂mbd[o���
�����0�		�����	�:����;����7�5�5����
���14�	�����0����������4�����4���5���7���0���������5����
0����������p����;���� �
���4�����������1�	�������7�5��	
�����0�		�����	����	
������������	��	�����6������14�����
�����14���qgp����1���	���;�1��2
�� r���������	
�����0�		�����4�����������1�	�������������qgp���������
������5�;1�����������1�����������������5��1������q�0����������������������9 ��qgp�����;1����	���	��������������1������������	�5�	�	
�����3�����������;�����3�5��������������1���3��������������	��9�����3����
;����5�	���	
��
�5������q�0��������5����3�8�3��������������5������	
�����3��������:����;��
	�5�;1�qgp��	����1��������
�����0��00�0������
�������7�	��5�������������1	�	�3���
��	�	��3�0�
0��0������7������33����7���		��3����������5�7����������������7�	 �!;" s+)tu�R&SP'$.��/���TUVWXYZ�[\X]]�ŴU_̀abc�Xd�d\b�TUVWXYZe[�bfWbY[bc��������3���������5��������	�g9��;���v�wd\b�xỳYX]�zbWÛd{"4�5������5�7��3��������	���	3����1��������6������14������
�����14�XYa�hijk�Ul�d\b�TUVWXYZe[������7�������3�����/�0��	��	��3�������3�������p��� ��83�����������1�:�	��	������
����	�|�:�}�;	�����������:�<�;	��������������:������3����������	��������Zbb[�Ul�~UYd̂X~dÛ[c�X[�ab[~̂̀�ba�̀Y�d\b�abl̀Ỳd̀UY�Ul�x�b���U�c{�d\b�TUVWXYZ�:�����	���	�;���3����7�5��0��������6������14������
�����1���5�qgp������5��
��������������		�1����7��31�����2
���3���������3�	
���������:�<�;	��	�|�:�}�;	 ��/���������������	�����;��3���5�:���������5�1	��3���������3�������p��� �>?@ABCD��F� �?MB�B@JABCD�C���JMN?A�F�!�" �&'+�+*t$+P)�P���tS+$tu�(),&-$�&)$.��/���������1����;1��
������	�����6������14Ỳ~]�àYm�d\b��U~X]̀dZe[�p����������3��������4��������	�����qgp��d\b�TUVWXYZe[�̂bX]�b[dXdb���94�;
	���		���	����������1���9���5��������1���5�����	���9���3������� ���
�����3��������	�����;������5���5����	�5��5����3�5���������5��������1���5�	�����;��
	�5�;1�qgp��	����1�3��7��31��0�	���	3��������3�������������8�7�	������/�0�� ��83�����6������1e[�jbWX̂dVbYd�Ul���������	��
�5��2
����55��������5��
���������������	���	�3�������������1��������		�	
���ỲlÛVXd̀UYc�d\b�TUVWXYZ�[\X]]�ŴUVWd]Z�ŴU_̀abc�Xd�d\b�TUVWXYZe[�bfWbY[bc�[�~\�Xaàd̀UYX]�5��
���������������	���	��	���1�;���2
��5 ��8������5�����:����q�0�������5������������ ��

��������������� ��¡�¢�£¤¥¦§̈©£ª«̈¬�ª¤��£ª¦®�ª®�̄ ¬¤«�°¥§©§



���������	
���������������������������

��  !�"�#$%&�'(�)*+'+,)-�+.�/)0)'1)�+2)�3.456*78(�/)6,�)(+6+)�+69"�:;('*)((�5)/(.*6,�5/.5)/+7�+69���<�����=��>���<�����	���?�=�@����=���@�������A����=�>B��CDE� FGHIJIKLMINO�NJ�PGQ�RNST�LOU�VLWGTX��Y������Z��>��
	��	
D�=����Z=�	��@�=�	�@�
�4.(+�/)0)*+�$45,.7)/8(�[;6/+)/,7�\69�])5./+	�C���������E�̂=�������_=̀=�=��a�Z��>���������=		=���̂=��������=����b�Z��B��Y���@��	�	�����D����c�<���<����	=<��<����@=<���=�����<�Z�Z=���>���<�	�����D��
	�<�D>�_ad��	����>�@��e�=@>=�̀�	��=	@���=����@�����f�̂�g�D	�Y�̀��B��h������<�����̂=���_=̀=�=����<������=�����B����i"�#$%&�'(�)*+'+,)-�+.�/)0)'1)�+2)�3.456*78(���Z��>�������e�����<�̂�̀��=�@����=���@�������_=̀=�=��a�Z��>���������=		=��B��Y������Z��>��̀��	������=��̂=����Z����������_=̀=�=��a�Z��>���������=		=���̂=����	Z�������=�	���Z��>��	������@��=�=�>���e��j���������������������Z��>���e��B��C�E� kUUIMINOLl�mNKnoGOMLMINOX��h���<<=�=����������e�=@=���=���<����<�	�=D�<�=��	
D	���=��	�C�E���<�CDEj�=������	����<=	���=����@�����A����=�>j������
���=�>j���_ad�j�����A����=�>j������
���=�>j���_ad�j���>�������p
=��	
��������<��
������=��j�=���
<=�̀�=�e�=��	����
<=�	j��	���>�D���p
=�<����Z�Z��>�e�=@>�����Y�̀��	B��qrstuvw�xy� zw{|u}ut~�tv��v��}~y����� h@�����A����=�>���_ad��	�������	���D�>�<����=��������>��=���Z=�����������@�������d����������������Z��>�=	�
��D�����
�̂=��=�̀�����������<���=���=��=�	�Y�̀��	�D>���<����
̀��������@�������d���j���<�=@�����A����=�>j������
���=�>���_ad��	�������e��Z��Z��>����=@=�<��������Z��>��@�	
���<����=���=��"�+2)�3.456*78(�/'�2+(�2)/);*-)/�̂=����
�����=����>����=�������<��������������̂=���D��	=�
������
	�>���<�=�e���D�>�̂=��<�̂�B���
�����<����=���=���̂=���D��D�	�<����	
����=�
�	�����	��	���@=�=�̀�D>������D����@��@��������Z��>�
�<�����Z������@������B�B����c
Z��>���<�j������=p
=<��=����@��������Z��>j�����D��<��������@��������=�=�>�D>��������Z��>��������	=�=���	=̀�=@=������e���������<����	����	�������������Z��>�̂=���D��
��D�����=	�
�̂=��=�̀����	��=	@>�����Y�̀��	�@��������������B���h�������e�����������Z��>�<=	�̀��	�=̂��������		�		�����D>�����A����=�>���_ad��
�<����=	�����=����j��������Z��>���>�<=	Z
���	�=<��		�		�����D>����
	���������Z���<
���
��=��<�=������=����C@E�Cd=	Z
���b�	��
�=��EB���qrstuvw��y� �vtusr�y����� ���������=��	���<�����
�=���=��	�D��̂��������Z��=�	�	�����D��̀=e����=����D>�C=E�Z�	�����	�e=��j�C==E�<��=e�>�D>����Z
��D���<��
�����<��=e�>�	�e=��������Z�e=<�	������=Z��	��̂=�̀�<������<��=����@�<��=e�>j�C===E���=�=�̀�
�=�=�=�̀������=@=�<���@=	�����		���=��Z�	��̀��Z�Z�=<�	�e=����@�������=��<������	���	������e=��������Z�e=<�	������=Z��	��̂=�̀�<������<��=����@�<��=e�>B��f��=��	���<�����
�=���=��	�Z�	�����>�<��=e��<���<��=e��<�D>�<��
�����<��=e�>�	�e=���	�����D��<����<��@@���=e��
Z������=Z�B�f��=��	���<�����
�=���=��	���=��<�	�����D��<����<��@@���=e���������	����<�D
	=��		�<�>�@����̂=�̀�<�Z�	=��=��������=��<������	���=�B��f��=��	���<�����
�=���=��	�<��=e��<�D>����=��	�����D��<����<��@@���=e��������?��D
	=��		�<�>j�������		�����������
	j�@����̂=�̀�����<�����@����	�=�������<����@=���=����@�<��=e�>��������=����<�<���=Z=���B���
���̂=��������=��	���<�����
�=���=��	�	�����D���<<�		�<������=@�����������Z��>j������ � � � ��<�����

������������������������� ¡¢£�¤¥¢¦�¤����¤§ ̈�¤̈�©¦�¥�ª�¡£¡



���������	
���������������������������

�������	
����������������� !"��#������$��%�&���'�()���*�+��,��!�-������.).$��	�#/���.��0�������!��-�������).�$��	�#'���1'�2!�����	!%����3����%'�����$31� ���� !"��#������$��%�&���'�()���*�+��,��!�-����4�#.�.5���/���.��0�������!��-����4�#�5���'�2!�����	!%�����������	
������������� �4����6���!��	�������!��	�!7�������� ����!�#'���-� 8!�������6#���-��!�#��7�$!�����%'�2!4!�!������,.�9��%���.'��
!�������$!�����%'�2!4!�!���������,��!�-��:���#�/!�����%4�:.����������!��-��0�#�� �!�#��7�$!�����%'�2!4!�!������,.�9��%���.'��
!�������$!�����%'�2!4!�!���������,��!�-��"���!�.�	���#/!�����%4�:.����������!��-��!�#�������#�!7���������
���!�#'���-� 8!�������6#���-�,�����!��1�:���6������
���!�#��7������!�#��7�$!�����%'�2!4!�!���+���,�	��0�!���������
!�������$!�����%'�2!4!�!��������,��!�-�)���.0��	��/�
!	�.����������!��-����!'�9��%��7�1!����	� ,�����!��1�:���6������
���!�#��7������!�#��7�$!�����%'�2!4!�!�������&� �!4��������$!�����%'�2!4!�!���������,��!�-�����.��!�%	/!�����%4�:.����������!��-�0���4����������#	��!7����2,1�'���-� 8!�������6#���-�2!4!�!��,�����!��1�:���6����������	�!6�����)���	������'��
!�����������,�	����#�������$!�����%'�2!4!�!���������,��!�-������/:�%6.�4�������!��-���	!%������%��,�� 2!4!�!��,�����!��1�:���6����������	�!6�����)���	������'��
!�����������,�	����#�������$!�����%'�2!4!�!���������,��!�-��	���!���/:�%6.�4�������!��-�����������
�	���;<=>?@A�BC� D?E=<FFGA<@HEC�I�J KLMNOP�QROPPSPLMT�QSPLUSPLMVW��5�!	��4����������	�!�
��	��������!���4����������4�����6��!�	��������	�������������������%���#�����"������%�%�����%!7!�%'��X��6��!��8!�!�4'�	!4��%�"#�������7�����6��!�	������.��5�!	��4�������	�����"��"!�%!�4�
6�����%�!�
���������"���7!���7�����6��!�	���������%����!��	6���!:��	
���		�	���%��		!4�	.��5������6��#���#������		!4��!�	�!4��	���%��"�!4��!��	�
�%����!	��4�������8!���
������6!��8!��������	�����7����� ����!�#'������
���!�#���%�2,1�'�6�:!%�%���8�:����������6!�����	����	�����"���Y
!�%�7������		!4�������7�Z[\]̂_̀ab�cdefgb�[c�[hidêgd[_b�j_klc���!	��4�������!��8�������!��6���"#�

mnopqrst�utvwxnyw�zm{�|}~����|����m�}um|����m��m��}�u�~���



���������	
���������������������������

��������	�����
��	����������������� !
��	�"�#$% &'()*+,+-�./01�2)+3)4��5� 
��6��	�� 
���78��	7� 
� 	�	77����$���9���78 	���������	:������	7�
�����$���	
���7��	7�	9���7� 	������7�	��: ��������:
��9���������	:����"��;�� 
7 �� �	��	7�!	��9����	��� � 6�� �	��� 
 	6������9���� 	!��! 	6��� 
��6��	��
������ � 	����� ��� ���������9����� ����9�< ����	78��	7�
����� � 6�� �	�
�����$�$���6����	��� 	�
���������"�#�% ='3+>)*?/*>@4��5� 
��6��	������$�A���7� 	��	�����������	������
8�����9�:� ���
�����$��	��� 6 	��8��	7������9�:� �����6����
�����$��	��	7����
��� 	
����	�"�#7% B)()*/C,D,>E4��F9��	�����! 
 �	��9��� 
��6��	�� 
�7��� 	7����$�		9����$�8� 	!�� 7���� ��6��8���	����	9����$ � ��8�!�� 7 ����	7��6�� ����9������� 	 	6����! 
 �	
�: ���	��� 	��	��:���$��99��7���� ��� �78��	7�
�������! 
 �	�: ���$�7�7����$��
���7�����9��������� 6 	��� 	�	� �	
��9�������� 
��
�	������
���

 $�� 	������7�	��: ������� ��$����:"�#% G>>'*+)E@H�I))@4�������	�
J�9
�
�����$��� 7�$����������� 	���� 	6�
����9
"#9% K,@?3>)�L)@'D3>,'+M��F	����!	���9��	��7 
���8���	���!�
�������� ���9��	��N 	7���	������� 
 	6��	7����� 	���		�� �	�: ����� 
��6��	��# 	���7 	6�7 
���
��
����������� �	8�OPQRSRTUV�WX�RYTZX[XZTPTRWY�W\�T]R̂�_̀XZZaZYTb�cP�deR̂[fTZgbV�T]ZY�f[WY����:� ��	��h�
���9��	�������8������9�������� 
�: ������� 	����7
 6	��7�
	 ���A��� !�:��
���
N� ��: ���$�������9�����������
��9�	7�!�� 	6�����
��!����� 
���"��5��7
 6	��7�A��� !
�: �������
��9�	��
�������� 
���
�	�$���7��	�

���� 	���7�����6������	7�9��	 
����������������� 	9����� �	�: ����
���������������� 	� 

��:� ���������� 
�$� !����$�������� ����	7�6���	� 	���		�� �	�: ��� �
��
���� �	"�������A��� !
�: ���7 
��

����� 
�����	7�: ���	6�� ��� 	�6��7�9� ��� 	��	�99��������
��!����� 
����: ���������	�

 ����9��	��9����������7 	6����� 	6������"��5��
�� 9 ��9������9���
����7 
��

 �	
�: ���$��9��������7 
��� �	��9����A��� !
�$������� 	���7����������� �	��9��6�7����	�
����	�
��9�9�������:� ��	�
����	�
��9���
 � �	�9��	 
�7�����������������"��i��9����������7 	6
�9�������
���� �	��9����� 
��������$�����	�7��	� �������� ������������9�#�%���6��7�9� ������������	���
 �	�$�����A��� !
�������� ��$���
���� �	������6����	� 	�7�	6�� �� �	��9���������� 	� 

��7�
�	���������� N������#$%����j����7����9������ 	 � ����h�
�����	6�� ������� 
���"��F9�����
���� �	��9����� 
�����h� �
��	�������������N8�������
����$���N	���������
���N 	68�
������ �	8�
����������
�����$����! 77�����
�	�$���� �7��9�� �8�	������A�7�	 	���#j�%�7��
8������N8�������
8���������
���N 	68�
������� �	"�k<lm�Fi�l<�������l�Fi5li5F�i�nno�pn�i�q��F�i�5r<l����l���nn�s�t�

uvwxyz{|�}|~��v����u��������������u��}u�����u��u����}�����



����������	
���������������������������

����� �!""��#!$!%&'�����(��)�	���������*����
	�+���)	���,��������-����������.���/��
��+�.���0�.1����)�+
�1��
���)2�+��(�	�����)*�	'��	��,�����+����,)	���.�*��0)����3�4� 5�%&�$�4#6%�78�9�$:���;�<1������=)���>�����?���>�@@@@@@@@@@@@@@@@@@@@@@@@@�!4%�%6�4�7!9!A%B6!� �;C #%$� 5�%&� #!�4� 5�%&�$�4#6%�78�9�$:���;�<1������D���>�������=)���>�����?���>�@@@@@@@@@@@@@@@@@@@@@@@@@�;A;4!$�4%$BE�<1������D���>��� F)	��?�����1������=)���>����� �G����������(�H���?���>�@@@I
�1J'�����@@@@@@@@@@@@@@@@@@�9�$:���;�!4%�%6�4�7!9!A%B6!� �B;$ �!$"#�B�;C #%$� 5�<1������D���>�������=)���>�����?���>�@@@@@@@@@@@@@@@@@@@@@@@@@�K/�).)���>����
�����-�		�L�(�������K/�).)��<>��)����L�(�������

MNNOPQRS�MT�UP�VPOWX�YYYYYYYYYYYYYYYYYYYYYYYYYYYYYY�SZ[\]̂�_̀]̂�M]]abcẐ �����D���>��de�fe�ghijkli�mnoipqrs�tuhqv�wpxhihsyrnyhzq�{vvhjqr�
|}~���}�������~����������������

�������
�������������������� �¡¢£¤¥¦§¡̈©¦ª�̈¢��¡̈«¤¬�̈¬�ª¢©�®£¥§¥

°̄±²³́±µ¶�·�̧¹º»¼½¼¾¿¾¾ÀÁ²Âµ�¹Ã�ÄÂÅÆ³



���������	
���������������������������

���� �����!""#!$�%&'(&)**�&)%'&+�,-..-/01234567�81913-:.1/4�-::-;4</=4>�?</8�%&'@)A+�*#BB!&CD����E���F������	�����	���G����	����G����	��HI����	J�����K���G����	��L���%&'@)A+�%)&M'&B!"A)D�%NOPQORSTUN�BNSVWONRNTX� +SOYNX� !V�QP�ZZZZZZZ� [�AQR\]NXN�"N̂�@Q_V�̀�a��bbb� �
��	c����	G�K	���a�����J��d���� �����K� e���G����	��L���
��d	�� �a�̀���f��	c� ��J��g h�K����g F�d�gAS\iXS]�jTkNVXRNTX�̀I��a�K� ��fK�d	� ��dc����	G�K	���a�����J��d���� �����K� e���G����	��L���
��d	�� �a�̀���f��	c� ��J��g h�K����g F�d�g!kNOSYN�!TTWS]�lSYN� mn����	G�K	���a�����J��d���� �����K� e���G����	��L���
��d	�� �a�̀���f��	c� ��J��g h�K����g F�d�g*XSToSOo�MOiTYN�pNTNPiXV��̀��f��	c� q
�g m��g mn��riOYiTiS�AQO\QOSXN�jTUQRN�+Ss�%Sio�iT�%OiQO�AS]NToSO�CNSO�� t�
��L����d���� �a��G�K��
�	J�u��J�	�����I��e�	�������

��	�����K
v���L����d���� �a��G�K�d�����������e�����K
v���w��
���	G�K	������	G�������	��
�I�����K�G����K�
���
���I��
��	�����x��v���y�zv���G���{�v�

|}~�����������}����|��������������|���|�����|��|����������



���������	
���������������������������

��� !�"�#$%&'!(&$!�)*&�+,-.$� /(-0$!�1�	2� 3�1�	2�4�5��6�	�
� 3�78���	
�����9�	����:;5�	
9�	� 3�<	�6��9�	����=�9�29	>�?5�@9�� 3����2���9�	�A���9	�B��	2�C���
� 3����	9���D��9;���
��	2�:E�95�	�� 3������ 3����������F-!�"� G�HIIJKFLM�N9
��

�5��O���
����
D�9	���29	>��������	���6���@�	8�O�P
��	2���59����9	6
��	�D�5��>�

�QR�STUVWSXY�Z[TRVWX�QU�\]̂W\_�Z[TRVWX�]R�̀UQaWZSbX�RTScUW�S[TS�dT_�]d̀ TZS�TZ[]WeWdWRS�Qf����>�
D��	2������9	@�����9�	���6�	�����5��O���5�@����	�g��4@����5��O���9
�	����	�����h����������>�
D�5��
�5��692��	�;5��	��9�	g�FH�)J��JiF#j#Jk�)l�/K�Hjj#�Ji�Hj�FmJ��HIn/KlM�4����9@B������4���6�;��9	2���9
��5�����	2�������P
���@��B�h	�8�2>��	2�P�9@D�9��9
����D�������D��	2����5��g����5�	Bo�����P�9��2�=Bo��9>	������@��@@9�9���7��o���9	��7���C9��o��N��o�ppppppppppppppppppppp����
�����	���o��9��:����D�4	�	�96
�����29	����D�q9�>9	9��:��	��9��N6��5�	������	�
�95D�r�sgtstgt��rD�h����u625g��>�

vwxyz{|}�~}���w����v��������������v��~v�����v��v����~�����



���������	
���������������������������

��� ! ��"�#$%&'�()*+(,�-.//.012345678�92:24.;/205�.;;.<5=0>5?�@=09�*(+A)B,�CDEE&(FG����H���I���� �	�����	���J����	����J����	��K���*(+A)B,�*)(#+(E&%B)GL*MNOPNQRSTM�EMRUVNMQMSW� ,RNXMW� &U�PO�YYYYYYY� Z�BPQ[\MWM�%M]�AP̂U�_�̀��������!�
� 	a�BR[bWR\�$ScMUWQMSW�_d��̀ e�!��fe�g	�!��ga�&cMNRXM�&SSVR\�hRXM� ij��CWRSkRNk�#NbSXM�lMSMObWU�mbNXbSbR�BPN[PNRWM�$STPQM�,Rn�*Rbk�bS�*NbPN�BR\MSkRN�FMRN� o�BR[bWR\�$ScMUWQMSW�lNMRpkP]S� &QPVSW�I�	e� o�I�	e�q�d��̀�	�
� o�ig���	
����� �	������d�	
 �	� o�r	�̀�� �	����"� �e 	s�td�J �� o����e��� �	�u��� 	�v��	e�w���
� o����	 ���x�� ����
��	e��y� d�	�� o������ o����������,PWR\� z��{|}~���~���~���������~}����|����������������}������������|��������|}������|��������������������~}����J������
����	���������v�w���rd���
�_����������a�J �e�g ������� �s 	 ����d��v�	������ 

 �	����K����g ���!�̀� J e��
 	s�����e
�J����������� 

 �	���J����r̀	���	ex� J��y�
�ex� 	̀� �
����w� 
���	J e	� ��� 	J����� �	� 
�d�����e�J����e 
���
���d��
��	�������������������J���q���

���� ¡¢£�¤£¥¦§�̈¦�©�ª�«¬®̄°±«²³°́�²¬¤�«²µ®¶�²¶�·́¬³¤̧ ̄ ±̄



���������	
���������������������������

�� !��"!# $%������������� �""&'#(%�)*
��

����+���
����
�������*�,����	���-�������+��������������*�.��	/��0*�	1�
#��2&� &3#454&6�27�!'��554 &3��5�#$&� �"8!'7%�9����*-.������9���:�;��*	/���*
��,�����	/�������<
���-��.�=	�>�/0��	/�<�*-?�*��*
����?�������?��	/����,��1����,�	.@�����<�*��/�A.@��*0	������-��--*�*���B��@���*	��B���C*��@��)��@�DDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDD����
�����	���@��*��E����?�9	�	�*:
�����/*	����?�F*�0*	*��E��	��*��):��,�	������	�
�*,?�G�H1�H�1���G?�=����I:/,1��0�

JKLMNOPQ�RQSTUKVT�WJX�YZ[\]̂_ỲâbJ̀ZRJỲc\dJ̀dJebZaRf[]_]



 

EDA Credit Card 



 

Update on 2401 West Leigh Street Facility 
Operations and Maintenance 



BON SECOURS  

TRAINING CENTER 

FINANCIAL REPORTS 

NOVEMBER 2023

DISTRIBUTION: 

EDA FINANCE COMMITTEE 

LISA JONES – A.G. REESE AND ASSOCIATES 

NATHAN HUGHES – SPERITY REAL ESTATE VENTURES  

LEONARD SLEDGE – DEPT OF ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 

ASM 

BOB PAPKE, VICE PRESIDENT - THEATERS 

GLENN MAJOR, GENERAL MANAGER 

JEFFREY WONG, SVP FINANCE - AMERICAS 

PREPARED 

12/20/2023
DISTRIBUTED 

12/20/2023

DocuSign Envelope ID: EE90B2F0-88DD-40EA-A2D6-A0B122392CDD



Page

Profit & Loss Budget Performance……………………………… 1

Rolling Forecast……………………………………………….. 2

     Event Income Statement……………………………………… 3

     Indirect Expense Forecast …………………………………… 4

Balance Sheet………………………………………………….. 7

A/R Aging, A/P Aging, Event Deposit Schedule…..................  8

Income Statement………………………………………………  9

Indirect Expense Detail………………………………………… 11

Monthly & Yearly Highlights…………………………………… 14

BON SECOURS TRAINING CENTER
FINANCIAL REPORTS

INDEX

DocuSign Envelope ID: EE90B2F0-88DD-40EA-A2D6-A0B122392CDD



 BON SECOURS TRAINING CENTER

 Profit Loss Budget Performance
 NOVEMBER 2023

Nov-22 Nov-23 YTD Actual YTD Budget Annual Budget
Ordinary Income/Expense

Income
Event Income 10,897.00 17,491.00 124,114.00 71,025.00 71,025.00
Advertising & Other Income 0.00 10,816.00 13,133.00 0.00 0.00
Parking Income 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
1st Floor Ground Rent 1,767.00 1,767.00 8,837.00 0.00 10,602.00
2nd Floor Ground Rent 563.00 563.00 2,814.00 0.00 3,378.00
1st Floor Rent 25,484.00 25,484.00 127,422.00 0.00 152,904.00
2nd Floor Rent 13,448.00 13,448.00 67,240.00 0.00 80,688.00
1st Floor CAM 16,625.00 16,625.00 83,125.00 0.00 99,750.00
2nd Floor CAM 7,695.00 7,695.00 38,475.00 327,910.00 46,170.00
Rental Income-Westhampton -   -   -  
Sponsorship Fee-Bon Secours -   -   -  -    -  

Total Income 76,479.00 93,889.00 465,160.00 398,935.00 464,517.00
Expense

Bank Service Charges -   -   -  
Depreciation Expense -   -   -  -    -  
General and Administrative 5,795.00 1,219.00 13,778.00 12,900.00 16,839.00
Grounds Maintenance 6,005.00 9,709.00 48,547.00 50,380.00 60,456.00
Insurance Expense 2,329.00 -1,767.00 7,323.00 9,833.00 11,799.00
Janitorial Service Supplies 1,463.00    1,463.00 7,464.00 7,535.00 9,042.00
Maintenance Expense 17,240.00 -1,045.00 17,985.00 45,718.00 57,163.00
Base Management Fee 1,057.00    1,205.00 6,317.00 5,250.00 6,300.00
Incentive Management Fee 557.00  0.00 4,486.00 2,500.00 3,000.00
Operations 2,488.00 1,011.00 20,136.00 14,550.00 20,460.00
Additional Training Camp Expenses 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Payroll Expenses 174.00 3,696.00 5,751.00 3,880.00 4,656.00
Ground Rent Expense 3,380.00    3,380.00 16,900.00 16,900.00 20,280.00
Repairs and Maintenance -   0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Security Service 838.00 644.00 4,742.00 2,700.00 3,240.00
Staffing 14,011.00 2,775.00 73,824.00 68,573.00 87,376.00
Telephone Expense 605.00 605.00 3,400.00 3,025.00 3,630.00
Utilities 8,425.00 7,439.00 45,247.00 43,110.00 51,732.00

Total Expense 64,367.00 30,334.00 275,900.00 286,854.00 355,973.00
Net Ordinary Income 12,112.00  63,555.00  189,260.00     112,081.00  108,544.00    
Other Income/Expense

Other Income
Interest Income-Cking 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Total Other Income 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Net Other Income 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Net Income 12,112.00  63,555.00  189,260.00     112,081.00  108,544.00    

Tabitha Sechrist, Director of Facility Accounting Glenn Major, General Manager

An ASM Managed Facility1

DocuSign Envelope ID: EE90B2F0-88DD-40EA-A2D6-A0B122392CDD



11/30/23
ACTUAL ROLLING TOTAL

YTD FORECAST 12/31/23  STUB FYE2024 VARIANCE FYE2023 VARIANCE

NO. EVENTS 39 0 39 21 18 60 (21)  
ATTENDANCE 52,909 0 52,909 14,285 38,624 20,210 32,699   

DIRECT EVENT INCOME 123,213 0 123,213 47,875 75,338 134,780 (11,567)  
ANCILLARY INCOME 900 0 900 3,150 (2,250) 1,572 (672)  
FACILITY FEES & REBATES 0 0 0 20,000 (20,000) 6,728 (6,728)  

TOTAL EVENT INCOME 124,114 0 124,113 71,025 53,088 143,081 (18,968)  

OTHER INCOME 341,046  65,582 406,628 393,492 13,136 798,669 (392,041)  

INDIRECT EXPENSES
 EXECUTIVE 27,954 8,893 36,847 47,285 10,438 83,798 46,951   
 FINANCE 12,576 1,880 14,456 4,906 (9,550) 31,502 17,046   
 MARKETING 864 250 1,114 3,012 1,898 5,651 4,537   
 OPERATIONS 145,419 38,005 183,424 191,047 7,623 317,768 134,344   
 OVERHEAD 78,284 26,137 102,815 100,423 (2,392) 220,670 117,855   

  TOTAL INDIRECT EXP. 265,097 75,166 338,657 346,673 8,016 659,389 320,732   

MANAGEMENT FEE 10,803 1,606 12,409 9,300 (3,109) 20,168 7,759   

NET INCOME - OPERATING 189,260 (11,190) 179,677 108,544 71,133 262,194 (82,517)  

ESTIMATED FY24 BASE MANAGEMENT FEE:
ESTIMATED FY24 INCENTIVE MANAGEMENT FEE:

*ASM CONTRACT ENDS 12/31/23

8,160.69$   
4,486.00$   

BON SECOURS TRAINING CENTER
ROLLING FORECAST SUMMARY

STUB FISCAL YEAR ENDING DECEMBER 31, 2023*
SUMMARY FOR THE FIVE MONTHS ENDING NOVEMBER 2023

BUDGET OPERATING RESULTS

2

DocuSign Envelope ID: EE90B2F0-88DD-40EA-A2D6-A0B122392CDD



BON SECOURS TRAINING CENTER
ROLLING FORECAST

ROLL
DIRECT FEES & TOTAL SERVICES TOTAL TOTAL TOTAL EVT INC

EVENT NO. ATTND EVENT INC. ANCILLARY REBATES EVENT INC. NO. ATTND. RENT INCOME DIR. INC. CATERING CONCESSIONS ANCILL. REBATES FEES EVT. INC. FY 6/22

Assemblies 701
-  -   -   -  

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 -   0 0 0 0 0 -   -  
Banquets 702
07.27.23 MBL RVA LINKUP 1  100   5,450   -  -  5,450   -   0 - 5,450  
08.19.23 Walker Birthday Party 1  300   5,197   5,197   -   0 - 5,197  
09.09.23 Joyner Wedding 1  350   5,957   -  -  5,957   -   0 - 5,957  
09.21.23 Chamber CollegeJam 1  100   4,160   -  -  4,160   -   0 - 4,160  
09.30.23 Coley Wedding 1  100   5,093   -  -  5,093   -   0 - 5,093  
10.13.23 Empty Plate Luncheon 1  350   4,304   -  -  4,304   -   0 - 4,304  
11.02.23 YMCA Chairman's Roundtable 1  300   4,111   -  -  4,111   -   0 - 4,111  
11.18.23 Wallach Bar Mitzvah 1  100   6,325   -  -  6,325   -   0 - 6,325  
11.14.23 Pitch VA 1  200   4,752   -  -  4,752   -   0 - 4,752  
PAST EVENTS FY23 (400) 846  446   -   0 - 446  

9 1,900 44,949 846 0 45,795 0 0 0 0 -   0 0 0 0 0 - 45,795  

Concerts 704
08.26.23 Iron Blossom Festival 2  21,079   32,302   32,302   -   0 - 32,302  

2 21,079 32,302 0 0 32,302 0 0 0 0 -   0 0 0 0 0 - 32,302  

EDA Complimentary Meetings 708 -  
07.08.23 GRTC Meeting 1  21   1,468   1,468   -   -  -   1,468   
08.11.23 Mayor Youth Academy 1  200   540   54   594   -   -  -   594   
08.11.23 City DPU Family and Friends Day 1  200   519   519   -   -  -   519   
11.16.23 All Hands DPU 1  250   635   -  -  635   -   0 - 635  
11.07.23 Polling Station Election Day 1  3,000   997   -  997   -   -  - 997            

5 3,671 4,160 54 0 4,214 0 0 0 0 -   0 0 0 0 0 - 4,214  

Sporting Events 709
08.02-08.05.24 VCU Soccer 15  855   8,100   -  -  8,100   -   0 - 8,100  
09.02.23 Parks and Rec Football 1  2,000   4,101   -  -  4,101   -   0 - 4,101  
11.25.23 Armstrong City Event 1  1,000   1,469   1,469   -   0 - 1,469  

17 3,855 13,671 0 0 13,671 0 0 0 0 -   0 0 0 0 0 - 13,671  

Other 712
07.08.23 SMOKE AND VINE FESTIVAL 1  1,104 6,944 6,944   -   0 - 6,944  
10.21.23 Pumpkin Festival 1  10,000 4,718 4,718   -   0 - 4,718  
10.22.23 VA Pride Fest 1  10,000   5,078   -  -  5,078   -   -  - 5,078         
10.14.23 Lupus Walk 1  700 2,886 2,886   -   0 - 2,886  
10.28.23 Ask Fall Festival 1  100 2,885 2,885   -   0 - 2,885  
10.29.23 Postal Service Union Picnic 1  500 5,623 5,623   -   0 - 5,623  

-  -   - -
6 22,404 28,135 0 0 28,135 0 0 0 0 -   0 0 0 0 0 - 28,135  

TOTAL EVENT INCOME 39 52,909 123,216 900 0 124,116 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 124,116

YEAR-TO-DATE REMAINING PROJECTION

3

DocuSign Envelope ID: EE90B2F0-88DD-40EA-A2D6-A0B122392CDD



BON SECOURS TRAINING CENTER
ROLLING FORECAST

FOR THE STUB YEAR ENDING DECEMBER 31, 2023

YTD as of December Total TOTAL BUDGET
11/30/23 2023 Forecast FYE2024 FYE 12/31/23

OTHER INCOME
ADVERTISING INCOME 0 -  -  -  0
TENANT INCOME 327,913 65,582 65,582  393,495  393,492
OTHER INCOME 13,133 -  -  13,133  0
MISC INCOME 0 -  -  0
TOTAL OTHER INCOME 341,046 65,582 65,582  406,628  393,492  

December Total TOTAL BUDGET
2023 Forecast FYE2024 FYE 12/31/23

EXECUTIVE
SALARIES 24,231 6,300 6,300  30,531  31,500
BONUS 4,620 1,260 1,260  5,880  6,300
PAYROLL TAXES 740 567 567  1,307  3,150
EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (2,157) 316 316  (1,841)  1,578
401k 461 316 316  777  1,578
PROFESSIONAL FEES-LEGAL 0 85 85  85  425
Dues & Subscriptions 59 50 50  109  2,754

-  -  
TOTAL EXECUTIVE 27,954 8,893 8,893  36,847  47,285  

December Total TOTAL BUDGET
2023 Forecast FYE2024 FYE 12/31/23

FINANCE
PROFESSIONAL FEES - OTHER 0 -  -  -  0
DUES AND SUBSCRIPTIONS 6,825 1,365 1,365  8,190  250
PAYROLL PROCESSING 5,751 515 515  6,266  4,656
TOTAL FINANCE 12,576 1,880 1,880  14,456  4,906  

4

DocuSign Envelope ID: EE90B2F0-88DD-40EA-A2D6-A0B122392CDD



BON SECOURS TRAINING CENTER
ROLLING FORECAST

FOR THE STUB YEAR ENDING DECEMBER 31, 2023

YTD as of December Total TOTAL BUDGET
11/30/23 2023 Forecast FYE2024 FYE 12/31/23

MARKETING -  
DUES & SUBSCRIPTIONS 864  250  250  1,114  3,012
TOTAL MARKETING 864  250 250  1,114  3,012  

OPERATIONS 
Salaries Administration 21,231  4,800  4,800  26,031  30,375  
General Event Wages 12,922  3,223  3,223  16,145  -  
Commission -  -  -  -  1,200  
Payroll Taxes 2,889  607  607  3,496  3,036  
Benefits 7,496  1,160  1,160  8,656  4,556  
401 (k) 773  304  304  1,077  1,519  
Contracted Security 4,742  1,025  1,025  5,767  3,240  
Contracted Cleaning 7,464  1,808  1,808  9,272  9,042  
Contracted Landscaping 48,547  9,709  9,709  58,256  60,456  
Operating Supplies 914  500  500  1,414  3,090  
Trash Removal 3,935  950  950  4,885  -  
Snow Removal -  -  -  -  3,000  
Sand & Salt -  -  -  -  500  
Landscaping 4,251  1,417  1,417  5,668  500  
Exterminating 1,548  240  240  1,788  1,200  
Exterior Window Clean 2,512  -  -  2,512  4,500  
Small Equipment -  -  -  -  400  
Safety Equipment 153  40  40  193  350  
Rental Other 2,078  277  277  2,355  1,386  
Vehicle Expense -  -  -  -  250  
General Building Repairs - 1,500 1,500  1,500  2,500  
Yearly Electrical Inspection - - -  -  498  
Computer Expense - - -  -  600  
Elevator Escalator - 500 500  500  1,002  
Field Maintenance 7,259  2,000 2,000  9,259  15,000   
Sprinkler Sys Prev Maintenance -  -  -  -  1,626  
Floor Maintenance -  -  -  -  1,500  
HVAC Systems 1,703  300  300  2,003  1,500  
Maintenance Agreements 420  1,732  1,732  2,152  8,661  
Other Repairs/Maintenance - 1,000 1,000  1,000  4,998  
Park Maintenance 8,603  3,856 3,856  12,459  19,278  
General Building Supplies 734  500  500  1,234  2,500  
Plumbing 163  200  200  363  1,000  
Filters 203  100  100  303  500  
Janitorial 4,712  257  257  4,969  1,284  
Uniforms 167  -  -  167  -  
TOTAL OPERATIONS 145,419  38,005  38,005  183,424  191,047  

5

DocuSign Envelope ID: EE90B2F0-88DD-40EA-A2D6-A0B122392CDD



BON SECOURS TRAINING CENTER
ROLLING FORECAST

FOR THE STUB YEAR ENDING DECEMBER 31, 2023

YTD as of December Total TOTAL BUDGET
OVERHEAD 11/30/23 2023 Forecast FYE2024 FYE 12/31/23
WORKERS COMP INSURANCE 618  200  200 818  2,250
BANK SERVICE CHARGES 1,598  400  400 1,998  1,182
POSTAGE -  -  -  -  100
RENTAL OFFICE EQUIPMENT 1,029  247  247 1,276  1,236
OFFICE SUPPLIES -  -  -  -  498
RENT EXPENSE 16,900  3,380  3,380 20,280  20,280
COMPUTER EXPENSE 2,468  442  442 2,910  4,200
COMPUTER MAINTENANCE -  -  -  -  2,400
CABLE EXPENSE 21  223  223 244  1,116
INSURANCE EXPENSES 5,443  3,390  3,390 8,833  6,684
UMBRELLA COVERAGE 1,560  1,023  1,023 2,583  5,115
ELECTRICITY 29,310  7,500  7,500 36,810  37,110
TELEPHONE 3,400  726  726 4,126  3,630
WATER & SEWER & GAS 15,937  7,000  7,000 22,937  14,622
BASE FEE 6,317  1,606  1,606 7,923  6,300
INCENTIVE FEE 4,486  -  -  4,486  3,000
 TOTAL OVERHEAD 89,087  26,137  26,137 115,224  109,723 

6

DocuSign Envelope ID: EE90B2F0-88DD-40EA-A2D6-A0B122392CDD



Bon Secours Training Center
Balance Sheet

November 30, 2023

ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash $ 282,298
Accounts Receivable 54,142
Prepaid Assets (10,965)
Inventory 0

Total Current Assets 325,475
Fixed Assets
Fixed Assets 0
Accumulated Depreciation 0

Total Fixed Assets 0
Other Assets
Other Assets 0
Deposits 0

Total Other Assets 0

Total Assets $ 325,475

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current Liabilities
Accounts Payable $ 49,642
Accrued Expenses 23,791
Deferred Income 65,582
Advance Ticket Sales/Deposits 0

Total Current Liabilities 139,015
Long-Term Liabilities
Long Term Liabilites 0

Total Long-Term Liabilities 0

Total Liabilities 139,015
Equity
Contributions (2,771,135)
Net Funds Received 0
Retained Earnings 2,768,331
Net Income (Loss) 189,260

Total Equity 186,456

Total Liabilities & Equity $ 325,471

An ASM Managed Facility
7

DocuSign Envelope ID: EE90B2F0-88DD-40EA-A2D6-A0B122392CDD



Total Amount Due %
Accounts Receivable

Current 13,903   25.68%
Past Due 30 Days 6,519     12.04%
Past Due 60 Days 5,578     10.30%
Past Due 90 + Days 28,141   51.98%
Total Accounts Receivable 54,141   100%

Explanation of Items Due 90 + Days
Event Date

American Heart Association Event Resent to Client

Bon Secours Primary Care Monthly Resent to Client

Bon Secours Physical Therapy Monthly Resent to Client

Bon Secours Rent - CAM Monthly Resent to Client

City of Richmond Event Resent to Client

Blue Grey Events Events Resent to Client

RVA FASHION WEEK 4/23/2023 Resent to Event
 ZAKIA HALL BABY SHOWER 5/1/2023 Resent to Event
 VA ROYALS FOOTBALL 4/3/2022 Resent to Event

Total Amount Due %
Accounts Payable

Current 35,533   121.60%
Past Due 30 Days (5,128)   -17.55%
Past Due 60 Days (784)   -2.68%
Past Due 90 + Days (400)   -1.37%
Total Accounts Payable 29,221   100%

Explanation of Items Due 90 + Days

Event Date Deposit Received %

-   0%

Customer Name Comment:

BON SECOURS TRAINING CENTER

Schedule of A/R Aging
11/30/2023

A/R Aging, A/P Aging, and Event Deposit Schedule

Amount

11/30/2023

Event

Schedule of A/P Aging
11/30/2023

Schedule of Event Deposits

1,182$      

1,248$      

7,209$      
526$      

2,565$      
5,446$      
5,311$      

1,784$      
2,565$      

8

DocuSign Envelope ID: EE90B2F0-88DD-40EA-A2D6-A0B122392CDD



Bon Secours Training Center
Income Statement

For the Five Months Ending November 30, 2023

Current Month
Actual

Current Month
Budget

Current Month
Prior Year

Year to Date
Actual

Year to Date
Budget

Year to Date
Prior Year

EVENT INCOME
Direct Event Income
Rental Income $ 12,150 $ 6,000 $ 9,450 $ 100,930 $ 40,000 $ 37,730
Service Revenue 7,623 2,250 4,331 108,772 15,750 16,648
Service Expenses (2,282) (1,125) (2,885) (86,488) (7,875) (10,496)

Total Direct Event Inco 17,491 7,125 10,896 123,214 47,875 43,882

Ancillary Income
F & B Concessions 0 0 0 846 0 0
F & B Catering 0 200 0 54 3,150 0
Novelty Sales 0 0 0 0 0 0
Gift Shop Sales 0 0 0 0 0 0
Parking 0 0 0 0 0 0
Parking: Valet 0 0 0 0 0 0
Booth Cleaning 0 0 0 0 0 0
Business Center 0 0 0 0 0 0
Telephone 0 0 0 0 0 0
Electrical Services 0 0 0 0 0 0
Audio Visual 0 0 0 0 0 0
Internet Services 0 0 0 0 0 0
Equipment Rental 0 0 0 0 0 0
Other Ancillary 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total Ancillary Income 0 200 0 900 3,150 0

Other Event Income
Other Event Related In 0 0 0 0 0 0
Luxury Box Ticket Sale 0 0 0 0 0 0
Club Seat Ticket Sales 0 0 0 0 0 0
Event Advertising Inco 0 0 0 0 0 0
Ticket Rebates 0 0 0 0 0 0
Facility Fees 0 0 0 0 20,000 0

Total Other Event Inco 0 0 0 0 20,000 0

Total Event Income 17,491 7,325 10,896 124,114 71,025 43,882

OTHER OPERATING INCOME
Advertising 0 0 0 0 0 0
1st Floor Ground Rent 1,767 0 1,767 8,837 0 8,837
2nd Floor Ground Rent 563 0 563 2,814 0 2,814
1st Floor Rent 25,484 0 25,484 127,422 0 127,422
2nd Floor Rent 13,448 0 13,448 67,240 0 67,240
1st Floor CAM 16,625 0 16,625 83,125 0 83,125

An ASM Managed Facility
9

DocuSign Envelope ID: EE90B2F0-88DD-40EA-A2D6-A0B122392CDD



Bon Secours Training Center
Income Statement

For the Five Months Ending November 30, 2023

Current Month
Actual

Current Month
Budget

Current Month
Prior Year

Year to Date
Actual

Year to Date
Budget

Year to Date
Prior Year

2nd Floor CAM 7,695 0 7,695 38,475 0 38,475
Other Income 10,816 65,582 0 13,133 327,910 416

Total Other Operating I 76,398 65,582 65,582 341,046 327,910 328,329

Adjusted Gross Income 93,889 72,907 76,478 465,160 398,935 372,211

INDIRECT EXPENSES
Salaries & Wages 1,432 11,463 13,330 63,786 57,313 63,219
Payroll Taxes & Benefi 1,343 2,252 1,385 10,820 11,260 13,448
Labor Allocations to E 0 0 (704) (782) 0 (1,495)

Net Salaries and Benefi 2,775 13,715 14,011 73,824 68,573 75,172
Contracted Services 11,816 12,123 12,883 60,753 60,615 61,429
General and Administr 8,295 6,736 8,777 36,429 33,680 36,875
Operating (51) 2,363 1,085 14,157 11,815 4,977
Repairs & Maintenance (1,045) 9,144 13,235 17,985 45,718 33,328
Operational Supplies 1,062 547 1,403 5,979 2,735 2,031
Insurance (1,767) 1,967 2,329 7,323 9,833 11,649
Utilities 8,044 9,227 9,030 48,647 46,135 55,897
Redskins Local Contrib 0 0 0 0 0 0
ASM Management Fee 1,205 1,550 1,614 10,803 7,750 7,818
Allocated Expeneses 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total Indirect Expenses 30,334 57,372 64,367 275,900 286,854 289,176

Net Income (Loss) $ 63,555 $ 15,535 $ 12,111 $ 189,260 $ 112,081 $ 83,035

An ASM Managed Facility
10

DocuSign Envelope ID: EE90B2F0-88DD-40EA-A2D6-A0B122392CDD



Bon Secours Training Center
Indirect Expenses Detail

For the Five Months Ending November 30, 2023

Current Month
Actual

Current Month
Budget

Current Month
Prior Year

Year to Date
Actual

Year to Date
Budget

Year to Date
Prior Year

INDIRECT EXPENSES
Empolyee Wages and Benefits
Salaries Administration $ 1,402 $ 10,313 $ 9,003 $ 45,462 $ 51,563 $ 50,734
Changeover Labor - W 30 0 1,240 13,564 0 1,806
General - Part-Time 0 0 1,630 0 0 1,630
Security - Event 0 0 252 140 0 420
Bonus - Performance 0 1,050 1,100 4,620 5,250 6,509
Commission 0 100 105 0 500 2,120
Payroll Taxes (346) 1,031 908 3,629 5,155 3,988
Benefits 1,777 643 254 5,339 3,215 7,726
401 (k) (22) 390 152 1,234 1,950 859
Workers Compensation (66) 188 71 618 940 875
Allocated Chngover. L 0 0 (556) (218) 0 (927)
Allocated Custodial - E 0 0 0 (88) 0 0
Allocated Security - Ev 0 0 0 (476) 0 (420)
Allocated Stagehands - 0 0 (148) 0 0 (148)

Net Employee Wages a 2,775 13,715 14,011 73,824 68,573 75,172
Contracted Services
Contracted Security 644 540 838 4,742 2,700 3,492
Contracted Cleaning 1,463 1,507 1,463 7,464 7,535 7,314
Contracted Landscapin 9,709 10,076 10,010 48,547 50,380 50,051
Other Contracted Servi 0 0 572 0 0 572

Total Contracted Servic 11,816 12,123 12,883 60,753 60,615 61,429

General and Administrative Expenses
Professional Fees - Oth 0 56 0 0 280 0
Bank Service Charges 299 197 337 1,598 985 1,827
Travel 0 0 0 0 0 116
Meals & Entertainment 0 0 0 59 0 65
Dues & Subscriptions 1,408 732 4,067 7,819 3,660 11,451
Postage 0 20 13 0 100 58
Rental Office Equipme 257 206 234 1,029 1,030 1,170
Office Supplies 0 83 0 0 415 90
Rent Expense 3,380 3,380 3,380 16,900 16,900 16,900
Payroll Processing 3,696 776 174 5,751 3,880 1,039
Licenses & Fees 30 0 0 30 0 75
Over & Short 0 0 0 0 0 (1)
Computer Expense (775) 700 387 3,222 3,500 3,160
Computer Maintenance 0 400 0 0 2,000 0
Cable Expense 0 186 185 21 930 925

Total General and Adm 8,295 6,736 8,777 36,429 33,680 36,875

An ASM Managed Facility
11

DocuSign Envelope ID: EE90B2F0-88DD-40EA-A2D6-A0B122392CDD



Bon Secours Training Center
Indirect Expenses Detail

For the Five Months Ending November 30, 2023

Current Month
Actual

Current Month
Budget

Current Month
Prior Year

Year to Date
Actual

Year to Date
Budget

Year to Date
Prior Year

Operating Expenses
Operating Supplies 0 0 0 0 0 56
Trash Removal 117 515 559 3,935 2,575 2,555
Snow Removal 0 500 0 0 2,500 0
Sand & Salt 0 42 0 0 210 0
Landscaping 0 42 0 4,251 210 0
Exterminating (197) 200 195 1,548 1,000 780
Cleaning 0 750 0 2,512 3,750 0
Small Equipment 0 33 0 0 165 0
Safety Equipment 0 29 50 153 145 240
Rental Other 29 231 281 1,758 1,155 1,346
Vehicle Maintenance 0 21 0 0 105 0

Total Operating Expens (51) 2,363 1,085 14,157 11,815 4,977

Repairs and Maintenance
General Building Repai 0 208 0 0 1,040 0
Computer Equipment 0 50 0 0 250 0
Electrical Systems 0 83 0 0 415 0
Elevator Escalator 0 167 0 0 835 849
Field Maintenance 0 2,500 10,088 7,259 12,500 10,465
Fire Alarm 0 271 357 0 1,355 357
Floor Maintenance 0 125 0 0 625 0
HVAC Systems 500 250 0 1,703 1,250 7,353
Maintenance Agreemen (3,266) 1,444 1,069 420 7,218 5,701
Luxury Seating 0 3,213 0 0 16,065 0
Other Repairs / Mainte 0 833 0 0 4,165 0
Park Maintenance 1,721 0 1,721 8,603 0 8,603

Total Repairs and Main (1,045) 9,144 13,235 17,985 45,718 33,328

Operational Supplies
General Building Suppl 0 208 0 734 1,040 189
Bulbs & Lamps 0 0 278 163 0 278
Electrical 0 0 806 0 0 806
Plumbing 0 83 18 0 415 18
HVAC 0 0 0 203 0 0
Filters 0 42 0 0 210 166
Paint 0 0 0 66 0 20
Janitorial 1,062 214 301 4,712 1,070 554
Uniforms 0 0 0 101 0 0

Total Operational Supp 1,062 547 1,403 5,979 2,735 2,031

Insurance
An ASM Managed Facility

12

DocuSign Envelope ID: EE90B2F0-88DD-40EA-A2D6-A0B122392CDD



Bon Secours Training Center
Indirect Expenses Detail

For the Five Months Ending November 30, 2023

Current Month
Actual

Current Month
Budget

Current Month
Prior Year

Year to Date
Actual

Year to Date
Budget

Year to Date
Prior Year

General Liability Insura (139) 0 0 (139) 0 0
Insurance Expense 1,129 1,114 1,129 5,649 5,570 5,649
Property Insurance 51 0 0 253 0 0
Umbrella Coverage (2,808) 790 1,200 1,560 3,950 6,000
Other Insurance 0 63 0 0 313 0

Total Insurance (1,767) 1,967 2,329 7,323 9,833 11,649

Utilities
Electricity 7,576 6,185 7,139 29,310 30,925 33,826
Telephone 1,057 605 285 3,400 3,025 2,815
Water & Sewage (589) 2,437 1,606 15,937 12,185 19,256

Total Utilities 8,044 9,227 9,030 48,647 46,135 55,897

Other Expenses

Total Other Expenses 0 0 0 0 0 0

ASM Management Fees
Base Fee 1,205 1,050 1,057 6,317 5,250 5,287
Incentive Fee 0 500 557 4,486 2,500 2,531

Total SMG Manageme 1,205 1,550 1,614 10,803 7,750 7,818

Expense Allocations

Total Expense Allocati 0 0 0 0 0 0

Net Indirect Expenses $ 30,334 $ 57,372 $ 64,367 $ 275,900 $ 286,854 $ 289,176

An ASM Managed Facility
13

DocuSign Envelope ID: EE90B2F0-88DD-40EA-A2D6-A0B122392CDD



Bon Secours Training Center
Financial Statements Monthly Highlights

For the Five Months Ending November 30, 2023

Current
Actual

Current
Budget Variance

Prior Year
Actual Variance

Attendance 4,850 645 4,205 3,488 1,362
Attendance - Tickets S 0 0 0 0 0
Number of Performanc 6 3 3 4 2
Square Footage 0 0 0 0 0
Other Statistical 0 0 0 0 0
Gross Ticket Sales 0 0 0 0 0

Direct Event Income 17,491 7,125 10,366 10,896 6,595
Ancillary Income 0 200 (200) 0 0
Other Event Income 0 0 0 0 0

Total Event Income 17,491 7,325 10,166 10,896 6,595
Other Operating Incom 76,398 65,582 10,816 65,582 10,816

Adjusted Gross Income 76,398 65,582 10,816 65,582 10,816
Indirect Expenses (30,334) (57,372) 27,038 (64,367) 34,033

Net Income (Loss) Fro 63,555 15,535 48,020 12,111 51,444

An ASM Managed Facility
14

DocuSign Envelope ID: EE90B2F0-88DD-40EA-A2D6-A0B122392CDD



Bon Secours Training Center
Financial Statements Year to Date Highlights

For the Five Months Ending November 30, 2023

Year to Date
Actual

Year to Date
Budget Variance

Prior YTD
Actual Variance

Attendance 52,909 14,285 38,624 6,101 46,808
Number of Performanc 2 0 2 0 2
Number of Event Days 37 21 16 21 16
Square Footage 0 0 0 0 0
Other Statistical 0 0 0 0 0
Gross Ticket Sales 0 0 0 0 0

Direct Event Income 123,214 47,875 75,339 43,882 79,332
Ancillary Income 900 3,150 (2,250) 0 900
Other Event Income 0 20,000 (20,000) 0 0

Total Event Income 124,114 71,025 53,089 43,882 80,232
Other Operating Incom 341,046 327,910 13,136 328,329 12,717

Adjusted Gross Income 341,046 327,910 13,136 328,329 12,717
Indirect Expenses (275,900) (286,854) 10,954 (289,176) 13,276

Net Income (Loss) Fro 189,260 112,081 77,179 83,035 106,225

An ASM Managed Facility
15

DocuSign Envelope ID: EE90B2F0-88DD-40EA-A2D6-A0B122392CDD



BON SECOURS  

TRAINING CENTER 

FINANCIAL REPORTS 

DECEMBER 2023

DISTRIBUTION: 

EDA FINANCE COMMITTEE 

LISA JONES – A.G. REESE AND ASSOCIATES 

NATHAN HUGHES – SPERITY REAL ESTATE VENTURES  

LEONARD SLEDGE – DEPT OF ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 

ASM 

BOB PAPKE, VICE PRESIDENT - THEATERS 

GLENN MAJOR, GENERAL MANAGER 

JEFFREY WONG, SVP FINANCE - AMERICAS 

PREPARED 

01/08/2024
DISTRIBUTED 

01/08/2024

DocuSign Envelope ID: 3C26DDB4-2AE6-48E1-9E30-DDE479B19387



Page

Profit & Loss Budget Performance……………………………… 1

Rolling Forecast……………………………………………….. 2

     Event Income Statement……………………………………… 3

     Indirect Expense Forecast …………………………………… 5

Balance Sheet………………………………………………….. 7

A/R Aging, A/P Aging, Event Deposit Schedule…..................  8

Income Statement……………………………………………… 11

Indirect Expense Detail………………………………………… 14

Monthly & Yearly Highlights…………………………………… 15

BON SECOURS TRAINING CENTER
FINANCIAL REPORTS

INDEX

DocuSign Envelope ID: 3C26DDB4-2AE6-48E1-9E30-DDE479B19387



 BON SECOURS TRAINING CENTER

 Profit Loss Budget Performance
 DECEMBER 2023

Dec-22 Dec-23 YTD Actual YTD Budget Annual Budget
Ordinary Income/Expense

Income
Event Income 6,178.00 17,803.00 141,917.00 71,025.00 71,025.00
Advertising & Other Income 0.00 0.00 13,133.00 0.00 0.00
Parking Income 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
1st Floor Ground Rent 1,767.00 1,767.00 10,604.00 0.00 10,602.00
2nd Floor Ground Rent 563.00 563.00 3,377.00 0.00 3,378.00
1st Floor Rent 25,484.00 25,484.00 152,906.00 0.00 152,904.00
2nd Floor Rent 13,448.00 13,448.00 80,687.00 0.00 80,688.00
1st Floor CAM 16,625.00 16,625.00 99,749.00 0.00 99,750.00
2nd Floor CAM 7,695.00 7,695.00 46,171.00 393,492.00 46,170.00
Rental Income-Westhampton -   -   -  
Sponsorship Fee-Bon Secours -   -   -  -    -  

Total Income 71,760.00 83,385.00 548,544.00 464,517.00 464,517.00
Expense

Bank Service Charges -   -   -  
Depreciation Expense -   -   -  -    -  
General and Administrative 4,062.00 2,675.00 16,854.00 16,839.00 16,839.00
Grounds Maintenance 10,010.00 9,709.00 58,257.00 60,456.00 60,456.00
Insurance Expense 2,380.00 2,585.00 9,908.00 11,799.00 11,799.00
Janitorial Service Supplies 1,463.00    0.00 7,464.00 9,042.00 9,042.00
Maintenance Expense 3,147.00 5,171.00 23,155.00 57,163.00 57,163.00
Base Management Fee 1,057.00    1,205.00 7,522.00 6,300.00 6,300.00
Incentive Management Fee -   0.00 4,486.00 3,000.00 3,000.00
Operations 1,286.00 1,046.00 21,182.00 20,460.00 20,460.00
Additional Training Camp Expenses 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Payroll Expenses 267.00 2.00 5,753.00 4,656.00 4,656.00
Ground Rent Expense 3,380.00    3,380.00 20,280.00 20,280.00 20,280.00
Repairs and Maintenance -   0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Security Service 1,077.00 1,104.00 5,846.00 3,240.00 3,240.00
Staffing 20,111.00 16,814.00 90,635.00 87,376.00 87,376.00
Telephone Expense 605.00 605.00 3,728.00 3,630.00 3,630.00
Utilities 12,154.00 11,506.00 57,030.00 51,732.00 51,732.00

Total Expense 60,999.00 55,802.00 332,100.00 355,973.00 355,973.00
Net Ordinary Income 10,761.00  27,583.00  216,444.00     108,544.00  108,544.00    
Other Income/Expense

Other Income
Interest Income-Cking 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Total Other Income 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Net Other Income 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Net Income 10,761.00  27,583.00  216,444.00     108,544.00  108,544.00    

Tabitha Sechrist, Director of Facility Accounting Glenn Major, General Manager

An ASM Managed Facility1

DocuSign Envelope ID: 3C26DDB4-2AE6-48E1-9E30-DDE479B19387



12/31/23
ACTUAL ROLLING TOTAL

YTD FORECAST 12/31/23  STUB FYE2024 VARIANCE FYE2023 VARIANCE

NO. EVENTS 41 0 41 21 20 60 (19)  
ATTENDANCE 53,409 0 53,409 14,285 39,124 20,210 33,199   

DIRECT EVENT INCOME 141,017 0 141,017 47,875 93,142 134,780 6,238   
ANCILLARY INCOME 900 0 900 3,150 (2,250) 1,572 (672)  
FACILITY FEES & REBATES 0 0 0 20,000 (20,000) 6,728 (6,728)  

TOTAL EVENT INCOME 141,917 0 141,917 71,025 70,892 143,081 (1,163)  

OTHER INCOME 406,627  0 406,627 393,492 13,135 798,669 (392,042)  

INDIRECT EXPENSES
 EXECUTIVE 35,278 0 35,278 47,285 12,007 83,798 48,520   
 FINANCE 14,333 0 14,333 4,906 (9,427) 31,502 17,169   
 MARKETING 864 0 864 3,012 2,148 5,651 4,787   
 OPERATIONS 171,979 0 171,979 191,047 19,068 317,768 145,789   
 OVERHEAD 97,638 0 97,638 100,423 2,785 220,670 123,032   

  TOTAL INDIRECT EXP. 320,092 0 320,092 346,673 26,581 659,389 339,297   

MANAGEMENT FEE 12,008 0 12,008 9,300 (2,708) 20,168 8,160   

NET INCOME - OPERATING 216,444 0 216,446 108,544 107,902 262,194 (45,748)  

FY24 BASE MANAGEMENT FEE:
FY24 INCENTIVE MANAGEMENT FEE:

*ASM CONTRACT ENDS 12/31/23

7,522.00$   
4,486.00$   

BON SECOURS TRAINING CENTER
ROLLING FORECAST SUMMARY

STUB FISCAL YEAR ENDING DECEMBER 31, 2023*
SUMMARY FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDING DECEMBER 2023

BUDGET OPERATING RESULTS

2

DocuSign Envelope ID: 3C26DDB4-2AE6-48E1-9E30-DDE479B19387



BON SECOURS TRAINING CENTER
ROLLING FORECAST

ROLL
DIRECT FEES & TOTAL SERVICES TOTAL TOTAL TOTAL EVT INC

EVENT NO. ATTND EVENT INC. ANCILLARY REBATES EVENT INC. NO. ATTND. RENT INCOME DIR. INC. CATERING CONCESSIONS ANCILL. REBATES FEES EVT. INC. FY 6/22

Assemblies 701
-  -   -   -  

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 -   0 0 0 0 0 -   -  
Banquets 702
07.27.23 MBL RVA LINKUP 1  100   5,450   -  -  5,450   -   0 - 5,450  
08.19.23 Walker Birthday Party 1  300   5,197   5,197   -   0 - 5,197  
09.09.23 Joyner Wedding 1  350   5,957   -  -  5,957   -   0 - 5,957  
09.21.23 Chamber CollegeJam 1  100   4,160   -  -  4,160   -   0 - 4,160  
09.30.23 Coley Wedding 1  100   5,093   -  -  5,093   -   0 - 5,093  
10.13.23 Empty Plate Luncheon 1  350   4,304   -  -  4,304   -   0 - 4,304  
11.02.23 YMCA Chairman's Roundtable 1  300   4,111   -  -  4,111   -   0 - 4,111  
11.18.23 Wallach Bar Mitzvah 1  100   6,325   -  -  6,325   -   0 - 6,325  
11.14.23 Pitch VA 1  200   4,752   -  -  4,752   -   0 - 4,752  
12.02.23 City Parade 1  250   112   -  -  112   -   0 - 112  
PAST EVENTS FY23 16,876   846   17,723   -   0 - 17,723  

10 2,150 62,337 846 0 63,183 0 0 0 0 -   0 0 0 0 0 - 63,183  

Concerts 704
08.26.23 Iron Blossom Festival 2  21,079   32,302   32,302   -   0 - 32,302  

2 21,079 32,302 0 0 32,302 0 0 0 0 -   0 0 0 0 0 - 32,302  

EDA Complimentary Meetings 708 -  
07.08.23 GRTC Meeting 1  21   1,468   1,468   -   -  -   1,468   
08.11.23 Mayor Youth Academy 1  200   540   54   594   -   -  -   594   
08.11.23 City DPU Family and Friends Day 1  200   519   519   -   -  -   519   
11.16.23 All Hands DPU 1  250   635   -  -  635   -   0 - 635  
12.15.23 City DPW Meeting 1  250   415   415   -   0 - 415  
11.07.23 Polling Station Election Day 1  3,000   997   -  997   -   -  - 997            

6 3,921 4,575 54 0 4,629 0 0 0 0 -   0 0 0 0 0 - 4,629  

Sporting Events 709
08.02-08.05.24 VCU Soccer 15  855   8,100   -  -  8,100   -   0 - 8,100  
09.02.23 Parks and Rec Football 1  2,000   4,101   -  -  4,101   -   0 - 4,101  
11.25.23 Armstrong City Event 1  1,000   1,469   1,469   -   0 - 1,469  

17 3,855 13,671 0 0 13,671 0 0 0 0 -   0 0 0 0 0 - 13,671  

Other 712
07.08.23 SMOKE AND VINE FESTIVAL 1  1,104 6,944 6,944   -   0 - 6,944  
10.21.23 Pumpkin Festival 1  10,000 4,718 4,718   -   0 - 4,718  
10.22.23 VA Pride Fest 1  10,000   5,078   -  -  5,078   -   -  - 5,078         
10.14.23 Lupus Walk 1  700 2,886 2,886   -   0 - 2,886  
10.28.23 Ask Fall Festival 1  100 2,885 2,885   -   0 - 2,885  
10.29.23 Postal Service Union Picnic 1  500 5,623 5,623   -   0 - 5,623  

-  -   - -
6 22,404 28,135 0 0 28,135 0 0 0 0 -   0 0 0 0 0 - 28,135  

TOTAL EVENT INCOME 41 53,409 141,019 900 0 141,919 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 141,919

YEAR-TO-DATE REMAINING PROJECTION

3

DocuSign Envelope ID: 3C26DDB4-2AE6-48E1-9E30-DDE479B19387



BON SECOURS TRAINING CENTER
ROLLING FORECAST

FOR THE STUB YEAR ENDING DECEMBER 31, 2023

YTD as of Total TOTAL BUDGET
12/31/23 Forecast FYE2024 FYE 12/31/23

OTHER INCOME
ADVERTISING INCOME 0 -  -  0
TENANT INCOME 393,494 - 393,494 393,492
OTHER INCOME 13,133 - 13,133 0
MISC INCOME 0 - 0
TOTAL OTHER INCOME 406,627 - 406,627 393,492  

Total TOTAL BUDGET
Forecast FYE2024 FYE 12/31/23

EXECUTIVE
SALARIES 31,154 - 31,154 31,500
BONUS 4,620 - 4,620 6,300
PAYROLL TAXES 890 - 890 3,150
EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (2,113) - (2,113) 1,578
401k 668 - 668 1,578
PROFESSIONAL FEES-LEGAL 0 - - 425
Dues & Subscriptions 59 - 59 2,754

- 
TOTAL EXECUTIVE 35,278 - 35,278 47,285  

Total TOTAL BUDGET
Forecast FYE2024 FYE 12/31/23

FINANCE
PROFESSIONAL FEES - OTHER 0 -  -  0
DUES AND SUBSCRIPTIONS 8,580 - 8,580 250
PAYROLL PROCESSING 5,753 - 5,753 4,656
TOTAL FINANCE 14,333 - 14,333 4,906  

4

DocuSign Envelope ID: 3C26DDB4-2AE6-48E1-9E30-DDE479B19387



BON SECOURS TRAINING CENTER
ROLLING FORECAST

FOR THE STUB YEAR ENDING DECEMBER 31, 2023

YTD as of Total TOTAL BUDGET
12/31/23 Forecast FYE2024 FYE 12/31/23

MARKETING
DUES & SUBSCRIPTIONS 864  - 864 3,012
TOTAL MARKETING 864  - 864 3,012  

OPERATIONS 
Salaries Administration 28,077  - 28,077 30,375  
General Event Wages 12,922  - 12,922 -  
Commission -  -  -  1,200  
Payroll Taxes 3,505  - 3,505 3,036  
Benefits 9,217  - 9,217 4,556  
401 (k) 1,077  - 1,077 1,519  
Contracted Security 5,846  - 5,846 3,240  
Contracted Cleaning 7,464  - 7,464 9,042  
Contracted Landscaping 58,257  - 58,257 60,456  
Operating Supplies 957  - 957 3,090  
Trash Removal 4,569  - 4,569 -  
Snow Removal -  -  - 3,000  
Sand & Salt -  -  -  500  
Landscaping 4,251  - 4,251 500  
Exterminating 1,757  - 1,757 1,200  
Exterior Window Clean 2,512  - 2,512 4,500  
Small Equipment -  -  - 400  
Safety Equipment 153  - 153 350  
Rental Other 2,078  - 2,078 1,386  
Vehicle Expense -  -  - 250  
General Building Repairs 318  - 318 2,500  
Yearly Electrical Inspection -  -  - 498  
Computer Expense -  -  - 600  
Elevator Escalator -  -  - 1,002  
Field Maintenance 7,259  - 7,259 15,000   
Sprinkler Sys Prev Maintenance 200  - 200 1,626  
Floor Maintenance -  -  - 1,500  
HVAC Systems 1,703  - 1,703 1,500  
Maintenance Agreements 3,352  - 3,352 8,661  
Other Repairs/Maintenance -  -  - 4,998  
Park Maintenance 10,323  - 10,323 19,278  
General Building Supplies 734  - 734 2,500  
Plumbing 163  - 163 1,000  
Filters 203  - 203 500  
Janitorial 4,981  - 4,981 1,284  
Uniforms 101  - 101 -  
TOTAL OPERATIONS 171,979  - 171,979 191,047  

5

DocuSign Envelope ID: 3C26DDB4-2AE6-48E1-9E30-DDE479B19387



BON SECOURS TRAINING CENTER
ROLLING FORECAST

FOR THE STUB YEAR ENDING DECEMBER 31, 2023

YTD as of Total TOTAL BUDGET
OVERHEAD 12/31/23 Forecast FYE2024 FYE 12/31/23
WORKERS COMP INSURANCE 618  - 618 2,250
BANK SERVICE CHARGES 2,006  - 2,006 1,182
POSTAGE 72  - 72 100
RENTAL OFFICE EQUIPMENT 1,287  - 1,287 1,236
OFFICE SUPPLIES 21  - 21 498
RENT EXPENSE 20,280  - 20,280 20,280
COMPUTER EXPENSE 2,987  - 2,987 4,200
COMPUTER MAINTENANCE -  -  -  2,400
CABLE EXPENSE 21  - 21 1,116
INSURANCE EXPENSES 8,028  - 8,028 6,684
UMBRELLA COVERAGE 1,560  - 1,560 5,115
ELECTRICITY 39,588  - 39,588 37,110
TELEPHONE 3,728  - 3,728 3,630
WATER & SEWER & GAS 17,442  - 17,442 14,622
BASE FEE 7,522  - 7,522 6,300
INCENTIVE FEE 4,486  - 4,486 3,000
 TOTAL OVERHEAD 109,646  - 109,646 109,723 

6

DocuSign Envelope ID: 3C26DDB4-2AE6-48E1-9E30-DDE479B19387



Bon Secours Training Center
Balance Sheet

December 31, 2023

ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash $ 83,934
Accounts Receivable 50,823
Prepaid Assets 20,280
Inventory 0

Total Current Assets 155,037
Fixed Assets
Fixed Assets 0
Accumulated Depreciation 0

Total Fixed Assets 0
Other Assets
Other Assets 0
Deposits 0

Total Other Assets 0

Total Assets $ 155,037

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current Liabilities
Accounts Payable $ 25,813
Accrued Expenses 0
Deferred Income 65,582
Advance Ticket Sales/Deposits 0

Total Current Liabilities 91,395
Long-Term Liabilities
Long Term Liabilites 0

Total Long-Term Liabilities 0

Total Liabilities 91,395
Equity
Contributions (2,921,135)
Net Funds Received 0
Retained Earnings 2,768,331
Net Income (Loss) 216,444

Total Equity 63,640

Total Liabilities & Equity $ 155,035

An ASM Managed Facility
7

DocuSign Envelope ID: 3C26DDB4-2AE6-48E1-9E30-DDE479B19387



Total Amount Due %
Accounts Receivable

Current 3,857     7.59%
Past Due 30 Days 7,471     14.70%
Past Due 60 Days 5,858     11.53%
Past Due 90 + Days 33,638   66.19%
Total Accounts Receivable 50,823   100%

Explanation of Items Due 90 + Days
Event Date

American Heart Association Event Resent to Client

Bon Secours Primary Care Monthly Resent to Client

Bon Secours Physical Therapy Monthly Resent to Client

Bon Secours Rent - CAM Monthly Resent to Client

City of Richmond Event Resent to Client

ChamberRVA Event Resent to Client

Blue Grey Events Events Resent to Client

RVA FASHION WEEK 4/23/2023 Resent to Event
 ZAKIA HALL BABY SHOWER 5/1/2023 Resent to Event
 VA ROYALS FOOTBALL 4/3/2022 Resent to Event

Total Amount Due %
Accounts Payable

Current 23,791   100.00%
Past Due 30 Days -   0.00%
Past Due 60 Days -   0.00%
Past Due 90 + Days -   0.00%
Total Accounts Payable 23,791   100%

Explanation of Items Due 90 + Days

Event Date Deposit Received %

-   0%

Schedule of Event Deposits

1,182$      

1,248$      

8,056$      
385$      

2,565$      
5,446$      
5,311$      

997$      
2,869$      

5,578$      

12/31/2023

Event

Schedule of A/P Aging
12/31/2023

Customer Name Comment:

BON SECOURS TRAINING CENTER

Schedule of A/R Aging
12/31/2023

A/R Aging, A/P Aging, and Event Deposit Schedule

Amount

8

DocuSign Envelope ID: 3C26DDB4-2AE6-48E1-9E30-DDE479B19387



Bon Secours Training Center
Income Statement

For the Six Months Ending December 31, 2023

Current Month
Actual

Current Month
Budget

Current Month
Prior Year

Year to Date
Actual

Year to Date
Budget

Year to Date
Prior Year

EVENT INCOME
Direct Event Income
Rental Income $ 0 $ 0 $ 5,400 $ 100,930 $ 40,000 $ 43,130
Service Revenue 20,637 0 6,733 129,409 15,750 23,381
Service Expenses (2,834) 0 (5,955) (89,322) (7,875) (16,451)

Total Direct Event Inco 17,803 0 6,178 141,017 47,875 50,060

Ancillary Income
F & B Concessions 0 0 0 846 0 0
F & B Catering 0 0 0 54 3,150 0
Novelty Sales 0 0 0 0 0 0
Gift Shop Sales 0 0 0 0 0 0
Parking 0 0 0 0 0 0
Parking: Valet 0 0 0 0 0 0
Booth Cleaning 0 0 0 0 0 0
Business Center 0 0 0 0 0 0
Telephone 0 0 0 0 0 0
Electrical Services 0 0 0 0 0 0
Audio Visual 0 0 0 0 0 0
Internet Services 0 0 0 0 0 0
Equipment Rental 0 0 0 0 0 0
Other Ancillary 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total Ancillary Income 0 0 0 900 3,150 0

Other Event Income
Other Event Related In 0 0 0 0 0 0
Luxury Box Ticket Sale 0 0 0 0 0 0
Club Seat Ticket Sales 0 0 0 0 0 0
Event Advertising Inco 0 0 0 0 0 0
Ticket Rebates 0 0 0 0 0 0
Facility Fees 0 0 0 0 20,000 0

Total Other Event Inco 0 0 0 0 20,000 0

Total Event Income 17,803 0 6,178 141,917 71,025 50,060

OTHER OPERATING INCOME
Advertising 0 0 0 0 0 0
1st Floor Ground Rent 1,767 0 1,767 10,604 0 10,604
2nd Floor Ground Rent 563 0 563 3,377 0 3,377
1st Floor Rent 25,484 0 25,484 152,906 0 152,906
2nd Floor Rent 13,448 0 13,448 80,687 0 80,687
1st Floor CAM 16,625 0 16,625 99,749 0 99,749

An ASM Managed Facility
9

DocuSign Envelope ID: 3C26DDB4-2AE6-48E1-9E30-DDE479B19387



Bon Secours Training Center
Income Statement

For the Six Months Ending December 31, 2023

Current Month
Actual

Current Month
Budget

Current Month
Prior Year

Year to Date
Actual

Year to Date
Budget

Year to Date
Prior Year

2nd Floor CAM 7,695 0 7,695 46,171 0 46,171
Other Income 0 65,582 0 13,133 393,492 416

Total Other Operating I 65,582 65,582 65,582 406,627 393,492 393,910

Adjusted Gross Income 83,385 65,582 71,760 548,544 464,517 443,970

INDIRECT EXPENSES
Salaries & Wages 13,769 12,397 16,285 77,555 69,709 79,504
Payroll Taxes & Benefi 3,045 6,407 3,982 13,862 17,667 17,430
Labor Allocations to E 0 0 (156) (782) 0 (1,651)

Net Salaries and Benefi 16,814 18,804 20,111 90,635 87,376 95,283
Contracted Services 10,813 12,123 12,550 71,567 72,738 73,980
General and Administr 6,057 8,095 7,709 42,887 41,775 44,585
Operating 843 3,361 1,307 15,000 15,176 6,283
Repairs & Maintenance 5,171 11,446 4,327 23,155 57,163 37,654
Operational Supplies 203 2,549 218 6,182 5,284 2,249
Insurance 2,585 1,967 2,380 9,908 11,799 14,029
Utilities 12,111 9,227 12,759 60,758 55,362 68,657
Redskins Local Contrib 0 0 0 0 0 0
ASM Management Fee 1,205 1,550 1,057 12,008 9,300 8,875
Allocated Expeneses 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total Indirect Expenses 55,802 69,122 62,418 332,100 355,973 351,595

Net Income (Loss) $ 27,583 $ (3,540) $ 9,342 $ 216,444 $ 108,544 $ 92,375

An ASM Managed Facility
10

DocuSign Envelope ID: 3C26DDB4-2AE6-48E1-9E30-DDE479B19387



Bon Secours Training Center
Indirect Expenses Detail

For the Six Months Ending December 31, 2023

Current Month
Actual

Current Month
Budget

Current Month
Prior Year

Year to Date
Actual

Year to Date
Budget

Year to Date
Prior Year

INDIRECT EXPENSES
Empolyee Wages and Benefits
Salaries Administration $ 13,769 $ 10,647 $ 11,753 $ 59,231 $ 62,209 $ 62,487
Changeover Labor - W 0 0 2,248 13,564 0 4,054
General - Part-Time 0 0 1,184 0 0 2,814
Security - Event 0 0 0 140 0 420
Bonus - Performance 0 1,050 1,100 4,620 6,300 7,609
Commission 0 700 0 0 1,200 2,120
Payroll Taxes 767 1,031 2,069 4,395 6,186 6,057
Benefits 1,765 2,919 1,033 7,104 6,134 8,759
401 (k) 513 1,147 265 1,745 3,097 1,124
Workers Compensation 0 1,310 615 618 2,250 1,490
Allocated Chngover. L 0 0 (156) (218) 0 (1,083)
Allocated Custodial - E 0 0 0 (88) 0 0
Allocated Security - Ev 0 0 0 (476) 0 (420)
Allocated Stagehands - 0 0 0 0 0 (148)

Net Employee Wages a 16,814 18,804 20,111 90,635 87,376 95,283
Contracted Services
Contracted Security 1,104 540 1,077 5,846 3,240 4,570
Contracted Cleaning 0 1,507 1,463 7,464 9,042 8,777
Contracted Landscapin 9,709 10,076 10,010 58,257 60,456 60,061
Other Contracted Servi 0 0 0 0 0 572

Total Contracted Servic 10,813 12,123 12,550 71,567 72,738 73,980

General and Administrative Expenses
Professional Fees - Oth 0 61 0 0 341 0
Bank Service Charges 408 197 465 2,006 1,182 2,293
Travel 0 0 0 0 0 116
Meals & Entertainment 0 0 0 59 0 65
Dues & Subscriptions 1,798 2,106 2,479 9,617 5,766 13,930
Postage 72 0 0 72 100 58
Rental Office Equipme 257 206 234 1,287 1,236 1,404
Office Supplies 21 83 0 21 498 90
Rent Expense 3,380 3,380 3,380 20,280 20,280 20,280
Payroll Processing 2 776 267 5,753 4,656 1,306
Licenses & Fees 0 0 0 30 0 75
Over & Short 0 0 0 0 0 (1)
Computer Expense 119 700 667 3,741 4,200 3,827
Computer Maintenance 0 400 0 0 2,400 0
Cable Expense 0 186 217 21 1,116 1,142

Total General and Adm 6,057 8,095 7,709 42,887 41,775 44,585

An ASM Managed Facility
11

DocuSign Envelope ID: 3C26DDB4-2AE6-48E1-9E30-DDE479B19387



Bon Secours Training Center
Indirect Expenses Detail

For the Six Months Ending December 31, 2023

Current Month
Actual

Current Month
Budget

Current Month
Prior Year

Year to Date
Actual

Year to Date
Budget

Year to Date
Prior Year

Operating Expenses
Operating Supplies 0 0 0 0 0 56
Trash Removal 634 515 542 4,569 3,090 3,097
Snow Removal 0 500 0 0 3,000 0
Sand & Salt 0 290 0 0 500 0
Landscaping 0 290 239 4,251 500 239
Exterminating 209 200 195 1,757 1,200 975
Cleaning 0 750 0 2,512 4,500 0
Small Equipment 0 235 0 0 400 0
Safety Equipment 0 205 50 153 350 290
Rental Other 0 231 281 1,758 1,386 1,626
Vehicle Maintenance 0 145 0 0 250 0

Total Operating Expens 843 3,361 1,307 15,000 15,176 6,283

Repairs and Maintenance
General Building Repai 318 1,460 0 318 2,500 0
Computer Equipment 0 350 0 0 600 0
Electrical Systems 0 83 0 0 498 0
Elevator Escalator 0 167 0 0 1,002 849
Field Maintenance 0 2,500 1,180 7,259 15,000 11,645
Fire Alarm 200 271 357 200 1,626 714
Floor Maintenance 0 875 0 0 1,500 0
HVAC Systems 0 250 0 1,703 1,500 7,353
Maintenance Agreemen 2,932 1,444 1,069 3,352 8,661 6,770
Luxury Seating 0 3,213 0 0 19,278 0
Other Repairs / Mainte 0 833 0 0 4,998 0
Park Maintenance 1,721 0 1,721 10,323 0 10,323

Total Repairs and Main 5,171 11,446 4,327 23,155 57,163 37,654

Operational Supplies
General Building Suppl 0 1,460 32 734 2,500 221
Bulbs & Lamps 0 0 0 163 0 278
Electrical 0 0 45 0 0 851
Plumbing 0 585 0 0 1,000 18
HVAC 0 0 0 203 0 0
Filters 0 290 0 0 500 166
Paint 0 0 0 66 0 20
Janitorial 203 214 141 4,915 1,284 695
Uniforms 0 0 0 101 0 0

Total Operational Supp 203 2,549 218 6,182 5,284 2,249

Insurance
An ASM Managed Facility

12

DocuSign Envelope ID: 3C26DDB4-2AE6-48E1-9E30-DDE479B19387



Bon Secours Training Center
Indirect Expenses Detail

For the Six Months Ending December 31, 2023

Current Month
Actual

Current Month
Budget

Current Month
Prior Year

Year to Date
Actual

Year to Date
Budget

Year to Date
Prior Year

General Liability Insura 1,456 0 0 1,317 0 0
Insurance Expense 1,129 1,114 1,129 6,778 6,684 6,778
Property Insurance 0 0 51 253 0 51
Umbrella Coverage 0 790 1,200 1,560 4,740 7,200
Other Insurance 0 63 0 0 375 0

Total Insurance 2,585 1,967 2,380 9,908 11,799 14,029

Utilities
Electricity 10,278 6,185 8,777 39,588 37,110 42,603
Telephone 329 605 525 3,728 3,630 3,341
Water & Sewage 1,504 2,437 3,457 17,442 14,622 22,713

Total Utilities 12,111 9,227 12,759 60,758 55,362 68,657

Other Expenses

Total Other Expenses 0 0 0 0 0 0

ASM Management Fees
Base Fee 1,205 1,050 1,057 7,522 6,300 6,344
Incentive Fee 0 500 0 4,486 3,000 2,531

Total SMG Manageme 1,205 1,550 1,057 12,008 9,300 8,875

Expense Allocations

Total Expense Allocati 0 0 0 0 0 0

Net Indirect Expenses $ 55,802 $ 69,122 $ 62,418 $ 332,100 $ 355,973 $ 351,595

An ASM Managed Facility
13

DocuSign Envelope ID: 3C26DDB4-2AE6-48E1-9E30-DDE479B19387



Bon Secours Training Center
Financial Statements Monthly Highlights

For the Six Months Ending December 31, 2023

Current
Actual

Current
Budget Variance

Prior Year
Actual Variance

Attendance 500 0 500 318 182
Attendance - Tickets S 0 0 0 0 0
Number of Performanc 2 0 2 4 (2)
Square Footage 0 0 0 0 0
Other Statistical 0 0 0 0 0
Gross Ticket Sales 0 0 0 0 0

Direct Event Income 17,803 0 17,803 6,178 11,625
Ancillary Income 0 0 0 0 0
Other Event Income 0 0 0 0 0

Total Event Income 17,803 0 17,803 6,178 11,625
Other Operating Incom 65,582 65,582 0 65,582 0

Adjusted Gross Income 65,582 65,582 0 65,582 0
Indirect Expenses (55,802) (69,122) 13,320 (62,418) 6,616

Net Income (Loss) Fro 27,583 (3,540) 31,123 9,342 18,241

An ASM Managed Facility
14

DocuSign Envelope ID: 3C26DDB4-2AE6-48E1-9E30-DDE479B19387



Bon Secours Training Center
Financial Statements Year to Date Highlights

For the Six Months Ending December 31, 2023

Year to Date
Actual

Year to Date
Budget Variance

Prior YTD
Actual Variance

Attendance 53,409 14,285 39,124 6,419 46,990
Number of Performanc 2 0 2 0 2
Number of Event Days 39 21 18 25 14
Square Footage 0 0 0 0 0
Other Statistical 0 0 0 0 0
Gross Ticket Sales 0 0 0 0 0

Direct Event Income 141,017 47,875 93,142 50,060 90,957
Ancillary Income 900 3,150 (2,250) 0 900
Other Event Income 0 20,000 (20,000) 0 0

Total Event Income 141,917 71,025 70,892 50,060 91,857
Other Operating Incom 406,627 393,492 13,135 393,910 12,717

Adjusted Gross Income 406,627 393,492 13,135 393,910 12,717
Indirect Expenses (332,100) (355,973) 23,873 (351,595) 19,495

Net Income (Loss) Fro 216,444 108,544 107,900 92,375 124,069

An ASM Managed Facility
15

DocuSign Envelope ID: 3C26DDB4-2AE6-48E1-9E30-DDE479B19387


	1-2024.1.25 EDA Board Meeting Disclosure
	2-Divider Agenda
	3-2024.1.25 EDA Board Agenda FINAL
	4-Divider Meeting Minutes
	5-2023.12.21 EDA Special Called Board Meeting Minutes
	Members present:
	Jéron Crooks
	Others present:
	Call to Order:
	Public Comments:
	Approval of Minutes of the Previous Meeting:
	Report of the Officers:
	Executive Session:
	New Business
	Other Business
	Adjournment

	6-Divider EDA Financial Report
	7-Nov 23 DRAFT
	8-Divider EDA Financial Report
	9-Dec 23 DRAFT
	10-Amendment and Restated Declaration of West Hampton Condominiums
	11-Amended and Restated Leasehold Condominium Declaration
	Article I
	1.1 “Affiliate” shall mean any Person which directly or indirectly controls or is controlled by or is under common control with the designated Person.
	1.2 “Association” is the Westhampton Condominium Owners Association Inc., a Virginia non-stock corporation, which shall function as the Owners Association for the Condominium.
	1.3 “Board of Directors” or “Board” is the board of directors of the Association.
	1.4 “Building” or “Buildings” shall mean the Libbie Building, the Patterson Building, the MF Building and the School Building or any combination of them, as the context requires.
	1.5 “Building Units” shall mean the Libbie Unit, the Patterson Unit, the MF Unit and the School Unit and shall exclude the Parking Unit.
	1.6 “Bylaws” are the Bylaws of the Association.  A copy of the Bylaws is attached as Exhibit C hereto.
	1.7 “Clerk’s Office” shall mean the Clerk’s Office of the Circuit Court of the City of Richmond, Virginia, or any successor repository of land records for the City of Richmond.
	1.8 “Common Elements” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 4.1 of this Declaration.
	1.9 “Condominium” shall mean the leasehold condominium known as Westhampton Condominium.
	1.10 “Condominium Act” shall mean Chapter 19 of Title 55.1 of the Code of Virginia of 1950, as amended.
	1.11 “Condominium Instruments” refer to this Declaration and the Bylaws.
	1.12 “EDA REA” shall mean the Reciprocal Operating and Easement Agreement dated September 23, 2018, between Ground Lessor and Sub-Ground Lessor recorded in the Clerk’s Office as Instrument No190004168, as the same may be modified from time to time.
	1.13  “Eligible Mortgagee” is any holder of a Mortgage that has submitted a written request for the Association to notify it of any proposed action requiring the consent of a specified percentage of  Eligible Mortgagees.
	1.14 “Ground Lease” shall mean that certain Deed of Ground Lease dated July 8, 2013 between the Ground Lessor and Sub-Ground Lessor, as amended from time to time, and evidenced of record by that certain Memorandum of Ground Lease recorded March 5, 201...
	1.15 “Insurance Trustee” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 14.6 of this Declaration.
	1.16 “Majority Interest” shall mean Owner’s representing at least fifty one percent (51%) of the Percentage Interests.
	1.17 “Libbie Unit” shall mean that certain parcel of land located in the City of Richmond, Virginia, and described as “Unit 1” on the Plats and Plans.
	1.18 “Limited Common Elements” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 4.2 of this Declaration.
	1.19 “Managing Agent” is the Person, if any, retained by the Board of Directors from time to time to assist in the management of the Association.
	1.20 “MF Building” shall mean that certain building now or hereafter located on the MF Unit.
	1.21  “MF Unit” shall mean that certain parcel of land located in the City of Richmond, Virginia, and described as “Unit 4” on the Plats and Plans.
	1.22 “Mortgage” is any first deed of trust or mortgage encumbering a Unit.
	1.23 “Mortgagee” is the holder of a note secured by a Mortgage.
	1.24 “Notice” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 19.4 of this Declaration.
	1.25 “Owner” is the owner of title to a Unit, excluding those holding title merely as security for an obligation.
	1.26 “Parking Deck” shall mean that certain multi-level parking deck now or hereafter existing on the Property and shown on the Plats and Plans as containing approximately 363 parking spaces.
	1.27 “Parking Deck Allocation” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 15.4.3 of this Declaration.
	1.28 “Parking Deck CE” shall mean that portion of the Parking Deck that does not include the Parking Unit.
	1.29 “Parking Unit” shall mean that certain parcel of land located in the City of Richmond, Virginia, and described as “Unit 5” in this Declaration and in the Plats and Plans.
	1.30 “Patterson Unit” shall mean that certain parcel of land located in the City of Richmond, Virginia, and described as “Unit 3” on the Plats and Plans.
	1.31 “Percentage Interest” is the individual percentage interest in the Common Elements allocated and appertaining to each Unit.  The Percentage Interest appertaining to each Unit is calculated as a fraction.  The numerator of the fraction shall be th...
	1.32 “Person” shall mean any natural person, corporation, partnership, joint venture, association, joint stock company, trust, unincorporated organization, government or any agency or political subdivision thereof, limited liability company or any oth...
	1.33 “Plats and Plans” are the plats and plans included in Exhibit B attached hereto.
	1.34 “Rules and Regulations” shall mean the rules and regulations of the Association as adopted by the Board from time to time.
	1.35 “School Unit” shall mean that certain parcel of land located in the City of Richmond, Virginia, and described as “Unit 2” on the Plats and Plans.
	1.36 “Sub-Ground Lease” shall mean that certain Deed of Sub-Ground Lease dated as of March 13, 2020 between Declarant, as lessee, and the Sub-Ground Lessor, as landlord, as amended from time to time, pursuant to which the Declarant owns a leasehold in...
	1.37 “Sub-Ground Lessor” shall have the meaning set forth in the Sub-Ground Lease.
	1.38 “Submitted Land” shall mean the land and appurtenant rights subject to the Sub-Ground Lease.
	1.39  “Submitted Property” shall mean the Submitted Land, together with the Buildings and appurtenant rights submitted to this Declaration and described in Exhibit A to this Declaration.
	1.40 “Unit” is that discrete area designed and intended for individual ownership and use and described in Article III of this Declaration.
	1.41 “Unit Easement Area” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 6.1.1 of this Declaration.

	Article II
	2.1 Submission of Property.  The Unit Owners hereby declare that the Submitted Property is hereby submitted to the provisions of the Condominium Act and this Declaration, which shall amend and reinstate the Original Declaration in its entirety.

	Article III
	3.1 Location.  The Condominium is located on the northwest corner of Libbie Avenue and Patterson Avenue in the City of Richmond, Virginia.
	3.2 Units.  The location of the Units are shown on the Plats and Plans.  Each Unit is given an identifying number as set out on the Plats and Plans.  The par value and Percentage Interest of each Unit are set forth on Exhibit D.  The Condominium shall...
	3.3 Unit Boundaries.
	3.3.1 Vertical and Horizontal.  For the purposes of this Declaration there shall be no upper or lower (horizontal) boundaries for the Building Units.  The vertical (or perimetric) boundaries of the Units are shown on the Plat in courses and distances....
	3.3.2 Included Components.  Without limiting the foregoing, the following components shall be deemed a part of each Unit, except as expressly indicated on the Plats and Plans:
	a. any Building located within a Unit (including, without limitation, footers, foundations, slabs, exterior walls, trim, roofs, doors and windows;
	b. the projections extending from the Building, including, without limitation, balconies, stoops, stairs, and decorative features to the extent located outside the boundaries of the Unit and permitted or approved in accordance with this Declaration;
	c. to the extent not owned by the utility provider, those portions of utility lines and facilities (including, without limitation, water, sewer, natural gas, electric, cable and communications) which serve only that Unit commencing at the point of dis...
	d. those portions of storm water retention and transmission systems and best management practices facilities which serve only that Unit commencing at the point of disconnection from the systems serving the entire Condominium or more than one Unit and ...

	3.3.3 Excluded Components.  A Unit shall not include the following items, whether or not located within the boundaries of that Unit:
	a. those portions of utility lines and facilities (including, without limitation, water, sewer, natural gas, electric and communications) which serve more than one Unit, whether or not located in a Unit;
	b. those improvements designated as Common Elements or Limited Common Elements on the Plats and Plans, whether or not located within the boundaries of a Unit.
	c. those portions of storm water retention and transmission systems and best management practices facilities which serve more than one Unit.

	3.3.4 General Provisions.  Except as expressly set forth in this Section, this description of the Unit boundaries shall be governed by the provisions of Section 55.1-1912 of the Condominium Act.


	Article IV
	4.1 Common Elements.  The Common Elements consist of all of the property in the Condominium that is not defined as part of a Unit.
	4.2 Limited Common Elements; Assignments.
	4.2.1 Limited Common Elements. Limited Common Elements shall include the following:  (a) the portion of the Submitted Property designated on the plats and plans as “Limited Common Element” and identified as appertaining to each Unit; (b) other portion...
	4.2.2 Assignment and Reassignment of Limited Common Elements.
	a. Reservation of Right.  The Board of Directors shall have the right to assign Common Elements as Limited Common Elements, and the right to assign or reassign Limited Common Elements as Common Elements; provided, however, that the assignment or reass...
	b. Delineation of Common Elements Subject to Assignment and Reassignment Rights.  All Common Elements shall be subject to the rights described in Section 4.2.2.a, including, but not limited to, parking areas, parking spaces, sidewalks, pedestrian area...
	c. Method for Assignment or Reassignment.  Any assignment or reassignment shall be made by a written amendment to this Declaration executed by the parties required by this Section 4.2.2 and recorded in the Clerk’s Office.  The amendment to the Declara...


	4.3 Allocation of Shared Limited Common Elements.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, to the extent any Limited Common Elements are assigned to more than one (1) Unit, the allocation of the Limited Common Elements may be agreed upon by t...
	4.4 Structural Integrity.  Nothing shall be done to any Unit, or in, on or to the Common Elements or Limited Common Elements, which may impair the structural integrity of any improvement.
	4.5 No Partition.  Any conveyance, encumbrance, judicial sale or other transfer (voluntary or involuntary) of a Unit’s individual interest in the Common Elements will be void unless the Unit to which that interest is allocated is also transferred.
	4.6 Allocation of Limited Common Element Parking Spaces.  Declarant hereby assigns as Limited Common Elements appurtenant to the Building Units the numbered parking spaces as shown in the Plats and Plans and identified on Exhibit E attached to this De...

	Article V
	Article VI
	6.1 Easement for Ingress and Egress Through Common Elements, Access to Units and Support.
	6.1.1 Access.  Each Owner is hereby granted an easement in common with each other Owner for ingress and egress through all Common Elements intended for ingress and egress, subject to such reasonable rules, regulations and restrictions as may be impose...
	6.1.2 Maintenance.  The Association and its authorized agents are hereby granted the right of access to any Unit as provided in Section 55.1--1955 of the Condominium Act and the Bylaws.  In case of emergency, such entry may be immediate, regardless of...
	6.1.3 Support.  Each Unit and Common Element shall have an easement for lateral and subjacent support from every other Unit and Common Element.

	6.2 Easements for Operations.  The Association and its authorized agents are hereby granted easements over and under all of the Common Elements of the Condominium and the Unit Easement Areas for ingress and egress from, and the installation, replacing...
	6.3 Easements Not for Public Use; Licenses for Services; Parking.
	6.3.1 No Public Rights.  Nothing contained in this Declaration shall be deemed to grant any easements to the public or for the public’s use of any part of the Condominium.
	6.3.2 Board Authority to Grant Use Rights.  The Board of Directors may make the Parking Deck CE and surface parking spaces in the Common Elements (including Limited Common Elements) and other components of the Common Elements (including, without limit...
	6.3.3 Access for Emergency and Other Services.  Non-exclusive licenses are hereby granted to all police, firemen, ambulance operators, postal services, delivery persons, and trash removal personnel to enter the Common Elements in the performance of th...


	Article VII
	7.1 Determination of Common Expenses and Assessments Against Owners.
	7.1.1 Fiscal Year.  Unless otherwise determined by the Board of Directors, the fiscal year of the Association shall be the calendar year.
	7.1.2 Preparation and Approval of Budget.  Each year on or before November 1, the Board of Directors shall adopt a budget for the Association containing an estimate of the total amount which it considers necessary to pay the cost of utility services, ...
	a. The cost of any maintenance, repair and restoration of any Unit or portion of a Unit if such maintenance, repair or restoration is reasonably necessary in the discretion of the Board of Directors to protect the Common Elements or to preserve the ap...
	b. Any amount necessary to discharge any lien or encumbrance levied against the Condominium, or any portion thereof, which may, in the opinion of the Board of Directors, constitutes a lien against the Common Elements.
	c. Any reasonable amounts the Board of Directors considers necessary to provide a working fund for the Association, a general operating reserve, and reserves for contingencies and replacements.
	d. Any rent, real estate taxes, assessments and any other expenses payable by the tenant of the Sub-Ground Lease other than penalties, interest, fines, costs or other charges resulting from tenant’s failure to comply with the Sub-Ground Lease, includi...

	7.1.3 Assessment and Payment of Common Expenses.  The Board of Directors shall send to each Owner a copy of the budget, in itemized form, which sets forth the amount of the Common Expenses payable by each Owner, at least forty five (45) days prior to ...
	7.1.4 Reserves.
	a. The Board shall: (i) conduct at least once every five (5) years a study to determine the necessity and amount of reserves required to repair, replace and restore the capital components of the Common Elements and pay deductibles provided in any insu...
	b. To the extent that the Reserve Study indicates a need to budget for reserves, the Association’s budget shall include, without limitation, (i) the current estimated replacement cost, estimated remaining life and estimated useful life of the capital ...
	c. Extraordinary expenditures not originally included in the annual budget which may become necessary during the year shall be charged first against reserves allocated thereto.  If the reserves are inadequate for any reason, including non-payment of a...

	7.1.5 Parking Deck Reserve.  Notwithstanding Section 7.1.4.a, the Board shall establish and maintain a reasonable reserve for the Parking Deck satisfying the provisions of Section 7.1.4.b.
	7.1.6 Effect of Failure to Prepare or Adopt Budget.  The failure or delay of the Board of Directors to prepare or adopt the annual budget for any fiscal year shall not constitute a waiver or release in any manner of an Owner’s obligation to pay its al...
	7.1.7 Accounts.  All sums collected by the Board of Directors with respect to assessments against the Owners may be commingled into a single fund, but shall be identified and accounted for as to each Owner.
	7.1.8 Association’s Units.  Should the Association be the Owner of a Unit or Units, any assessment which would be otherwise due and payable to the Association by the owner of such Unit or Units, reduced by the amount of income which might be derived f...
	7.1.9 Loans.  Nothing contained in this Declaration or the other Condominium Instruments shall be construed as a restriction on the Association’s ability to obtain a loan from any lending source.
	7.1.10 Restrictions on Increases in Assessments.  If the Common Expense assessment for a fiscal year exceeds the Common Expense assessment for the prior fiscal year by twenty-five percent (25%) or more, such increase shall require the approval of Owne...
	7.1.11 Special Allocation of Common Expenses.
	a. Remedial Assessments.  Notwithstanding the Percentage Interest allocation of Common Expenses in Section 7.1.3 or the allocation of Sub-Ground Lease Rent provided in Section 7.1.11(c) below, an Owner shall be responsible for and shall pay to the Ass...
	b. Parking Deck Expenses.  The Owners of the Units shall pay the Common Expenses related solely to the Parking Deck in accordance with the Parking Deck Allocation.
	c. Sub-Ground Lease Rent.  Annual Rent, Additional Rent and any other expenses or costs charged by the Sub-Ground Lessor pursuant to the Sub-Ground Lease, except as provided in Section 7.1.11 (Remedial Assessments) above, shall be paid by the Owners o...


	7.2 Payment of Common Expenses.
	7.2.1 Default and Acceleration.  All Owners shall be obligated to pay the Common Expenses assessed by the Board of Directors pursuant to the provisions of Section 7.1 and any assessment not paid within thirty (30) days after it is due shall be in defa...
	7.2.2 Effect on Mortgages.  A lien for assessments shall not be affected by the sale or transfer of a Unit except the foreclosure of a first Mortgage.  Notwithstanding any other provision of this Declaration, the lien for any assessment or other charg...

	7.3 Collection of Assessments.  The Board of Directors shall take prompt action to collect any assessments for Common Expenses due from any Owner which remain unpaid for more than thirty (30) days from the due date for payment thereof.  A late charge,...

	Article VIII
	8.1 Maintenance, Repair, Replacement and Other Common Expenses.
	8.1.1 By the Association.  Except as provided below, the Association shall be responsible for all maintenance, repair and replacement of the Parking Unit and the Common Elements, including the Limited Common Elements. The cost of all such maintenance,...
	8.1.2 By the Owner.  Each Owner:
	a. of a Building Unit and the Parking Unit (except as otherwise provided in this Declaration) shall keep and maintain its Unit, the Building, any other improvements on the Unit and appurtenances in good order, condition and repair and in a clean and s...
	b. of a Building Unit shall keep its Limited Common Elements in good order, condition and repair and in a clean and sanitary condition;
	c. shall be responsible for all damage to any other Units or to the Common Elements resulting from his negligence or misuse, or the negligence or misuse of the Owner’s tenants, licensees or invitees, or from the Owner’s failure to make any of the repa...
	d. shall perform his responsibility in a manner which shall not unreasonably disturb or interfere with the other Owners’ use and enjoyment of their Units or Limited Common Elements;
	e. shall promptly report to the Board of Directors or its designee any defect or need for repairs for which the Board of Directors is responsible;
	f. shall make all repairs and replacements to his Unit, the Building and any other improvements on the Unit except as otherwise provided in this Declaration; and
	g. shall comply with the applicable provisions of the Ground Lease, the EDA REA and the Sub-Ground Lease.

	8.1.3 Manner of Repair and Replacement.  All repairs and replacements shall be of first-class quality and shall comply with all of the applicable building codes and ordinances in the City of Richmond, Virginia.  The method of approving invoices for al...
	8.1.4 Services Benefiting Less Than All Units.  Any Common Expenses paid or incurred by the Association in making available services to one or more but less than all of the Owners shall be assessed against the Units involved based on their respective ...
	8.1.5 Maintenance of Unit Easement Areas.  The Association shall perform normal maintenance and repairs to the landscaping, irrigation, non-building mounted lighting, sidewalks, pedestrian paths, walkways and other hardscaped areas within the Unit Eas...

	8.2 Additions, Alterations, or Improvements by Board of Directors.  Whenever in the judgment of the Board of Directors, the Common Elements shall require additions, alterations or improvements costing in excess of TWENTY-FIVE THOUSAND AND NO/DOLLARS (...
	8.3 Additions, Alterations or Improvements by Owners.  Once the improvements on a Unit are constructed, no Owner shall make any alteration in or to his Unit that would impair the structural integrity of any Common Element or other Unit.  No Owner shal...
	8.4 Utility Charges.  Each Owner shall be responsible for all charges or assessments for utilities, including but not limited to gas, electricity, cable television, communications and telephone charges supplied to each Owner’s Unit and separately mete...

	Article IX
	9.1 Disclosure.  The Condominium is a mixed use development, consisting of multi-family residential, office and commercial space.  In recognition of the fact that the successful operation of the businesses therein is essential, establishes the charact...
	9.2 Use.  Subject to the Condominium Instruments and the Rules and Regulations, the Units shall be used for any lawful purpose that is permitted by the Sub-Ground Lease.  The Association shall not otherwise restrict the use of any Unit or the leasing ...
	9.3 Rights and Privileges.  An Owner shall have the following rights and privileges:
	9.3.1 Rules and Regulations.  To promulgate and enforce rules and regulations regarding the use of the Owner’s Unit and Limited Common Elements assigned to that Unit, and the activities which may affect, directly or indirectly, that Unit and Limited C...
	a. rights of first refusal for commercial tenants, subleasing and assignment;
	b. restrictions on the type or nature of business or business activity that may occur upon the Unit and/or Limited Common Element; otherwise to permit or regulate any lawful use thereon whatsoever;
	c. restrictions or requirements for interior or exterior signage or lighting, including any signage or lighting that may be located upon or visible from the exterior of improvements on the Unit;
	d. restrictions or requirements for parking, the loading or unloading of materials or goods, or the storage or sale of materials or goods.

	9.3.2 Conflicts.  Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary in this Declaration, no Unit shall be subject to any Rules or Regulations promulgated by the Association to the extent they may conflict with the rights and privileges reserved for the Un...

	9.4 Sub-Condominium; Subdivisions.  Each Owner shall have the right to establish, modify or reconstitute, at any time and from time to time one or more condominiums within all or a portion of each initial Unit, without the consent of the Board, the As...
	9.5 General Rules and Regulations.
	9.5.1 Hazardous Uses and Insurance.  Unless the Owner pays the additional cost thereof, nothing shall be done or kept in or upon any Unit, Limited Common Element or the Common Elements which will increase the rate of insurance for the Condominium with...
	9.5.2 Compliance With Laws.  No unlawful use shall be made of the Condominium or any part thereof, and all laws, zoning ordinances and regulations of all governmental agencies having jurisdiction thereof shall be observed.  All laws, orders, rules, re...
	9.5.3 Designed Use.  The Common Elements and Limited Common Elements shall be used only for the furnishing of the services and facilities for which the same are designed and reasonably suited and which are incident to the use and occupancy of the Unit...
	9.5.4 Adoption of Rules and Regulations.  The Board of Directors is hereby authorized to adopt, modify and rescind from time to time Rules and Regulations that do not contravene the provisions of this Declaration, the Ground Lease, the EDA REA or the ...

	9.6 (Intentionally Omitted).
	9.7 No Tax Exemption.
	9.7.1 Obligation to Pay.  Each Owner shall be obligated to pay (i) all real estate taxes assessed against it with respect to its Unit, and any fees or charges in lieu thereof, and (ii) all taxes, charges, and levies assessed against personal property ...
	9.7.2 Payment In Lieu of Taxes.  If for any reason a Unit is not subject to real estate taxes or business personal property taxation arising from the Owner’s or its tenants’ or other occupants’ use and activities at the Unit, such Owner shall pay to t...
	9.7.3 Third Party Beneficiary.  Bon Secours – St. Mary’s Hospital of Richmond LLC, a Virginia not-for-profit limited liability company, shall be deemed a third-party beneficiary of this Sections 9.7.  This Section 9.7 shall not be amended without the ...
	a. Providing additional on-street parking adjoining the Condominium;
	b. Responsible Owner or Owners providing busing and/or shuttling services to offsite parking facilities;
	c. Responsible Owner or Owners securing rights to additional parking (which may be rented at fair market value from an Owner or third-party pursuant to a written agreement);
	d. Reallocation of parking spaces designated as Limited Common Element within the Condominium subject to the written consent of the affected Owner which may be withheld or granted in its sole discretion notwithstanding any good faith obligation set fo...
	a. Hiring a parking attendant/security guard;
	b. Gating spaces;
	c. Additional signage and painting;
	d. Booting and/or towing violators;
	e. Fining the Owner or Owners whose employees, tenants, guests or contractors violate the parking rights of other Owners; and
	f. Installing video surveillance and other security measures.




	Article X
	INTENTIONALLY OMITTED

	Article XI
	11.1 Controlling Provisions.  The following provisions of this Article XI shall govern upon the taking of a Unit or Common Element, including, without limitation, any Limited Common Element, to the extent such provisions do not conflict with the provi...
	11.2 Taking of Common Elements.
	11.2.1 General Allocation.  Except as provided in Section 11.2.2, if any portion of the Common Elements is taken by eminent domain, the award therefor shall be paid to the Association.  Provided, however, that the portion of the award attributable to ...
	11.2.2 Parking Deck.  If the entire Parking Deck is taken by eminent domain, the award therefor shall be allocated in accordance with the Parking Deck Allocation.  If only a portion of the Parking Deck is taken, each Unit shall be allocated that porti...

	11.3 Taking of Entire Unit.  If one or more Units are taken by eminent domain, the undivided interest in the Common Elements appertaining to any such Unit shall thereafter appertain to the remaining Units, being allocated to them in proportion to thei...
	11.4 Taking a Portion of Unit.  If portions of any Unit are taken by eminent domain, the Association shall request that the court determine the fair market value of the portions of such Unit not taken, and the Percentage Interest in the Common Element...
	11.5 Voting Rights.  Votes in the Association, rights to future common profits, and liabilities for future Common Expenses not specially assessed, appertaining to any Unit or Units taken or partially taken by eminent domain, shall thereafter appertain...

	Article XII
	Article XIII
	13.1 Authority.  A non-stock corporation known as Westhampton Condominium Unit Owners Association Inc. will function as the Association.  The Association will administer the operation and management of the Condominium and shall have the power to perfo...
	13.2 Board of Directors as Agent.  The Board of Directors shall be the Executive Organ and governing body of the Association.  The Board of Directors shall have the power to act as agent for the Owners and for each of them, to manage, control and deal...
	13.3 Management Agent.  Unless otherwise agreed in writing by all of the Owners, the Board of Directors, on behalf of the Association, shall contract with a Managing Agent experienced in condominium association management to assist with managing the C...

	Article XIV
	14.1 Authority to Purchase.
	14.1.1 Association Policies.  Except as otherwise provided in Section 14.5, all insurance policies relating to the Common Elements shall be purchased by or on behalf of the Association.  Neither the Association, any officer or director, a Managing Age...
	14.1.2 General Requirements.  Each policy purchased by or on behalf of the Association shall provide, to the extent reasonably available at reasonable rates, that:
	a. The insurer waives any right of subrogation against the Declarant, the Association, the Managing Agent, the Ground Lessor or the Sub-Ground Lessor, the Owners and Mortgagees or the respective officers, directors, partners, members, employees or age...
	b. The policy shall not be cancelled, invalidated or suspended due to the conduct of any officer or director, Owner, Managing Agent, or any invitee, agent, officer, or employee of any of the foregoing without a prior demand in writing to the Board of ...
	c. The policy shall not be cancelled or substantially modified for any reason (including nonpayment of premium) without at least sixty (60) days' prior Notice to the Board of Directors and the Managing Agent and to all Mortgagees.

	14.1.3 (Intentionally Omitted).
	14.1.4 Rating.  All policies of insurance obtained by Owners or by or on behalf of the Association shall be written by companies licensed to do business in the Commonwealth of Virginia, and assigned an "A" rating or better by Best's Insurance Reports.
	14.1.5 Insurance Trustee as Loss Payee.  All policies of physical damage insurance obtained by or on behalf of the Association shall provide that they are payable to the Insurance Trustee (as defined below).

	14.2 Common Element Physical Damage Insurance.
	14.2.1 Policy Requirements.  Except to the extent that an Owner is required to insure Limited Common Elements, the Board of Directors shall obtain and maintain a master casualty policy insuring against the risk of damage from fire and other risks, whi...
	14.2.2 Specific Requirements.  Unless the Ground Lease or Sub-Ground Lease otherwise provide, the casualty policy required by Section 14.2.1 shall also provide:
	a. A waiver of any right of the insurer to repair, rebuild or replace any damage or destruction if a decision is made pursuant to Section 15.5 of this Declaration not to do so, and, in such event, that the insurer shall pay on the basis of the agreed ...
	b. The following endorsements (or equivalent):  (i) "no control" (to the effect that coverage shall not be prejudiced by any act or neglect of any Owner, occupant, or other person if such act or neglect is not within the control of the insured, nor by...
	c. That any "no other insurance" clause excludes individual Owners' policies from its operation so that the physical damage policy purchased on behalf of the Association shall be deemed primary coverage and any individual Owners' policies shall be dee...
	d. That a duplicate original of such policy, all renewals thereof, and any subpolicies or certificates and endorsements issued thereunder, together with proof of payment of premiums, shall be delivered by the insurer to the Association, the Sub-Ground...


	14.3 Association Liability Insurance.  The Board of Directors shall obtain and maintain a master liability policy (including without limitation coverage of all officers and directors against libel, slander, false arrest, invasion of privacy, and error...
	14.4 Other Insurance.  The Board of Directors may, in its discretion, obtain and maintain:
	14.4.1 Fidelity Coverage.  Adequate fidelity coverage to protect against dishonest acts on the part of officers, agents and employees of the Association and all others who handle or are responsible for handling funds of the Association.  The fidelity ...
	14.4.2 Workers’ Compensation.  Worker's compensation insurance if and to the extent necessary to meet the requirements of law; and
	14.4.3 Other Insurance.  Such other insurance as the Board of Directors may determine is appropriate.

	14.5 Unit and Limited Common Element Insurance.
	14.5.1 Casualty Policy Requirements.
	a. General Requirements.  Each Owner shall, at his own expense, obtain and maintain in full force and effect a condominium Owner's casualty policy insuring such Unit, the Building and any other improvements on the Unit, if any, and the insurable porti...
	b. Parking Deck.  Notwithstanding 14.5.1a, the Association shall maintain insurance for the Parking Deck, including, without limitation, each parking space assigned as Limited Common Element in the Parking Deck or included in the Parking Unit or elsew...

	14.5.2 Specific Requirements.  The policy required by Section 15.5.1 shall also provide:
	a. The following endorsements (or equivalent): (i) "no control" (to the effect that coverage shall not be prejudiced by any act or neglect of any person if such act or neglect is not within the control of the insured, nor by any failure of the insured...
	b. That any "no other insurance" clause excludes policies obtained by or on behalf of the Association from its operation so that the physical damage insurance on Units obtained by Owners shall be deemed primary coverage with respect to the Units and a...
	c. That a duplicate original of each policy, all renewals thereof, and any subpolicies, certificates and endorsements issued thereunder, together with proof of payment of premiums, shall be delivered by the insurer to the Association, the Sub-Ground L...
	d. The minimum coverages required by the Ground Lease and Sub-Ground Lease with respect to the Unit.

	14.5.3 Unit Owner Liability Policy.  Each Owner shall obtain and maintain a liability policy and property damage insurance in at least such limits as the Board may from time to time determine, insuring the Owner and naming as additional insureds the A...
	14.5.4 Association’s Right to Procure Unit Insurance.  If any Owner shall fail to provide a policy of casualty insurance with respect to a Unit or a policy of liability insurance as required in this Section 15.5, then the Board of Directors may, but s...

	14.6 Insurance Trustee.  All physical damage insurance policies purchased by or on behalf of the Association shall be for the benefit of the Association, the Owners, their Mortgagees, and the Ground Lessor and Sub-Ground Lessor as their respective int...
	14.7 Board of Directors as Agent.  The Board of Directors as Insurance Trustee is irrevocably constituted as agent for the Association, each Owner, each Mortgagee, other named insureds and their beneficiaries, and any other holder of a lien or other i...

	Article XV
	15.1 When Repair and Reconstruction of Common Elements Required.  Except as otherwise provided in this Article, or required by the Ground Lease or Sub-Ground Lease, upon damage to or destruction of all or any part of the Common Elements insured pursua...
	15.2 Procedure for Reconstruction and Repair of Common Elements.
	15.2.1 Cost Estimates.  Immediately after a fire or other casualty causing damage to any part of the insured Common Elements, the Board of Directors under the direction of the Insurance Trustee shall obtain reliable and detailed estimates of the cost ...
	15.2.2 Assessments.  If the proceeds of insurance are not sufficient to defray such estimated costs of reconstruction and repair or if at any time during reconstruction and repair, or upon completion of reconstruction and repair, the funds for the pay...
	15.2.3 Encroachments.  Section 55.1-1923 of the Condominium Act (Easement for Encroachments) shall apply if encroachments upon or in favor of a Unit are created as a result of such reconstruction or in any event contemplated and set out in section 55....

	15.3 Plans and Specifications.  Any reconstruction or repair of the Units and the Common Elements shall be substantially in accordance with the plans and specifications under which the Condominium was originally constructed, regardless of whether such...
	15.4 Disbursements of Construction Funds for Common Elements.
	15.4.1 Construction Fund.  The net proceeds of insurance collected on account of a casualty and the funds received by the Board of Directors or Insurance Trustee from assessments against Owners on account of such casualty shall constitute a constructi...
	15.4.2 Method of Disbursements.
	a. If the cost of reconstruction or repair is less than Twenty-Five Thousand Dollars ($25,000), then the construction fund shall be disbursed by the Insurance Trustee in appropriate progress payments, to any contractors, suppliers, and personnel perfo...
	b. If the estimated cost of reconstruction and repair is Twenty-Five Thousand Dollars ($25,000) or more, then the construction fund shall be disbursed in payment of such costs upon approval of an architect qualified to practice in Virginia, and employ...

	15.4.3 Surplus.  It shall be presumed that the first monies disbursed in payment for the cost of reconstruction and repair shall be from insurance proceeds; and if there is a balance in a construction fund after the payment of all the costs of the rec...
	Libbie Unit:   18%
	Patterson Unit:  26%
	MF Unit:   18%
	Parking Unit:   30%
	School Unit:     8%
	15.4.4 Certificate.  The Insurance Trustee shall be entitled but not obligated to rely upon a certificate executed by the president or vice president, and the secretary of the Association certifying (a) the name of the payee and the amount to be paid ...

	15.5 When Reconstruction of Common Elements Not Required.  Subject to the provisions of the Ground Lease and the Sub-Ground Lease, if the Common Elements are damaged or destroyed and all of the Owners vote at a special meeting of the Association (to b...
	15.6 Reconstruction or Repair of Building Units.  Except to the extent required by the Ground Lease or the Sub-Ground Lease, beginning ten (10) years after the issuance of a certificate permitting occupancy of the Building on an Owner’s Building Unit,...
	15.6.1 Owner shall take all steps, including application for all permits and necessary to effectuate such repairs, and promptly after obtaining such permits, Owner shall commence and diligently proceed with the repairs and complete the same within a r...
	15.6.2 All work shall be done in compliance with all applicable laws, ordinances, regulations, orders and requirements of all governmental authorities.
	15.6.3 Owner shall reconstruct the Building and the other improvements on the Unit substantially in accordance with the original plans and specifications for such Building and other improvements, subject to such modifications as shall be required to c...

	15.7 Reconstruction or Repair of Parking Unit.  Given that the Parking Unit exists entirely within the Parking Deck, repair or reconstruction of the Parking Unit shall be governed by Sections 15.1 through 15.5 of this Declaration.

	Article XVI
	16.1 Notice to Board of Directors.  An Owner who encumbers his Unit with a Mortgage shall notify the Board of Directors of the name and address of the Mortgagee and shall file a copy of the note and Mortgage with the Board of Directors certified by th...
	16.2 Notice of Unpaid Assessments for Common Expenses.  The Board of Directors, whenever so requested in writing by a Mortgagee, shall promptly report to the Mortgagee any sixty (60) day delinquency in the payment of assessments for Common Expenses or...
	16.3 Notice of Default, Casualty, Condemnation, Insurance Cancellation and Ground Lease Defaults.  The Board of Directors, when giving Notice to an Owner of a default in paying an assessment for Common Expenses or any other default, shall simultaneous...
	16.4 Insurance Proceeds and Condemnation Awards.  No provision of the Condominium Instruments shall be construed to give any Owner, the Association, or any other party, priority over the rights of any Mortgagee in the case of any distribution of insur...
	16.5 Other Rights of Mortgagees.  All Mortgagees or their representatives shall be entitled to attend meetings of the Association and shall have the right to speak thereat, and shall have the right to examine the books and records of the Condominium.
	16.6 Availability of Audited Financial Statements.  The Association shall make an audited financial statement for the preceding fiscal year (if the Condominium has been established for a full fiscal year) available to a Mortgagee upon submission of wr...
	16.7 Mortgagee Approval.  Without the prior written approval of Eligible Mortgagees representing at least fifty-one percent (51%) of the Percentage Interests of all Units that are subject to Mortgages held by Eligible Mortgagees:
	16.7.1 Abandonment and Termination.  No portion of the Condominium shall be abandoned or terminated except as provided by Code of Virginia Section 55.1-1906 or other law in the case of a taking by condemnation or eminent domain.
	16.7.2 Amendments.  No material amendment shall be made to the Declaration or Bylaws.  An amendment to the Declaration or Bylaws to any of the following applicable provisions would be considered material (but which shall not limit the authority of the...
	a. voting rights;
	b. restrictions or increases in Common Expense assessments above twenty-five percent (25%) of the prior year’s assessment;
	c. assessment liens;
	d. priority of assessment liens;
	e. requirements for reserves for maintenance, repair, and replacement of Common Elements;
	f. responsibility for maintenance and repairs;
	g. allocation of interests in the Common Elements as Limited Common Elements or rights to their use;
	h. definition of any Unit boundaries;
	i. convertibility of Units into Common Elements and vice versa;
	j. casualty or fidelity insurance requirements;
	k. restoration or repair of the Condominium after damage or partial condemnation; and
	l. any provision that expressly benefits Mortgagees.

	16.7.3 Transfer of Common Elements.  The Common Elements shall not be, whether by act or omission, partitioned, subdivided, encumbered, sold or transferred, except that the granting of licenses and easements to Owners in connection with the use and op...

	16.8 Additional Mortgagee and Owner Approvals.  Without the approval of all of the Owners and the prior written approval of Eligible Mortgagees representing at least fifty-one percent (51%) of the Percentage Interests of all Units that are subject to ...
	16.8.1 Termination After Condemnation or Destruction.  Terminate the legal status of the Condominium after substantial destruction or condemnation occurs.
	16.8.2 Leasing Restrictions.  Impose any restrictions on leasing of Units except as provided for in this Declaration.
	16.8.3 Transfer Restrictions.  Impose any restrictions on an Owner’s right to sell or transfer his or her Unit.

	16.9 Termination.  The Association shall not terminate the legal status of the Condominium for any reason other than described in Section 16.8.1 without the approval of all Owners and the prior written consent of Eligible Mortgagees representing at le...

	Article XVII
	17.1 Relief.  As set forth in Section 55.1-1915 of the Condominium Act, each Owner shall be governed by, and shall comply with, all of the terms of this Declaration, the Bylaws, the Rules and Regulations, any other Condominium Instruments and any amen...
	17.1.1 Legal Proceedings.  Failure to comply with any of the foregoing items set out in this Section shall be grounds for relief which may include, without limitation, an action to recover any sums due for money damages, injunctive relief, foreclosure...
	17.1.2 Additional Liability.  Each Owner shall be liable for the expense of all maintenance, repair or replacement to the extent rendered necessary by his act, neglect or carelessness or the act, neglect or carelessness of any Owner or its employees, ...
	17.1.3 Costs and Attorneys' Fees.  In any proceeding arising out of any alleged default by an Owner, the prevailing party shall be entitled to recover the costs incurred due to the proceeding, and such reasonable attorneys' fees as may be determined b...
	17.1.4 No Waiver of Rights.  The failure of the Association, the Board of Directors, or an Owner to enforce any right, provision, covenant, or condition which may be granted by this Declaration, the Bylaws or the Rules and Regulations shall not consti...
	17.1.5 Abatement and Enjoinment of Violations by Owners.  The violation of the Rules or Regulations or the breach of any provision of the Bylaws, this Declaration or any of the Condominium Instruments shall give the Board of Directors the right, in ad...
	17.1.6 Assessment of Charges for Violations.
	a. The Association shall have the power to (i) suspend an Owner’s right to use the Common Elements, including, without limitation, any Limited Common Element parking spaces assigned to the Owner’s Unit for nonpayment of assessments which are more than...
	b. Before any such suspension or charge may be imposed, the Owner shall be given an opportunity to be heard and to be represented by counsel before the Board or such other tribunal as the Condominium Instruments or Rules and Regulations specify.
	c. Notice of such hearing, including the charges or other sanctions that may be imposed, shall, at least 14 days in advance thereof, be hand delivered or mailed by registered or certified United States mail, return receipt requested, to such Owner at ...
	d. The amount of any charges so assessed shall not exceed the greater of (i) the highest amount permitted by the Condominium Act and approved by the Board, or (ii) $50 for a single offense, or $10 per diem for any offense of a continuing nature, and s...
	e. After the date a lawsuit is filed in the general district or circuit court by (i) the Association by and through its counsel to collect the charges, obtain injunctive relief and correct the violation, or (ii) the Owner challenging any such charges,...
	f. If any suit filed in general district court pursuant to this Section 17.1, the court may enter default judgment against the Owner on the Association’s sworn affidavit.


	17.2 Lien for Assessments.  Any sum assessed by the Association for the share of the Common Expenses chargeable to any Unit and remaining unpaid for a period of sixty (60) days or longer after the Association has delivered Notice of the amount of such...
	17.3 Right of Action.  Any Owner shall have a right of action to enforce the provisions of the Condominium Instruments against any other Owner and the Association, and the prevailing party shall be entitled to recover the costs incurred due to the pro...

	Article XVIII
	18.1 Disclosure.  The Submitted Property is subject to the Ground Lease and the Sub- Ground Lease.  The Ground Lease and the Sub-Ground Lease are not recorded.  A Memorandum of Ground Lease providing record notice of the Ground Lease is recorded in th...
	18.2 Expiration of Ground Leases.  The Ground Lease shall expire on August 31, 2075, provided, however, that the Ground Lease shall automatically renew for two (2) twenty (20) year period unless the Sub-Ground Lessor notifies the Ground Lessor that Su...
	18.3 Improvements Owned in Fee Simple.  The Buildings now or hereafter located within the boundaries of each Building Unit will be owned in fee by the respective Owners of such Units, subject to the Ground Lease and the Sub-Ground Lease.  Upon expirat...
	18.4 Right to Redeem Reversion (Option to Purchase Parcels).  Neither the Ground Lease nor the Sub-Ground Lease provide the Association or the Owners with a right or option to purchase (or “redeem”) the Submitted Land.
	18.5 Designation of Location for Payment of Ground Lease Rent.  All rent due and payable under the Ground Lease must be paid to Economic Development Authority of the City of Richmond, 2401 W. Leigh Street, Richmond, Virginia 23220, or at such other ad...
	18.6 Owners’ and Association’s Rights and Obligations.  By taking title to a Unit, the Owner shall become the assignee of an undivided interest in and to the Submitted Land  in an amount equal to the Percentage Interest associated with the Owner’s Uni...
	18.7 Agreement of Ground Lessor and Sub-Ground Lessor.  Ground Lessor and Sub-Ground Lessor each consents to and executes this Declaration pursuant to Section 55.1-1910 of the Condominium Act with respect to the Condominium and any sub-condominium cre...

	Article XIX
	19.1 Amendments.  This Declaration may be amended upon (i) the consent of owners of Units to which at least fifty-one percent (51%) or more of the votes allocated to all of the Units appertain, and (ii) the recording of an instrument setting forth suc...
	19.2 No Obligations.  Nothing contained in the Condominium Instruments shall be deemed to impose upon the Declarant any obligations of any nature to build, construct or provide any buildings or other improvements except to the extent required by the C...
	19.3 Burdens and Benefits.  The Condominium Instruments shall benefit and burden all of the Units whether occupied or not occupied.
	19.4 Notices.  All notices, demands, bills, statements or other communications under this Declaration shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been duly given if delivered personally or if sent by registered or certified mail, return receipt re...
	19.4.1 If to an Owner, at the address which the Owner shall designate in writing and file with the Secretary of the Association, or if no such address is designated, at the address of the Unit of such Owner; or
	19.4.2 If to the Association, the Board of Directors, or the Managing Agent, at the principal office of the Managing Agent if there be one and if there is none, at the principal office of the Association, or at such other address as shall be designate...

	19.5 Invalidity.  The invalidity of any part of this Declaration shall not impair or affect in any manner the validity, enforceability or effect of the balance of this Declaration.
	19.6 Captions.  The captions herein are inserted only as a matter of convenience and for reference, and in no way define, limit or describe the scope of this Declaration, or the intent of any provision thereof.
	19.7 Gender.  The use of the masculine gender in this Declaration shall be deemed to include the feminine and neuter genders, and vice versa and the use of the singular shall be deemed to include the plural, and vice versa, whenever the context so req...


	11-WESTHAMPTON CONDO PLAT
	12-Updated Estoppel Certificate for West Hampton Project
	13-EDA Estoppel Certificate 2023 (Performance Agreement) -- Draft
	a. The Performance Agreement consists of the documents listed in Exhibit A hereto and there are no other amendments, modifications and supplements thereto and assignments thereof.
	b. All conditions precedent to the effectiveness of the Performance Agreement have been fully satisfied and the Performance Agreement is in full force and effect.
	c. EDA has not delivered or received any notices of default under the Performance Agreement.  To the best of EDA’s knowledge, there is no default by Bon Secours under the Performance Agreement, nor has any event or omission occurred which, with the gi...
	d. Bon Secours has met or exceeded all of the goals in the Performance Agreement, including, without limitation, the Richmond Community Hospital “Expansion Project” and the “Westhampton Project” (as defined in the Performance Agreement), as evidenced ...
	i. Section 1.a.(iv) (Maintenance of FTEs [related to the Richmond Community Hospital Expansion Project]);
	ii. Section 3 (Westhampton Neighborhood Beautification) as described in Section 1.g.vii below; and
	iii. Section 4.a.(iv) (Maintenance of FTEs [related to the Westhampton Project]).
	e. EDA has no existing defenses or offsets, claims or counterclaims against Bon Secours under the Performance Agreement.
	2. Notice and Cure Provisions.
	d. Notice Addresses for Purchaser and Mortgagee.  EDA acknowledges that Purchaser’s, Mortgagee’s and Bon Secours’ addresses for notice and other purposes under this Certificate are as follows:
	Purchaser:

	14-Performance Agreement between the City, Alacer Corp. (Haleon), and the EDA
	15-Haleon Ord
	16-Haleon Agreement
	17-Haleon COF
	18-Divider EDA Credit Card
	19-Update on 2401 West Leigh Street Facility Operations and Maintenance 
	20-BSTC_2023_11_FINANCIALS
	BSWRTC Cover Sheet
	BSWRTC INDEX FY21
	Sheet1

	P AND L
	ytd highlights
	balance sheet
	ap ar dep
	INC STATEMENT
	IND EXP DETAIL
	monthly high
	YTD

	21-BSTC_2023_12_FINANCIALS
	BSWRTC Cover Sheet
	BSWRTC INDEX FY21
	Sheet1

	PL
	forecast
	balance sheet
	ap ar dep
	INC STATEMENT
	IND EXP
	MONTH
	ytd




